
 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, JUNE 07, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

Anyone wishing to address the city council regarding any topic on this agenda is requested to complete a 

card available at the city clerk's desk.  Speakers are respectfully requested to limit their comments to three 

(3) minutes. 

The city council prohibits the use of cell phones and other electronic devices which emit an audible sound 

during all meetings with the exception of law enforcement, fire and rescue or health care providers on 

call. Persons in violation may be requested to leave the meeting 

AGENDA 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Chaplain Joseph Williams, CCSO 

Roll Call 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Recognition - Ed Gaw, Mayor - 2021 - 2022 - Mayor Johnson 

2. New Officer Swearing-In - Chief Guzman 

Sean Hickman 

Josef Van Hof 

PRESENTATIONS 

3. Presentation by Jacob Williams, FMPA General Manager and CEO, regarding Electric utility 

costs. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

4. Second and Final reading of Ordinance No. O-16-2022 correcting a date for Credited Service in 

the Retirement Plan and Trust for Police Officers.  L.J. Arnold, III 

5. Second and final reading of Ordinance No. O-11-2022, an Annexation Application for the 

Preserve Development, approximately 13.92 acres located on South US Highway 17 and CR 

209.  Michael Daniels 

6. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-12-2022, a Future Land Use Map Amendment of 

parcel # 016499- 007-00 from Industrial (County) to Mixed Use for 13.92 acres for property 

located at US 17 and CR 209.  Michael Daniels 

Page 1



June 07, 2022 Agenda Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

7. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-13-2022, a Rezoning of parcel # 016499-007-00 from 

Light Industrial (County) to Planned Unit Development (PUD) for 13.92 acres for property 

located at US 17 and CR 209. Michael Daniels 

8. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-14-2022, a Rezoning of parcel #017172-000-01 from 

R-2 to Planned Unit Development for .63 acres located on Roberts St, north of Green Cove 

Avenue. Michael Daniels 

The applicant has requested that the application be deferred to allow the applicant to 

resubmit the PUD for review by staff and recommended action taken by the Planning and 

Zoning Commission 

9. First Reading of Ordinance O-15-2022, a Rezoning of parcel #017172-000-00 from R-2 to 

Planned Unit Development for 2.11 acres located on Roberts St, north of Green Cove 

Avenue.  Michael Daniels 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

10. City Council approval of the 2021 water quality Consumer Confidence Report and authorization 

to include in all customer bills for a single cycle in June / July. Scott Schultz 

11. City Council approval of Pay Application # 11 in the amount of $26,870.75 to Terry’s Electric 

for Chapman Substation Construction Improvements, leaving a balance of $49,145.26 in contract 

number LC 2020-17 in the total revised amount of $982,905.17. Andy Yeager 

12. City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor to execute, Disbursement Request 

#13, in the amount of $504,319.39, which includes Contractor’s Pay Request # 12 for Williams 

Industrial in the amount of $472,819.39 and Invoice # 22187 for Mittauer in the amount of 

$31,500.00, for construction of the Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP), as part of 

the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State Revolving Fund (SRF), 

Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, SRF Agreement No. 

WW1000420 in the total amount of $15,426,644.33.  Note:  This request returns funds to the 

Wastewater CIP budget.  Scott Schultz 

13. City Council approval of Minutes from 5/3/2022 Regular Session.  Erin West 

14. City Council approval of Mutual Aid Agreements between the Green Cove Springs Police 

Department and the Orange Park Police Department, and the Green Cove Springs Police 

Department and the St. Johns County Sheriff’s Office.  Chief Guzman 

Page 2



June 07, 2022 Agenda Page 3 of 4 

 

 

15. City Council approval of Multi-Agency Mutual Aid Agreement between Fernandina Beach 

Police Department, Jacksonville Beach Police Department, Atlantic Beach Police Department, 

Neptune Beach Police Department, Green Cove Springs Police Department, City St. Augustine 

and St. Augustine Beach Police Department.  Chief Guzman 

16. City Council approval of annual work order for FY 2022-2023 in the amount of $39,318.70 

under FDOT contract number ASO70 for FDOT State Highway System Lighting, Maintenance, 

and Compensation Agreement, and authorization for the City Manager to execute same annually 

through the contract expiration date of June 30, 2028.  Mike Null 

17. City Council approval of Pay Application # 2 in the amount of $68,750.00 to Thomas May 

Construction Company for installation of the Police Metal Storage Building, leaving a balance of 

$0.00.  Greg Bauer 

18. City Council approval of Amendment #1 to contract with Tocoi for engineering services under 

Bid LC 2021-04 covering the period from April 21, 2022 through April 20, 2023.  Mike Null 

19. City Council approval of Amendment #1 to contracts for each of Mittauer and Tocoi for 

Engineering services under Bid LC 2021-02 covering the period from April 21, 2022 through 

April 20, 2023.  Mike Null 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

20. FMPA - June 2022 Bob Page 

21. City Council discussion of Resolution information for the Annual Florida League Conference in 

Hollywood, Florida on August 11 -13, 2022.  Erin West 

22. Discussion and possible approval of Natural gas purchases.  Steve Kennedy 

23. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

24. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

Adjournment 

 

 

The City Council meets the first and third Tuesday of each month beginning at 7:00 p.m., unless 

otherwise scheduled.  Meetings are held in City Hall at 321 Walnut Street.  Video and audio 

recordings of the meetings are available in the City Clerk’s Office upon request. 

City may take action on any matter during this meeting, including items that are not set forth within 

this agenda. 

Minutes of the City Council meetings can be obtained from the City Clerk’s office.   The Meetings 

are usually recorded, but are not transcribed verbatim for the minutes.  Persons requiring a 

verbatim transcript may make arrangements with the City Clerk to duplicate the recordings, if 

available, or arrange to have a court reporter present at the meeting.  The cost of duplication and/or 

court reporter will be at the expense of the requesting party. 

Page 3



June 07, 2022 Agenda Page 4 of 4 

 

 

Persons who wish to appeal any decision made by the City Council with respect to any matter 

considered at this meeting will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose may need to 

ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and 

evidence upon which the appeal is based.  The City is not responsible if the inhouse recording is 

incomplete for any reason. 

ADA NOTICE 

In accordance with Section 286.26, Florida Statutes, persons with disabilities needing special 

accommodations to participate in this meeting should contact the City Clerk’s office no later than 5:00 

p.m. on the day prior to the meeting. 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 

Pursuant to Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes, effective October 1, 2013, the public is invited to speak 

on any “proposition” before a board, commission, council, or appointed committee takes official action 

regardless of whether the issue is on the Agenda.  Certain exemptions for emergencies, ministerial acts, 

etc. apply.  This public participation does not affect the right of a person to be heard as otherwise provided 

by law. 

EXPARTE COMMUNICATIONS 

Oral or written exchanges (sometimes referred to as lobbying or information gathering) between a Council 

Member and others, including staff, where there is a substantive discussion regarding a quasijudicial 

decision by the City Council. The exchanges must be disclosed by the City Council so the public may 

respond to such exchanges before a vote is taken. 

 

Page 4



 
~ 1 ~ 

 

ORDINANCE NO. O-16-2022  

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AMENDING CITY ORDINANCE NO.: 

O-22-2021 TO CORRECT A DATE RELATED TO 

“CREDITED SERVICE” FOR THE RETIRMENT PLAN 

AND TRUST FOR POLICE OFFICERS; PROVIDING FOR 

SEVERABILITY, REPEALER, AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council passed City Ordinance NO.: O-22-2021 which contained 

an incorrect date for “Credited Service” of September 1st, instead of September 30th.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, AS FOLLOWS: 
  

  SECTION I. The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs, in its capacity as the 

adopter of the Retirement Plan and Trust ("Plan and Trust") for the Firefighters and Police 

Officers of the City of Green Cove Springs hereby approves the changes as set forth below, with 

additions to the Plan and Trust and Adoption Agreement indicated by underlining (underlining) 

and deletions by strike through (stricken through).  
 

 O. Share Plan (Section 6.09) 

 

O1)  Effective Date. The Share Plan is effective upon the passing of the enacting 

ordinance, Ordinance Number: O-22-2021. 

 
O2) The Share Plan. The Share Plan as set forth in Section 6.09, Defined Contribution 

Plan Component—Share Plan, of the Plan and Trust is hereby adopted and incorporated by 

reference herein, with the following amendments thereto. 

 

O3)  Eligibility.  All employees who are a “Police Officer” as the term is defined in 

Section 1.23, Police Officer, of the Plan and Trust and as set forth in Section C, Eligibility, of the 

Adoption Agreement, and are members as set forth in Section 1.20, Participant or Member, and 

Article 2, Participation, of the Plan and Trust are eligible to participate in the Share Plan and are 

Share Plan members effective August 30, 2020. If a member, however, enters DROP, that 

member will be ineligible to participate in the Share Plan. 

 

O4)  Vesting.  Members rights in the Share Plan will vest in the same manner as 

provided for Section J, Termination of Employment and Vesting, of the Adoption Agreement 

and in Article 9, Vesting, of the Plan and Trust. If a member’s service is terminated prior to 

vesting in the Share Plan, that member’s share account will be forfeited and reallocated (based 

on credited service as defined in Section E, Credited Service, of the Adoption Agreement ) 

among the existing members. 

O5)  Credited Service.  For the initial distribution of premium tax revenues to share plan 

members, all existing, active members will receive shares based on their credited service as 

Page 5

Item #4.



 
~ 2 ~ 

 

defined in Section E, Credited Service, of the Adoption Agreement and in Section 1.10, Credited 

Service, of the Plan and Trust. Beginning on September 30, 2020, each member employed by the 

City as of September 30 will receive one year of credited service each year and premium tax 

revenues credited to the share plan in that year shall be allocated equally to each member of the 

plan employed by the City as of September 1 30th. 

 

O6)  Valuation.  The Plan and Trust’s net return will be distributed to the Share Plan on 

September 30 of each year. The Share Plan will be valued on September 30 of each year. 

 

O7)  Allocation.  Investment earnings and losses will be allocated based on credited 

years of service. The Share Plan will not, however, allocate any expenses to the members until 

September 30, 2030 (the first ten years of the Share Plan). After September 30, 2030, the Share 

Plan, including allocations, will be evaluated. 

 

O8)  Distribution.  Each vested member will have a right to distribution of his or her 

share account upon termination of service with the City. No Share Plan distribution will occur 

upon on a disability, unless the disabled member terminates service with the City. 

 

 SECTION 2. The City Council of the City of Green Cove Springs hereby empowers the 

Mayor or his appointee of the City of Green Cove Springs with the authority to execute such 

documents and agreements as are required to effectuate this amendment of the Plan and Trust. 

 

 SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  Should any section or provision of this Ordinance or 

any portion thereof, or any paragraph, sentence, or word be declared by a court of competent 

jurisdiction to be invalid, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remainder hereof other 

than the part declared to be invalid. 

 

SECTION 4. REPEALER.  Any Ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

  

 SECTION 5. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall be effective upon passage and 

retroactively effective as of August 30, 2020. 

 

 INTRODUCTION AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ON 

THIS 17th DAY OF MAY, 2022. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

       By: _________________________ 

              Matt Johnson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: _________________________ 

      Erin West, City Clerk 

Page 6

Item #4.



 
~ 3 ~ 

 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READINGS BY THE CITY OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7th DAY OF JUNE, 2022. 

 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

       By: ___________________________ 

        Matt Johnson, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: _____________________________ 

       Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

L. J. Arnold III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 7

Item #4.



Page 8

Item #4.



Page 9

Item #4.



Page 10

Item #4.



Page 11

Item #4.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Annexation Application for the Preserve Development, approximately 13.92 acres located on 

South US Highway 17 and CR 209 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. of Rogers 

Tower, PA 
OWNER: CHS LLC, Lyman Hall, and Virginia S 

Hall 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Bounded on the western side by US Highway 17 S and CR 209 S; bounded 

on the eastern side by Reynolds Park   

PARCEL NUMBER: A portion of 016499-007-00 

FILE NUMBER: AX-22-001, CC-22-001, FLUS-22-003, PUD-22-003 

CURRENT ZONING:  Light Industrial (County) 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Industrial (County) 

SURROUNDING LAND USE 

NORTH: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Private Services / Public Ownership 

Use: Cabul Lodge / FL DMV 

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial 

Z: Heavy Industrial 

Use: Undeveloped / Hammer & Steel 

EAST: FLU: MURP 

Z: Heavy Industrial  

Use: Reynolds Park / Clay Port 

WEST: FLU: Industrial (County)  

Z: Heavy Industrial (County)  

Use: Commercial / Industrial 

BACKGROUND 

DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Ellen Avery Smith Esq, of Rogers Tower PA, has submitted an annexation request for 13.92 

acres to annex the subject property into City limits. The property is contiguous to the current municipal 

boundary, as shown the following aerial map. The property is bounded by US Highway 17 S and CR 209 S 

on its western edge, the city boundary to the south and east as well as Reynolds Park to the east, and County 

parcels (Cabul Lodge & Florida DMV) to the north.  The site historically is undeveloped.   

 

Page 12

Item #5.



The Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously approved the annexation request on April 26, 2022.   

 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by the 

City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

Additionally, the applicant  has submitted the following future land use map amendments and rezoning 

requests: 

Application # Description 

AX-22-001 Voluntary Annexation application 

CC-22-001 Concurrency Application 

FLUS-22-003 Small Scall FLU Map Amendment: 

Industrial (County) > Mixed Use (City) 

PUD-22-003 PUD Rezoning: 

Page 13

Item #5.



Light Industrial (County) to Planned Unit Development 

 

  

  

Statutory Requirements for Voluntary Annexation as set forth in State Statute FS 171.044 

(1) The owner or owners of real property in an unincorporated area of a county which is contiguous to 

a municipality and reasonably compact may petition the governing body of said municipality that said 

property be annexed to the municipality. 

The property owner submitted an annexation petition on March 8, 2022 for the subject property. 

 

(2) Upon determination by the governing body of the municipality that the petition bears the signatures 

of all owners of property in the area proposed to be annexed, the governing body may, at any regular 

meeting, adopt a nonemergency ordinance to annex said property and redefine the boundary lines of the 

municipality to include said property. Said ordinance shall be passed after notice of the annexation has 

been published at least once each week for 2 consecutive weeks in some newspaper in such city or town. 

 

Notice to Clay Today has been provided on April 14th and on April 21st.      

In addition (not a statutory or city requirement), notice has been provided to all property owners 

within 300’ of the subject property.   

 

(3) An ordinance adopted under this section shall be filed with the clerk of the circuit court and the 

chief administrative officer of the county in which the municipality is located and with the Department of 

State within 7 days after the adoption of such ordinance. The ordinance must include a map which clearly 

shows the annexed area and a complete legal description of that area by metes and bounds. 

 

(4) The method of annexation provided by this section shall be supplemental to any other procedure 

provided by general or special law, except that this section shall not apply to municipalities in counties 

with charters which provide for an exclusive method of municipal annexation. 

Pursuant to the requirements set forth in FS 171.044, voluntary annexations are required to be 

contiguous and reasonably compact as defined by statute which are provided below: 

 “Contiguous” means that a substantial part of a boundary of the territory sought to be annexed by a 

municipality is coterminous with a part of the boundary of the municipality. The separation of the 

territory sought to be annexed from the annexing municipality by a publicly owned county park; a 

right-of-way for a highway, road, railroad, canal, or utility; or a body of water, watercourse, or other 

minor geographical division of a similar nature, running parallel with and between the territory sought 

to be annexed and the annexing municipality, shall not prevent annexation under this act, provided the 

presence of such a division does not, as a practical matter, prevent the territory sought to be annexed 

Page 14

Item #5.



and the annexing municipality from becoming a unified whole with respect to municipal services or 

prevent their inhabitants from fully associating and trading with each other, socially and economically. 

However, nothing herein shall be construed to allow local rights-of-way, utility easements, railroad 

rights-of-way, or like entities to be annexed in a corridor fashion to gain contiguity; and when any 

provision or provisions of special law or laws prohibit the annexation of territory that is separated 

from the annexing municipality by a body of water or watercourse, then that law shall prevent 

annexation under this act. 

 

100% of the eastern boundary of the property proposed to be annexed is adjacent to the City.  

 

“Compactness” means concentration of a piece of property in a single area and precludes any action which 

would create enclaves, pockets, or finger areas in serpentine patterns. Any annexation proceeding in any county 

in the state shall be designed in such a manner as to ensure that the area will be reasonably compact. 

 

Annexation of this property does not create an enclave, pockets, or finger areas in serpentine 

patterns. 

 

(5) Land shall not be annexed through voluntary annexation when such annexation results in the 

creation of enclaves. 

Pursuant to FS 171.031: 

 

              (13) “Enclave” means: 

                   (a) Any unincorporated improved or developed area that is enclosed within and bounded 

on all sides by a single municipality; or 

          (b) Any unincorporated improved or developed area that is enclosed within and bounded 

by a single municipality and a natural or manmade obstacle that allows the passage of 

vehicular traffic 

The property’s eastern boundary is adjacent to the City and does not surround adjacent 

unincorporated property within the City limits.  The Cabul Lodge which is adjacent to the subject 

property has access through the state property to the north.       

 

  (6) Not fewer than 10 days prior to publishing or posting the ordinance notice required under 

subsection (2), the governing body of the municipality must provide a copy of the notice, via certified mail, 

to the board of the county commissioners of the county wherein the municipality is located. The notice 

provision provided in this subsection may be the basis for a cause of action invalidating the annexation. 

A letter and the ordinance notice were provided to the Clay County Board of County Commissioners 

and were mailed to the same on April 14, 2022.  The certified mail receipt is provided in the packet. 

 

Page 15

Item #5.



 

 

 

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the AX-22-001 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Motion to approve 2nd and final reading for Ordinance O-11-2022, to approve the voluntary annexation of 

13.92 acres located on US 17 and CR 209 (a portion of parcel #016499-007-00). 

 

 
 
 

Page 16

Item #5.



ORDINANCE NO. O-11-2022 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, ANNEXING 
APPROXIMATELY 13.92 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY INTO 
THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY; SAID PROPERTY 
BEING GENERALLY LOCATED EAST OF US 17 AND CR 
209; DESCRIBING SAID PROPERTY BY METES AND 
BOUNDS IN EXHIBIT “A”; FINDING THAT ALL THE 
OWNERS OF SAID PROPERTY HAVE PETITIONED THE 
CITY PURSUANT TO CHAPTER 171.044, FLORIDA 
STATUTES, TO VOLUNTARILY ANNEX SAME; FINDING 
THAT THE PROPERTY IS CONTIGUOUS TO THE 
EXISTING CITY LIMITS AND REASONABLY COMPACT; 
PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY, AND 
SETTING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.   

 
 

WHEREAS, all owners (Virginia S. Hall, trustee of the Virginia S. Hall 

Revocable Trust, Virginia S. Hall, f/k/a Virginia Steinmetz, sole surviving trustee of 

the JP Hall, Jr. Second Amended and Restated Revocable Trust, CHS, LLC and 

Lyman G. Hall) of the property subject hereof have petitioned the City to have their 

property described in Exhibit “A” and as also depicted in the sketch to accompany 

description attached hereto as Exhibit “B”, to be annexed into the City 

limits pursuant to Chapter171.044, Florida Statutes; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that the property conforms to the 

requirements of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, for real property to be voluntarily 

annexed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that the property is contiguous to the 

existing City limits and is reasonably compact; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Clay County Board of County Commissioners has been given 

due notice as required in Florida Statute 171.044(6); and 
 

WHEREAS, all other notices required by law have been given. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1. That pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 171.044, Florida Statutes, 

the City Council does hereby voluntarily annex the real property described in Exhibit 

“A” and depicted on Exhibit “B” into the corporate limits of the City of Green Cove 

Springs, Florida. 
 

Section 2. REPEALER. Any ordinances or parts thereof in conflict with the 

provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Page 17

Item #5.



Ordinance No. O-11-2022– Annexation 016499-007-00 Page 2 of 2 

 

 
Section 3. SEVERABILITY. The various parts, sections, and clauses of this Ordinance are hereby 

declared to be severable. If any part, sentence, paragraph, section, or clause is adjudged unconstitutional or 

invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of the Ordinance shall not be affected thereby. 

 

Section 4. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon passage. 

 

INTRODUCED AND PASSED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST READING BY THE 

CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 17th DAY OF 

MAY 2022. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:   

Matthew Johnson, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:   

Erin West, City Clerk 

 
PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7th DAY OF JUNE, 2021. 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

By:   

Matthew Johnson, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:   

Erin West, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY: 

 

 

 

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

Page 18

Item #5.



Page 19

Item #5.



Page 20

Item #5.



Exhibit B

Page 21

Item #5.



Page 22

Item #5.



Page 23

Item #5.



Page 24

Item #5.



Page 25

Item #5.



Page 26

Item #5.



Page 27

Item #5.



Page 28

Item #5.



Page 29

Item #5.



Page 30

Item #5.



Page 31

Item #5.



Page 32

Item #5.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Preserve at Green Cove Springs 

Future Land Use Amendment   From:  Industrial (County)  

                                                   To:      Mixed Use  

Zoning Amendment                   From:   Light Industrial (County)  

                                                    To:       Planned Unit Development  

 

for approximately 13.92 acres located on US 17 and CR 209. 

                                                  
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. of Rogers 

Tower, PA 
OWNER: CHS LLC, Lyman Hall, and Virginia S 

Hall 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Bounded on the western side by US Highway 17 S and CR 209 S; bounded 

on the eastern side by Reynolds Park   

PARCEL NUMBER: A portion of 016499-007-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-22-003, PUD-22-003 

CURRENT ZONING:  Light Industrial (County) 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Industrial (County) 

SURROUNDING FUTURE LAND USE, ZONING AND EXISTING USE 

NORTH: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Private Services / Public Ownership 

Use: Cabul Lodge / FL DMV 

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial 

Z: Heavy Industrial 

Use: Undeveloped / Hammer & Steel 

EAST: FLU: MURP 

Z: Heavy Industrial  

Use: Reynolds Park / Clay Port 

WEST: FLU: Industrial (County)  

Z: Heavy Industrial (County)  

Use: Commercial / Industrial 

BACKGROUND 

Page 33

Item #6.



DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Ellen Avery Smith Esq, of Rogers Tower PA, has submitted an annexation request for 13.92 

acres to annex the subject property into the City limits. The property is contiguous to the current municipal 

boundary, as shown in the following aerial map. The property is bounded by US Highway 17 S and CR 209 

S on its western edge, the city boundary to the south as well as Reynolds Park to the east, and County parcels 

(Cabul Lodge & Florida DMV) to the north.  The site is undeveloped.  It is heavily wooded with a 

combination of Hardwood and Pine trees.    The site slopes significantly from US 17 to the east of the subject 

property. The southern boundary of the property includes a Teco Peoples Gas easement. 

Surrounding existing uses include predominantly industrial uses on the west of US 17, Teco Peoples Gas 

Easement and undeveloped property directly south of the subject property, with an industrial use (Hammer 

and Steel) on CR 209, the the Cabul Masonic Lodge and State Offices to the north and the Reynolds Park, 

which includes the Airpark to the east.   

 

The Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously approved this item on April 26, 2022. 

 

Page 34

Item #6.



 

 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by the 

City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following corresponding applications: 

Application # Description 

AX-22-001 Voluntary Annexation application 

CC-22-001 Concurrency Application 

 

 

Page 35

Item #6.



Environmental Conditions Analysis 

 
Maps of Environmental Features

 

Page 36

Item #6.



 

 

 

 

Page 37

Item #6.



 

Soils 

There are currently 2 types of soils located onsite: 

 

 Goldhead Fine Sand is a poorly drained soil; 

 Plummer Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Flood Zones 

According to the FEMA Flood Map Service Center, the project site is located within FEMA Flood Zone 

A and X.   

Flood Zone A is considered a high-risk zone.   

Flood Zone X:  is considered a minimal to moderate risk of flooding. 

 

New construction should not occur within the high-risk area of the site. 
 

 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a) 9.a, Florida Statutes, identifies 13 

primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these indicators shall 

consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features and characteristics unique 

to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop as low-

intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to Mixed Use.  By 

revising the Future Land Use designation to Mixed Use, this will allow for higher density of residential 

development and a greater intensity of Commercial development.  Currently, the City has approximately 

20% of the City acreage being used for low density residential development but only .8% of land area for 

High Density Residential development as provided in the Data and Analysis section of the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan update.   This request would allow for additional high density residential development 

that is compatible with surrounding uses.     

Page 38

Item #6.



(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas at 

substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are available and 

suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the US 17 Corridor that is within the City’s electric 

and water and sewer urban service areas. 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns generally 

emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Mixed-Use Designation allows for a mix of uses thereby breaking 

up the radial development pattern. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 

shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: As part of site plan development process, the application shall comply with all City 

and state / federal requirements regarding conservation of natural resources.  A portion of the property is 

within floodzone A of the site which shall comply with the requirements set forth with the Florida Division 

of Emergency Management.  The site is heavily wooded and as part of the development process will be 

required to comply with the City’s Tree Preservation requirements.  The site does not have environmentally 

sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine 

systems, and other significant natural systems.  

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing development, the 

proposed development will utilize public facilities and services. 

(VII) Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: Any future improvements to the City’s public facilities and services will be utilized 

by the project site. 

(VIII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, and 

energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable water, sanitary sewer, 

stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, and general 

government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with existing public 

facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services and will 

not increase the time, money, and energy for providing and maintaining these facilities. 

(IX) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within an urban area and is not adjacent to any rural zoned 

properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Page 39

Item #6.



Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is located 

within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area and will allow for 

the development of multifamily housing which is in short supply within the City and allow for a diversity of 

uses.   

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site has two proposed ingress/egress points. Accessibility to linked or 

related land uses will not be diminished. 

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings:  Approximately 3 acres or 21% will be utilized for open space and recreational 

amenities.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also establishes eight 

(8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed to not be considered 

urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form criteria, and an evaluation 

of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The applicant has provided an analysis of 

the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the application materials and contends that the 

proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets four of the eight urban form 

criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the community 

in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within existing commercial development where 

development will occur in developed areas as opposed to undeveloped areas. The proposed development 

directs the growth within the urban area.  Development of the site will comply with the tree preservation 

requirements and floodplain requirements of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection. 

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will result in a 

higher density commercial development utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix of uses 

at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal transportation 

system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application and the companion rezoning application will allow for higher 

density commercial development, allowing for a more urban type of development in the downtown area. 

Sidewalks will be provided as part of the development and will increase the walkability of US 17.   

 Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in areas further outside of 

the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Page 40

Item #6.



Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding development. 

There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure 

to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: Recreational needs are being provided for the development through the 

development of a park and open space area.   

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the nonresidential 

needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of nonresidential 

uses. The proposed development will bring new businesses into this mixed-use, urban area, providing a 

balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing or planned 

development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an innovative development 

pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the Future Land 

Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use of 

the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare of the 

public. 

Objective 1.1.  New development and Redevelopment shall be directed to appropriate areas of the City. 

Policy 1.1.1 (c): Mixed Use (MU): This FLUC encompasses lands along major transportation corridors and 

is intended to accommodate primarily nonresidential uses including light and heavy commercial uses, 

lodging, and professional offices, interspersed with medium density residential uses and public/semi-public 

facilities.  

i. Maximum Density: 20 du/ac  

ii. ii. Maximum Intensity: 1.0 FAR 

Policy 1.2.4. The City shall explore permitting new types of housing developments. 

Policy 1.2.6.   The City shall require new development to connect to the City’s centralized potable water 

and sanitary sewer system. 

Policy 1.2.9.   The City shall promote the annexation of property located within its utility service 

boundaries. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital Improvements 

Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained. 

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

Page 41

Item #6.



SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Policy 4.2.1 All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer Collection  

Objective 4.6.  Future Development shall be required to connect with central water systems and provide 

stormwater facilities which maximize the use of existing. 

facilities and discourage urban sprawl 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT  

The applicant is proposing the development of 260 multifamily units in 3 and 4 story buildings with a 

maximum of 278 dwelling units.  The units shall consist of studio, 1, 2 and 3 Bedroom units with the 

breakdown set forth in the PUD written description.  The project will also include a pool and a community 

center and park area.  The project will have two full vehicular access points on US 17 and an access point on 

CR 209.  A sidewalk shall be provided along US 17 and CR 209.  The project will be required to submit and 

receive approval for a Site Development Plan prior to approval.   

The site is heavily wooded and as part of the site development, they will be required to evaluate and preserve 

trees in compliance with City Tree Preservation requirements set forth in Section 113-279.  Due to the 

existing grade, which is showing a considerable amount of fall between the roadway and the eastern edge of 

the property there will be a considerable amount of grading that will take place on the property.  In order to 

preserve trees, it is critical for the developer to hire an arborist and have them be included as part of the 

development to evaluate, preserve and protect the trees during the development process.  A perimeter buffer 

shall be provided along the perimeter of the property. 

In addition, any new development will comply with all stormwater requirements of the City and the Water 

Management District.  The northeastern portion of the property is located within a high-risk flood zone and 

as a result, the applicant will be required to comply with floodplain management requirements set forth by 

the Florida Division of Emergency Management.   

One of the major issues that has been discussed through the public notification process are concerns 

expressed by the representatives and tenants of Reynolds Park regarding the compatibility of a residential 

multifamily development with the adjacent Airpark.  The representatives from Reynolds have provided 

proposed plans showing a potential extension of the existing runway which would be in close proximity to 

the proposed location of the multifamily buildings and have raised the possibility that concerns about safety 

and noise complaints from future residential tenants could negatively impact future plans for the Airpark.  

Currently, the closest current runway is approximately 2,500 lineal feet from the subject property.   

An Airport Master Plan is a comprehensive plan of an airport which typically describes current and future 

plans for airport development designed to support existing and future aviation demand as set forth in Chapter 

333 of the Florida Statutes.  Airport Master Plans which include but are not limited to noise studies and land 

use protections regarding the development of obstructions within the Airport Hazard area required under the 

Florida Statute and Code of Federal Regulations (CFR part 77), are required for Public-Use Airports and are 

not required for private airports such as the Reynolds Airpark.   

 

Construction is expected to commence in 2025 and is expected to be completed by 2028. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Page 42

Item #6.



Land Use1 Square 
Footage/
Dwelling  

Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Multifamily Residential  278 6.65 1,729 .92 131 .62 161 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 278 multifamily dwelling units would require a traffic study to 

be reviewed at the time of submittal of the site development plan.  Currently, there is an average of 161 

peak hour trips along the roadway which is lower than the maximum allowable capacity for the roadway.  

A traffic study has been submitted and is being reviewed by City staff.  The draft traffic study is enclosed.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        43,725 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,143,275 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 278 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 
Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 82,680 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -332,680 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 278 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to handle 

the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the Rookery 

Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project.  At such time, the 

Rookery capacity will be served by a new wastewater treatment facility provided by the Clay County Utility 

Authority.  Once the facility is built, the capacity temporarily reserved to the Rookery shall be available for this 

development.  In addition, the remaining demand will be sent via force main to the Harbor Road plant, where the 

City has an excess capacity of approximately 700,000 gallons per day.  As a result, there is adequate capacity.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 5,512 lbs. / 1,005 tons 

Page 43

Item #6.



Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (278 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 lbs. 

per day) x 365 
 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste Management 

Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum of three (3) years 

capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For commercial 

developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must instead contract 

with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively impact 

the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
Public School Facilities Impact 

Land Use 
Units 

Elem. Middle High 

 Rate1 Total Rate1 Total Rate1 Total 

Proposed 

Multifamily 
Units 
 

278 0.0314 9 0.0095 3 0.0197 6 

Net 
Generation 

- - 9 - 3 - 6 

1. Source: School District of Clay County, Educational Facilities Plan, FY 2018/19-2022/23, based on multifamily 
 
Conclusion: The School District of Clay County will make a school capacity determination at the time of Final Site 
Development Plan.  An initial application has been reviewed by the School Board and It is not anticipated that the 
estimated number of students generated by the proposed PUD rezoning will exceed the adopted LOS standards 
see attached.   

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use and conditional approval of the Rezoning. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use 

Motion to approve 2nd and final reading of ordinance O-12-2022, to amend the Future Land Use of the 

property described therein from Industrial (County) to Mixed Use located on US 17 and CR 209 (a portion 

of parcel #016499-007-00). 

 

Rezoning 

Motion to approve 2nd and final reading of Ordinance O-13-2022, to amend the Zoning of the property 

described therein from Light Industrial to Planned Unit Development subject to the following conditions: 

Page 44

Item #6.



 

1. The applicant shall be required to comply with tree preservations requirements set forth in Sec.  

113-279.  Due to the proposed amount of onsite development and potential grade changes, an ISA 

certified arborist or equivalent horticulture professional shall be hired to evaluate trees, ensure 

adequate root area is provided and grade changes are not altered within critical root area, prescribe 

treatments to preserve the trees and oversee tree protection during the construction process and 

ensure compliance set forth in City Code Sec. 113-248.  

2. Traffic Study pursuant to the requirements set forth in the City’s Traffic Impact Analysis 

Guidelines shall be approved concurrent with the approval of the site development plan. 

3. Dumpster shall be screened with landscaping and concrete enclosure as required during the site plan 

submittal. 

4. A disclosure notification shall be provided within the lease agreements for the multifamily units 

located on the property informing the tenants that the proposed development is located in close 

proximity to the runway for the Reynolds Airpark.   

 

 
 
 

Page 45

Item #6.



Page 46

Item #6.



Page 47

Item #6.



 

 

ORDINANCE NO. O-12-2022 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA AMENDING THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP 

FOR ±13.92 ACRES OF PROPERTY LOCATED ON US 17 AND CR 209, 

IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 016499-007-00, MORE 

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM 

INDUSTRIAL (COUNTY DESIGNATION), TO MIXED-USE; 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

RECITALS 

 

WHEREAS, an application for a small-scale comprehensive plan amendment, as 

described below, to the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map has been filed with the City; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed amendment 

on April 26, 2022 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA) 

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on May 17, 2022 and June 7, 2022 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN 

COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.  

1. The above recitals are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference. 

2.  The proposed Future Land Use Map amendment is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan. 

Page 48

Item #6.



 

  

 

 

 

  

 

 

    

  

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

 

  

amendment has become effective.

permits, or land uses dependent on this amendment may be issued or commenced before this plan 
be in compliance in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. No development orders, development 
agency or the Administrative Council enters a final order determining this adopted amendment to 
If timely challenged, this amendment shall become effective on the date the state land planning 
the City that the plan amendment package is complete in accordance with Chapter 163.3184 F.S. 
amendment is not timely challenged, shall be 31 days after the state land planning agency notifies 

Section 6. Effective  Date. The  effective  date  of  this  plan  amendment,  if  the

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid.

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 
of  competent  jurisdiction,  such  holding  of  invalidity  or  unconstitutionality  shall  not  affect  the 
for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 
Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

Section 5. Severability. It  is  the  declared  intent  of  the  City  Council  of  the  City  of

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed.

Section 4. Repealing Clause. All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith

Florida.

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 
construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

Section 3. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally. This ordinance shall be liberally

description found in Exhibit “A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto.

Mixed Use on Tax Parcel Number 38-06-26-016499-007-00 in accordance with the legal 
Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map is hereby amended from Industrial (County)  to 

Section 2. Comprehensive  Plan Future  Land  Use  Map  Amended. The

or public schools.

for transportation, potable water, sanitary sewer, solid waste, stormwater, recreation, 
3. The amendment will not cause a reduction in the adopted level of service standards 

Page 2 of 5

Ordinance No. O-11-2022

Page 49

Item #6.



Ordinance No. O-11-2022 

Page 3 of 5 

 

 

 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 17th DAY OF MAY 2022. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

 PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7th DAY OF JUNE 2022. 

 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor  

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

Page 50

Item #6.



Page 51

Item #6.



Page 52

Item #6.



Exhibit B

Page 53

Item #6.



Page 54

Item #6.



Page 55

Item #6.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Preserve at Green Cove Springs 

Future Land Use Amendment   From:  Industrial (County)  

                                                   To:      Mixed Use  

Zoning Amendment                   From:   Light Industrial (County)  

                                                    To:       Planned Unit Development  

 

for approximately 13.92 acres located on US 17 and CR 209. 

                                                  
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Ellen Avery-Smith, Esq. of Rogers 

Tower, PA 
OWNER: CHS LLC, Lyman Hall, and Virginia S 

Hall 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Bounded on the western side by US Highway 17 S and CR 209 S; bounded 

on the eastern side by Reynolds Park   

PARCEL NUMBER: A portion of 016499-007-00 

FILE NUMBER: FLUS-22-003, PUD-22-003 

CURRENT ZONING:  Light Industrial (County) 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Industrial (County) 

SURROUNDING FUTURE LAND USE, ZONING AND EXISTING USE 

NORTH: FLU: Industrial (County) 

Z: Private Services / Public Ownership 

Use: Cabul Lodge / FL DMV 

SOUTH: FLU: Industrial 

Z: Heavy Industrial 

Use: Undeveloped / Hammer & Steel 

EAST: FLU: MURP 

Z: Heavy Industrial  

Use: Reynolds Park / Clay Port 

WEST: FLU: Industrial (County)  

Z: Heavy Industrial (County)  

Use: Commercial / Industrial 

BACKGROUND 

Page 56

Item #7.



DEVELOPMENT DESCRIPTION: 

The applicant, Ellen Avery Smith Esq, of Rogers Tower PA, has submitted an annexation request for 13.92 

acres to annex the subject property into the City limits. The property is contiguous to the current municipal 

boundary, as shown in the following aerial map. The property is bounded by US Highway 17 S and CR 209 

S on its western edge, the city boundary to the south as well as Reynolds Park to the east, and County parcels 

(Cabul Lodge & Florida DMV) to the north.  The site is undeveloped.  It is heavily wooded with a 

combination of Hardwood and Pine trees.    The site slopes significantly from US 17 to the east of the subject 

property. The southern boundary of the property includes a Teco Peoples Gas easement. 

Surrounding existing uses include predominantly industrial uses on the west of US 17, Teco Peoples Gas 

Easement and undeveloped property directly south of the subject property, with an industrial use (Hammer 

and Steel) on CR 209, the the Cabul Masonic Lodge and State Offices to the north and the Reynolds Park, 

which includes the Airpark to the east.   

 

The Planning and Zoning Commission unanimously approved this item on April 26, 2022. 

 

Page 57

Item #7.



 

 

 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by the 

City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following corresponding applications: 

Application # Description 

AX-22-001 Voluntary Annexation application 

CC-22-001 Concurrency Application 

 

 

Page 58

Item #7.



Environmental Conditions Analysis 

 
Maps of Environmental Features

 

Page 59

Item #7.



 

 

 

 

Page 60

Item #7.



 

Soils 

There are currently 2 types of soils located onsite: 

 

 Goldhead Fine Sand is a poorly drained soil; 

 Plummer Fine Sand is a gently sloping, poorly drained soil; 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Flood Zones 

According to the FEMA Flood Map Service Center, the project site is located within FEMA Flood Zone 

A and X.   

Flood Zone A is considered a high-risk zone.   

Flood Zone X:  is considered a minimal to moderate risk of flooding. 

 

New construction should not occur within the high-risk area of the site. 
 

 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

URBAN SPRAWL ANALYSIS 

Section 163.3177, Florida Statutes, requires that any amendment to the Future Land Use Element to 

discourage the proliferation of urban sprawl. Section 163.3177(6)(a) 9.a, Florida Statutes, identifies 13 

primary urban sprawl indicators and states that, “[t]he evaluation of the presence of these indicators shall 

consist of an analysis of the plan or plan amendment within the context of features and characteristics unique 

to each locality…”   

An evaluation of each primary indicator is provided below.   

(I) Promotes, allows, or designates for development substantial areas of the jurisdiction to develop as low-

intensity, low-density, or single-use development or uses.  

 

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed amendment will revise the FLUM designation to Mixed Use.  By 

revising the Future Land Use designation to Mixed Use, this will allow for higher density of residential 

development and a greater intensity of Commercial development.  Currently, the City has approximately 

20% of the City acreage being used for low density residential development but only .8% of land area for 

High Density Residential development as provided in the Data and Analysis section of the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan update.   This request would allow for additional high density residential development 

that is compatible with surrounding uses.     

Page 61

Item #7.



(II) Promotes, allows, or designates significant amounts of urban development to occur in rural areas at 

substantial distances from existing urban areas while not using undeveloped lands that are available and 

suitable for development.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within the US 17 Corridor that is within the City’s electric 

and water and sewer urban service areas. 

(III) Promotes, allows, or designates urban development in radial, strip, isolated, or ribbon patterns generally 

emanating from existing urban developments.   

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed Mixed-Use Designation allows for a mix of uses thereby breaking 

up the radial development pattern. 

(IV) Fails to adequately protect and conserve natural resources, such as wetlands, floodplains, native 

vegetation, environmentally sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, rivers, 

shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine systems, and other significant natural systems.  

Evaluation & Findings: As part of site plan development process, the application shall comply with all City 

and state / federal requirements regarding conservation of natural resources.  A portion of the property is 

within floodzone A of the site which shall comply with the requirements set forth with the Florida Division 

of Emergency Management.  The site is heavily wooded and as part of the development process will be 

required to comply with the City’s Tree Preservation requirements.  The site does not have environmentally 

sensitive areas, natural groundwater aquifer recharge areas, lakes, shorelines, beaches, bays, estuarine 

systems, and other significant natural systems.  

(V) Fails to adequately protect adjacent agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, active 

agricultural and silvicultural activities, passive agricultural activities, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  

(VI) Fails to maximize use of existing public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: With the project site being located within an area with existing development, the 

proposed development will utilize public facilities and services. 

(VII) Fails to maximize use of future public facilities and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: Any future improvements to the City’s public facilities and services will be utilized 

by the project site. 

(VIII) Allows for land use patterns or timing which disproportionately increase the cost in time, money, and 

energy of providing and maintaining facilities and services, including roads, potable water, sanitary sewer, 

stormwater management, law enforcement, education, health care, fire and emergency response, and general 

government.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area with existing public 

facilities and services. The proposed development will utilize existing public facilities and services and will 

not increase the time, money, and energy for providing and maintaining these facilities. 

(IX) Fails to provide a clear separation between rural and urban uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The site is located within an urban area and is not adjacent to any rural zoned 

properties. 

(X) Discourages or inhibits infill development or the redevelopment of existing neighborhoods and 

communities.  

Page 62

Item #7.



Evaluation & Findings: The proposed application will not discourage infill development and is located 

within an existing developed area. 

(XI) Fails to encourage a functional mix of uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an existing commercial area and will allow for 

the development of multifamily housing which is in short supply within the City and allow for a diversity of 

uses.   

(XII) Results in poor accessibility among linked or related land uses.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site has two proposed ingress/egress points. Accessibility to linked or 

related land uses will not be diminished. 

(XIII) Results in the loss of significant amounts of functional open space.  

Evaluation & Findings:  Approximately 3 acres or 21% will be utilized for open space and recreational 

amenities.  

In addition to the preceding urban sprawl indicators, Florida Statutes Section 163.3177 also establishes eight 

(8) “Urban Form” criteria. An amendment to the Future Land Use Map is presumed to not be considered 

urban sprawl if it meets four (4) of the (8) urban form criteria. These urban form criteria, and an evaluation 

of each as each may relate to this application, are provided below. The applicant has provided an analysis of 

the application’s consistency with Section 163.3177 within the application materials and contends that the 

proposed amendment will not encourage urban sprawl by showing it meets four of the eight urban form 

criteria.   

1. Directs or locates economic growth and associated land development to geographic areas of the community 

in a manner that does not have an adverse impact on and protects natural resources and ecosystems.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within existing commercial development where 

development will occur in developed areas as opposed to undeveloped areas. The proposed development 

directs the growth within the urban area.  Development of the site will comply with the tree preservation 

requirements and floodplain requirements of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection. 

2. Promotes the efficient and cost-effective provision or extension of public infrastructure and services.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application, as well as the companion rezoning application, will result in a 

higher density commercial development utilizing existing public infrastructure and existing services. 

3. Promotes walkable and connected communities and provides for compact development and a mix of uses 

at densities and intensities that will support a range of housing choices and a multimodal transportation 

system, including pedestrian, bicycle, and transit, if available.  

Evaluation & Findings: This application and the companion rezoning application will allow for higher 

density commercial development, allowing for a more urban type of development in the downtown area. 

Sidewalks will be provided as part of the development and will increase the walkability of US 17.   

 Promotes conservation of water and energy.  

Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding commercial 

development. Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure to develop in areas further outside of 

the urban areas. 

5. Preserves agricultural areas and activities, including silviculture, and dormant, unique, and prime 

farmlands and soils.  

Page 63

Item #7.



Evaluation & Findings: The project site is located within an urban area with surrounding development. 

There are no adjacent agricultural areas and activities.  Development in core urban areas reduces the pressure 

to develop in agricultural areas. 

6. Preserves open space and natural lands and provides for public open space and recreation needs.  

Evaluation & Findings: Recreational needs are being provided for the development through the 

development of a park and open space area.   

7. Creates a balance of land uses based upon demands of the residential population for the nonresidential 

needs of an area.  

Evaluation & Findings: The proposed site is located within close proximity to a variety of nonresidential 

uses. The proposed development will bring new businesses into this mixed-use, urban area, providing a 

balance of land uses to the area. 

8. Provides uses, densities, and intensities of use and urban form that would remediate an existing or planned 

development pattern in the vicinity that constitutes sprawl or if it provides for an innovative development 

pattern such as transit-oriented developments or new towns as defined in s. 163.3164.  

Evaluation & Findings: N/A   

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

The following Goals, Objectives, and Policies (GOPs) support the proposed amendment to the Future Land 

Use Map of the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan: 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Goal 1: To develop and maintain land use programs and activities to provide for the most appropriate use of 

the land and direct growth to suitable areas while protecting the public, health, safety and welfare of the 

public. 

Objective 1.1.  New development and Redevelopment shall be directed to appropriate areas of the City. 

Policy 1.1.1 (c): Mixed Use (MU): This FLUC encompasses lands along major transportation corridors and 

is intended to accommodate primarily nonresidential uses including light and heavy commercial uses, 

lodging, and professional offices, interspersed with medium density residential uses and public/semi-public 

facilities.  

i. Maximum Density: 20 du/ac  

ii. ii. Maximum Intensity: 1.0 FAR 

Policy 1.2.4. The City shall explore permitting new types of housing developments. 

Policy 1.2.6.   The City shall require new development to connect to the City’s centralized potable water 

and sanitary sewer system. 

Policy 1.2.9.   The City shall promote the annexation of property located within its utility service 

boundaries. 

TRANSPORTATION ELEMENT 

Policy 2.3.1. The City shall rely on level of service (LOS) standards adopted in the Capital Improvements 

Element to ensure that acceptable traffic conditions are maintained. 

Policy 2.5.3. The City shall review development applications to ensure that adequate capacity is 

available to serve the proposed project. The latest version of Trip Generation Manual published by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used to determine the number of trips that the 

proposed development will produce or attract. 

Page 64

Item #7.



SANITARY SEWER, SOLID WASTE, DRAINAGE, POTABLE WATER, AND AQUIFER 

RECHARGE ELEMENT 

Policy 4.2.1 All Future Development shall be required to connect to the City’s Sanitary Sewer Collection  

Objective 4.6.  Future Development shall be required to connect with central water systems and provide 

stormwater facilities which maximize the use of existing. 

facilities and discourage urban sprawl 

PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT  

The applicant is proposing the development of 260 multifamily units in 3 and 4 story buildings with a 

maximum of 278 dwelling units.  The units shall consist of studio, 1, 2 and 3 Bedroom units with the 

breakdown set forth in the PUD written description.  The project will also include a pool and a community 

center and park area.  The project will have two full vehicular access points on US 17 and an access point on 

CR 209.  A sidewalk shall be provided along US 17 and CR 209.  The project will be required to submit and 

receive approval for a Site Development Plan prior to approval.   

The site is heavily wooded and as part of the site development, they will be required to evaluate and preserve 

trees in compliance with City Tree Preservation requirements set forth in Section 113-279.  Due to the 

existing grade, which is showing a considerable amount of fall between the roadway and the eastern edge of 

the property there will be a considerable amount of grading that will take place on the property.  In order to 

preserve trees, it is critical for the developer to hire an arborist and have them be included as part of the 

development to evaluate, preserve and protect the trees during the development process.  A perimeter buffer 

shall be provided along the perimeter of the property. 

In addition, any new development will comply with all stormwater requirements of the City and the Water 

Management District.  The northeastern portion of the property is located within a high-risk flood zone and 

as a result, the applicant will be required to comply with floodplain management requirements set forth by 

the Florida Division of Emergency Management.   

One of the major issues that has been discussed through the public notification process are concerns 

expressed by the representatives and tenants of Reynolds Park regarding the compatibility of a residential 

multifamily development with the adjacent Airpark.  The representatives from Reynolds have provided 

proposed plans showing a potential extension of the existing runway which would be in close proximity to 

the proposed location of the multifamily buildings and have raised the possibility that concerns about safety 

and noise complaints from future residential tenants could negatively impact future plans for the Airpark.  

Currently, the closest current runway is approximately 2,500 lineal feet from the subject property.   

An Airport Master Plan is a comprehensive plan of an airport which typically describes current and future 

plans for airport development designed to support existing and future aviation demand as set forth in Chapter 

333 of the Florida Statutes.  Airport Master Plans which include but are not limited to noise studies and land 

use protections regarding the development of obstructions within the Airport Hazard area required under the 

Florida Statute and Code of Federal Regulations (CFR part 77), are required for Public-Use Airports and are 

not required for private airports such as the Reynolds Airpark.   

 

Construction is expected to commence in 2025 and is expected to be completed by 2028. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Page 65

Item #7.



Land Use1 Square 
Footage/
Dwelling  

Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Multifamily Residential  278 6.65 1,729 .92 131 .62 161 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 278 multifamily dwelling units would require a traffic study to 

be reviewed at the time of submittal of the site development plan.  Currently, there is an average of 161 

peak hour trips along the roadway which is lower than the maximum allowable capacity for the roadway.  

A traffic study has been submitted and is being reviewed by City staff.  The draft traffic study is enclosed.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        43,725 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,143,275 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 278 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 
Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 82,680 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -332,680 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 278 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to handle 

the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the Rookery 

Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project.  At such time, the 

Rookery capacity will be served by a new wastewater treatment facility provided by the Clay County Utility 

Authority.  Once the facility is built, the capacity temporarily reserved to the Rookery shall be available for this 

development.  In addition, the remaining demand will be sent via force main to the Harbor Road plant, where the 

City has an excess capacity of approximately 700,000 gallons per day.  As a result, there is adequate capacity.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 5,512 lbs. / 1,005 tons 

Page 66

Item #7.



Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (278 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 lbs. 

per day) x 365 
 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste Management 

Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum of three (3) years 

capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For commercial 

developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must instead contract 

with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively impact 

the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
Public School Facilities Impact 

Land Use 
Units 

Elem. Middle High 

 Rate1 Total Rate1 Total Rate1 Total 

Proposed 

Multifamily 
Units 
 

278 0.0314 9 0.0095 3 0.0197 6 

Net 
Generation 

- - 9 - 3 - 6 

1. Source: School District of Clay County, Educational Facilities Plan, FY 2018/19-2022/23, based on multifamily 
 
Conclusion: The School District of Clay County will make a school capacity determination at the time of Final Site 
Development Plan.  An initial application has been reviewed by the School Board and It is not anticipated that the 
estimated number of students generated by the proposed PUD rezoning will exceed the adopted LOS standards 
see attached.   

 

 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval of the Future Land Use and conditional approval of the Rezoning. 

 

RECOMMENDED MOTIONS: 

Future Land Use 

Motion to approve 2nd and final reading of ordinance O-12-2022, to amend the Future Land Use of the 

property described therein from Industrial (County) to Mixed Use located on US 17 and CR 209 (a portion 

of parcel #016499-007-00). 

 

Rezoning 

Motion to approve 2nd and final reading of Ordinance O-13-2022, to amend the Zoning of the property 

described therein from Light Industrial to Planned Unit Development subject to the following conditions: 

Page 67

Item #7.



 

1. The applicant shall be required to comply with tree preservations requirements set forth in Sec.  

113-279.  Due to the proposed amount of onsite development and potential grade changes, an ISA 

certified arborist or equivalent horticulture professional shall be hired to evaluate trees, ensure 

adequate root area is provided and grade changes are not altered within critical root area, prescribe 

treatments to preserve the trees and oversee tree protection during the construction process and 

ensure compliance set forth in City Code Sec. 113-248.  

2. Traffic Study pursuant to the requirements set forth in the City’s Traffic Impact Analysis 

Guidelines shall be approved concurrent with the approval of the site development plan. 

3. Dumpster shall be screened with landscaping and concrete enclosure as required during the site plan 

submittal. 

4. A disclosure notification shall be provided within the lease agreements for the multifamily units 

located on the property informing the tenants that the proposed development is located in close 

proximity to the runway for the Reynolds Airpark.   

 

 
 
 

Page 68

Item #7.



Page 69

Item #7.



Page 70

Item #7.



RECREATION AREA
79,630 SF

RECREATION AREA
46,100 SF

HATCH LEGEND
ASPHALT PAVEMENT

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

SITE DATA TABLE
TOTAL SITE AREA 13.93 AC 606,739 SF
PROPOSED BUILDING 100,285 SF
PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA 210,773 SF
PROPOSED POND AREA (NWL) 47,788 SF
PROPOSED RECREATION AREA 125,720 SF
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS 358,847 SF
TOTAL PERVIOUS 247,892 SF
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS % 59%
TOTAL PERVIOUS % 41%
% BUILDING COVERAGE 17%
TOTAL FLOOR AREA 354,174 SF
FLOOR AREA RATIO (FAR) 58.4%
PARCEL NUMBER(S) 38-06-26-016499-007-00
911 ADDRESS US HIGHWAY 17 AND CR 209 SOUTH
FEMA PANEL NUMBER 12019C0283E

FLOOD ZONE ZONE  X & A

FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

20' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY COUNTY, AS PER O.R. BOOK 10192, PAGE 389, EASEMENT "C"

10' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY ELECTRIC

COOPERATIVE, AS PER O.R. BOOK 1029, PAGE 707

10
'

20
'

10
'

20
'

N
O

N
-E

XC
LU

SI
VE

 E
AS

EM
EN

T 
TO

 T
EC

O
 P

EO
PL

ES
 G

AS
,

(P
ER

M
AN

EN
T 

EA
SE

M
EN

T)
, A

S 
PE

R
 O

.R
. B

O
O

K 
31

67
, P

AG
E 

15
57

AS
PH

AL
T 

PA
VE

M
EN

T

C O U N T Y      R O A D      N o.     2 0 9
( AN 80 FOOT PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY)

S T A T E     R O A D    N o.  1 5   ~  U. S.   H I G H W A Y    N o. 1 7
( A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY )

M
ET

AL
 L

IG
HT

PO
LE

 (6
" D

IA
.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

)
W

IT
H 

LI
G

HT

oe oe oe oe oe oe

G
UYG

UY

oe
W

.P
.P

.
(1

0"
 D

IA
.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)oe

oe

oe

oe
oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.) W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oeoe

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

G
UY

oeoeoe

X

X

X
X

X
X

6'
 C

H
AI

N
 L

IN
K 

FE
N

C
E

0.6'

0.2'

4' HOG WIRE FENCE G
AT

E

4' 
CH

AI
N 

LI
NK

FE
NC

E 
(G

AT
E)

KE
YP

AD

"S
TO

P"
SI

G
N

M
AI

L 
BO

X
# 

42
55

4"
 S

Q
UA

RE
SI

G
N

"A
DO

PT
 A

 
HI

G
HW

AY
"

SI
G

N

"S
TO

P"
SI

G
N

SI
G

N SI
G

N SI
G

N

"S
TO

P
AH

EA
D"

SI
G

N

(C
AB

UL
 L

O
DG

E 
# 

11
6)

2"
 B

.F
.P

.

W
AT

ER
M

ET
ER

FH

W
V

W
AT

ER
VA

LV
E

FH

W
AT

ER
M

ET
ER

S

G
R

AV
EL

R
O

AD

C
AB

AN
AS

AR
BO

R

GRILLE

POOL

MAIL

BUILDING 1
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

BUILDING 2
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

BUILDING 6
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 5
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 4
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 3
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

AM
EN

IT
Y

EXISTING POWER POLE TO BE RELOCATED

DUMPSTER

MAINTENANCE BUILDING

PROPOSED PARKING GARAGE
(5 SPACES TYP.)

BUILDING 7
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

SWMF 1
61,462 SF (1.41 AC)

4:1 SIDE SLOPE
10.80% OF DEVELOPMENT

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

10' SETBACK 10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

6' SIDEWALK

6' SIDEWALKEXISTING WATER
SERVICE TO REMAIN

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT TURN LANE
PER FDOT SPECIFICATIONS

PARKING CALCULATIONS
TOTAL MINIMUM REQUIRED = 457 SPACES
TOTAL PROVIDED = 467 SPACES

DENSITY
MAXIMUM ALLOWED DENSITY = 278 UNITS

20 UNITS / ACRE

DENSITY AS DEPICTED = 260 UNITS

CONCEPT SITE PLAN IS SUBJECT TO REVISIONS BASED ON FINAL SITE
PLAN APPROVAL AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN APPROVAL

N

SHEET No.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
AT

E:

JO
B 

N
o.

:

D
SG

N
 B

Y:

D
W

G
 B

Y:

C
H

K 
BY

:

OF

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

1
3

M
AS

TE
R

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
M

U
LT

I F
A

M
IL

Y
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
SP

R
IN

G
S,

 F
LO

R
ID

A

PI
ED

M
O

N
T 

PR
IV

A
TE

 E
Q

U
IT

Y

D
TS

D
TS

AR
A

04
-1

2-
20

22

22
03

4

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1" = 80'

160'80' 120'
S:

\P
R

O
JE

C
TS

\2
20

00
\2

20
34

 - 
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
VE

 M
U

LT
I F

AM
IL

Y\
EN

G
\D

R
AW

IN
G

S\
C

O
N

C
EP

T\
22

03
4 

- C
O

N
C

EP
T 

PL
AN

.D
W

G
_L

1,
 5

/1
0/

20
22

 1
0:

01
 A

M
, B

ro
ok

e 
La

w
re

nc
e,

 M
AT

TH
EW

S 
D

ES
IG

N
 G

R
O

U
P,

 IN
C

.

P.
O

. B
O

X
 3

12
6,

 7
 W

A
LD

O
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

. A
U

G
U

ST
IN

E,
 F

L 
32

08
4

PH
O

N
E:

 9
04

.8
26

.1
33

4 
   

FA
X

: 9
04

.8
26

.4
54

7
IN

FO
@

M
D

G
IN

C
.C

O
M

PD
F_

22
x3

4 
O

n 
24

x3
6

Page 71

Item #7.



FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

20' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY COUNTY, AS PER O.R. BOOK 10192, PAGE 389, EASEMENT "C"

S T A T E     R O A D    N o.  1 5   ~  U. S.   H I G H W A Y    N o. 1 7
( A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY )

M
ET

AL
 L

IG
HT

PO
LE

 (6
" D

IA
.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

)
W

IT
H 

LI
G

HT

oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe

G
UYG

UY
oe

oe
oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe
oe

oe
oe

oe
oe

oe
oe

oe

X
X

X

X

4' 
CH

AI
N 

LI
NK

FE
NC

E 
(G

AT
E)

4"
 S

Q
UA

RE
SI

G
N

(C
AB

UL
 L

O
DG

E 
# 

11
6)

2"
 B

.F
.P

.

W
AT

ER
M

ET
ER

C
AB

AN
AS AR

BO
R

GRILLE

POOL

MAIL

BUILDING 1
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

AM
EN

IT
Y

SWMF 1
61,462 SF (1.41 AC)

4:1 SIDE SLOPE
10.80% OF DEVELOPMENT

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 7

(M
AX

 H
EI

G
H

T 
= 

59
')

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

6' SIDEWALK

6' SIDEWALK
6' SIDEWALK

EXISTING WATER
SERVICE TO REMAIN

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT TURN LANE
PER FDOT SPECIFICATIONS

RECREATION AREA
46,100 SF

RECREATION AREA
79,630 SF

N

SHEET No.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
AT

E:

JO
B 

N
o.

:

D
SG

N
 B

Y:

D
W

G
 B

Y:

C
H

K 
BY

:

OF

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

2
3

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
M

U
LT

I F
A

M
IL

Y
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
SP

R
IN

G
S,

 F
LO

R
ID

A

PI
ED

M
O

N
T 

PR
IV

A
TE

 E
Q

U
IT

Y

D
TS

D
TS

AR
A

04
-1

2-
20

22

22
03

4

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1" = 30'

60'30' 45'

S:
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\2

20
00

\2
20

34
 - 

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 M

U
LT

I F
AM

IL
Y\

EN
G

\D
R

AW
IN

G
S\

C
O

N
C

EP
T\

22
03

4 
- C

O
N

C
EP

T 
PL

AN
.D

W
G

_L
2,

 5
/1

0/
20

22
 8

:4
4 

AM
, B

ro
ok

e 
La

w
re

nc
e,

 M
AT

TH
EW

S 
D

ES
IG

N
 G

R
O

U
P,

 IN
C

.

P.
O

. B
O

X
 3

12
6,

 7
 W

A
LD

O
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

. A
U

G
U

ST
IN

E,
 F

L 
32

08
4

PH
O

N
E:

 9
04

.8
26

.1
33

4 
   

FA
X

: 9
04

.8
26

.4
54

7
IN

FO
@

M
D

G
IN

C
.C

O
M

PD
F_

22
x3

4 
O

n 
24

x3
6

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E 
SE

E 
SH

EE
T 

3 
O

F 
3

Page 72

Item #7.



FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

10' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY ELECTRIC

COOPERATIVE, AS PER O.R. BOOK 1029, PAGE 707

10
'

20
'

N
O

N
-E

XC
LU

SI
VE

 E
AS

EM
EN

T 
TO

 T
EC

O
 P

EO
PL

ES
 G

AS
,

(P
ER

M
AN

EN
T 

EA
SE

M
EN

T)
, A

S 
PE

R
 O

.R
. B

O
O

K 
31

67
, P

AG
E 

15
57

C O U N T Y      R O A D      N o.     2 0 9
( AN 80 FOOT PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.) W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oeoeoeoeoeoe

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

oe

oe

G
UY

oe

XXXX
4' HOG WIRE FENCE G

AT
E

"A
DO

PT
 A

 
HI

G
HW

AY
"

SI
G

N

SI
G

N SI
G

N SI
G

N

W
V

W
AT

ER
VA

LV
E

BUILDING 2
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

BUILDING 6
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 5
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 4
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 3
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

EXISTING POWER POLE TO BE RELOCATED

DUMPSTER

MAINTENANCE BUILDING

PROPOSED PARKING GARAGE
(5 SPACES TYP.)

BUILDING 7
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

25' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

6' SIDEWALK

6' SIDEWALK

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT TURN LANE
PER FDOT SPECIFICATIONS

RECREATION AREA
46,100 SF

N

SHEET No.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
AT

E:

JO
B 

N
o.

:

D
SG

N
 B

Y:

D
W

G
 B

Y:

C
H

K 
BY

:

OF

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

3
3

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
M

U
LT

I F
A

M
IL

Y
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
SP

R
IN

G
S,

 F
LO

R
ID

A

PI
ED

M
O

N
T 

PR
IV

A
TE

 E
Q

U
IT

Y

D
TS

D
TS

AR
A

04
-1

2-
20

22

22
03

4

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1" = 30'

60'30' 45'

S:
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\2

20
00

\2
20

34
 - 

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 M

U
LT

I F
AM

IL
Y\

EN
G

\D
R

AW
IN

G
S\

C
O

N
C

EP
T\

22
03

4 
- C

O
N

C
EP

T 
PL

AN
.D

W
G

_L
3,

 5
/1

0/
20

22
 8

:4
4 

AM
, B

ro
ok

e 
La

w
re

nc
e,

 M
AT

TH
EW

S 
D

ES
IG

N
 G

R
O

U
P,

 IN
C

.

P.
O

. B
O

X
 3

12
6,

 7
 W

A
LD

O
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

. A
U

G
U

ST
IN

E,
 F

L 
32

08
4

PH
O

N
E:

 9
04

.8
26

.1
33

4 
   

FA
X

: 9
04

.8
26

.4
54

7
IN

FO
@

M
D

G
IN

C
.C

O
M

PD
F_

22
x3

4 
O

n 
24

x3
6

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E 
SE

E 
SH

EE
T 

2 
O

F 
3

Page 73

Item #7.



Page 74

Item #7.



Page 75

Item #7.



Page 76

Item #7.



Page 77

Item #7.



Page 78

Item #7.



Page 79

Item #7.



Page 80

Item #7.



Page 81

Item #7.



Page 82

Item #7.



Page 83

Item #7.



Page 84

Item #7.



Page 85

Item #7.



Page 86

Item #7.



Page 87

Item #7.



Page 88

Item #7.



Vision for Green Cove Springs Apartments
Clubhouse Exterior Rendering (example)

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 89

Item #7.



Vision for Green Cove Springs Apartments
Apartment Dwelling Exterior Rendering (example)

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 90

Item #7.



Development Team Recent Projects
Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 240-units

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 91

Item #7.



Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 
Clubhouse Exterior Elevation

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 92

Item #7.



Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 
Clubhouse Interior Concepts

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 93

Item #7.



Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 
Clubhouse Interior Concepts

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 94

Item #7.



Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 240-units
Dwelling Building Elevation

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 95

Item #7.



Development Team Recent Projects
Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 240-units

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 96

Item #7.



Development Team Recent Projects
Preserve at Ridgeville (N. Charleston SC) 240-units

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 97

Item #7.



Development Team Recent Projects
Preserve at Flagler Beach (Flagler Beach FL) 240-units

Construction Starts 
June 1st 2022

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 98

Item #7.



Development Team Recent Projects
Preserve at Flagler Beach (Flagler Beach FL) 240-units

Construction Starts 
June 1st 2022

Confidential – for City of Green Cove Springs 
approved personnel only

Page 99

Item #7.



Page 100

Item #7.



Page 101

Item #7.



Page 102

Item #7.



Page 103

Item #7.



Page 104

Item #7.



SCRL Date 04/11/2022 

 

  

 
Project Name:   Preserve at Green Cove Springs 
Property Address: US 17 and CR 209 
Owner/Developer:  Hall Trust, 2321 Egremont Dr., Orange Park, FL  32073 
City of Green Cove Springs CRC number:  SCRC (PZ File) CC-22-001 
 
 

 
 
School Capacity is based on capacity of one or more Contiguous Concurrency Service Areas. 
Capacity figures from the table above will be reflected in subsequent updates to each school Development Review Table.  
 
Seat Reservations are perishable: reservation term will end three years from issue of this document.  If no construction has commenced a 
new CCDS Concurrency Reservation request must be completed and approved. 
 

 

 

Lance Addison 

Coordinator; Planning and Intergovenmental Relations 

Clay County District Schools 

Ph: (904) 336-6852   e-mail:  lance.addison@myoneclay.net 

 

Dwelling Type Dwelling units 
Impact 

Fee 
Impact Fee 
extended 

 
Student Generation Rate: Ed Fac Plan 2021-2022 

Single Family N/A $7,034  
 

0.2122 0.0644 0.1333    

Multi Family 260 $3,236  $841,360 0.0314 0.0095 0.0197    

       

 

 SCHOOL CONCURRENCY SERVICE AREAS (SCSA) ANALYSIS 
   

 

 

School 
School 

Capacity (FISH) 

LOS 
Capacity 
(110%) 

Students 
Enrolled 
(Mar '22) 

Reserved 
plus 

contiguous 
service area 

Available 
Capacity 

Project’s 
Impact 

 
Seats to 
Mitigate 

Bus 
required 

CE Bennett El 830 913 608 33 272 9 0 Y 

Green Cove JH 930 1023 791 182 50 3 0 Y 

Clay High  1944 2138 1603 437 98 6 0 Y 

       

 

 CONTIGUOUS IMPACTED SCHOOL CONCURRENCY SERVICE AREA (CISCSA) 
  

 

 

School 
School 

Capacity (FISH) 

LOS 
Capacity 
(110%) 

Students 
Enrolled 
(Mar ’22) 

Reserved 
plus 

contiguous 
service area 

Available 
Capacity 

Project’s 
Impact 

 
Seats to 
Mitigate 

Bus 
required 

         

         

         

Page 105

Item #7.



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

   

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS:

  NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare.

of  this  amendment  is  in  the  furtherance  of  the  public  health,  safety,  morals,  order,  comfort, 
as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

  WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

Development Regulations; and,

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 
  WHEREAS, the  City  Council  has  determined  and  found  said application  for  the 

participation; and,

advertised public hearing on May 17, 2022 and June 7, 2022 and provided for and received public 
  WHEREAS, the  City  Council  considered  the  recommendations  of  the  LPA  at  a  duly 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and,

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 
April 26, 2022 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA), 

  WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

to rezone properties within the City; and

  WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory powers 

Industrial (County) Corridor Commercial to Planned Unit Development (PUD); and

  WHEREAS, the  City  has  received  a  request  to  rezone the  subject  parcel from Light 

property it will be designated as Mixed Use on the Future Land Use Map of the City, and

  WHEREAS, if the City approved the Future Land Use Map amendment for the subject 

subject parcel from Industrial (County) to Mixed Use; and

  WHEREAS, the City has received a request to amend the Future Land Use Map for the 

AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

PROVIDING  FOR  REPEALER,  SEVERABILITY  AND  SETTING

KNOWN  AS  PRESERVE  AT  GREEN  COVE  SPRINGS;

DESIGNATION), TO  PUD,  PLANNED  UNIT  DEVELOPMENT, 
BY  EXHIBIT  “A”, FROM LIGHT  INDUSTRIAL  (COUNTY 
NUMBER 016499-007-00, MORE  PARTICULARLY  DESCRIBED

LOCATED ON  US  17  AND  CR  209, IDENTIFIED  AS  TAX  ID 
SPRINGS,  FLORIDA  REZONING  ±13.92 ACRES  OF  PROPERTY 
AN  ORDINANCE  OF  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF  GREEN  COVE 

ORDINANCE NO. O-13-2022

Page 106

Item #7.



 

  

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

    

 

 

 

   
 

 

    
 

        
 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA

FLORIDA, ON THIS 17TH DAY OF MAY 2022.

READING  BY  THE  CITY  COUNCIL  OF  THE  CITY  OF  GREEN  COVE  SPRINGS, 
  INTRODUCED  AND  APPROVED  AS  TO  FORM  ONLY  ON  THE  FIRST 

Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage.

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid.

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 
of  competent  jurisdiction,  such  holding  of  invalidity  or  unconstitutionality  shall  not  affect  the 
for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 
Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

Section 4. Severability. It  is  the  declared  intent  of  the  City  Council  of  the  City  of

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed.

Section 3. Repealing Clause. All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith

Florida.

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 
construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally. This ordinance shall be liberally

“A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto.

Tax Parcel ID# 38-06-26-016499-007-00, in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit 

following property from Light Industrial (County) to Planned Unit Development (PUD).

Section 1. Zoning  Map  Amended.  The  Zoning  Map  is  hereby  amended  for  the

Page 2 of 3

Ordinance O-13-2022

Page 107

Item #7.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108

Item #7.



Page 109

Item #7.



Page 110

Item #7.



Page 111

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs
City of Green Cove Springs, Florida

Traffic Impact Analysis

Prepared by:
Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard, Suite 103
Jacksonville, FL 32216
904.619.3368

Prepared for:

Project No.:  1146‐220‐007
Date: 05/16/2022

PC Acquisitions, LLC

Page 112

Item #7.



 
PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER CERTIFICATE 

 
I, Rajesh Ramn K. Chindalur, PE #77285, certify that I currently hold an active license in the state 
of Florida and am competent through education or experience to provide engineering services 
in the civil discipline contained in this plan, print, specification, or report.   
 

 
 
I further certify that this plan, print, specification, or report was prepared by me or under my 
responsible charge as defined in Chapter 61G15-18.001 F.A.C.  Moreover, if offered by a 
corporation, partnership, or through a fictitious name, I certify that the company offering the 
engineering services, Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc., 8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard, Suite 
103, Jacksonville, Florida 32216, holds an active certificate of authorization #30806 to provide 
engineering service. 
 

THIS ITEM HAS BEEN DIGITALLY 
SIGNED AND SEALED BY 

 
 
 
 

ON THE DATE ADJACENT TO THE SEAL. 
 

PRINTED COPIES OF THIS DOCUMENT ARE 
NOT CONSIDERED SIGNED AND SEALED 
AND THE SIGNATURE MUST BE VIRIFIED 
ON ANY ELECTRONIC COPIES. 

 
CHINDALUR TRAFFIC SOLUTIONS, INC. 
8833 PERIMETER PARK BOULEVARD, SUITE 103 
JACKSONVILLE, FL 32216 
CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORIZATION #30806 
RAJESH RAMN K. CHINDALUR, P.E. NO. 77285 

 
THE ABOVE NAMED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THIS DOCUMENT IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 61G15-23.004, F.A.C. 
 

PROJECT: Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Impact Analysis 
  
LOCATION: City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida 
  
CLIENT: PC Acquisitions, LLC 

Page 113

Item #7.



 

 
Table of Contents 

  Summary and Conclusions  1 
  Introduction  3 
  Trip Generation  3 
  US 17 and CR 209 South Existing Conditions  3 

  Study Area Segments and Intersections  3 
  Planned and Programmed Improvements  3 
  Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment  3 
  Future Traffic Volumes  4 
  Roadway Segment Analysis  4 
  Intersection Capacity Analysis and Access Intersections  4 
     
  Figures   

Figure 01  Location Map   
Figure 02  US 17 and CR 209 South Existing Conditions   
Figure 03  Roadway Segments Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment   
Figure 04  Year 2022 Peak Hour Traffic Volumes at Study Intersections   
Figure 05  Year 2027 Background Traffic Volumes   
Figure 06  Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment at Study Intersections   
Figure 07  Year 2027 Build‐Out Conditions Traffic Volumes   

     
  Tables   

Table 01  Trip Generation   
Table 02  Study Area Segments and Existing Conditions   
Table 03  Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment   
Table 04  Roadway Segment Analysis   
Table 05  HCM Delay and LOS Summary   

     
  Attachments   

Attachment A  Conceptual Site Plan    
Attachment B  Methodology Document   
Attachment C  Planned and Programmed Improvements (Source: FDOT)   
Attachment D  Travel Demand Model Plots   
Attachment E  Historical AADT and Trends Analysis Plots 
Attachment F  Traffic Counts Data and FDOT Season Factors 
Attachment G  Right Turn Lane Criteria and Guidance   
Attachment H  HCM Worksheets   
Attachment H1  Year 2022 HCM Worksheets   
Attachment H2  Year 2027 Background Conditions HCM Worksheets   
Attachment H3  Year 2027 Build‐Out Conditions HCM Worksheets   

     

Page 114

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA                                                                                            Page 01                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                           05/13/2022 

Summary and Conclusions 
 

 A multi-family residential development that is anticipated to include 260 dwelling 
units is proposed for construction in the City of Green Cove Springs, FL.  The proposed 
development will be located on the northeast quadrant of US 17 and CR 209.  Access to the 
proposed development will be provided via a right-in-right-out driveway on US 17 and a second 
driveway on CR 209.  Please note that the zoning allows for a maximum of 278 dwelling units.   
However, based on the current site plan a maximum of 260 dwelling is proposed for construction.   

 
US 17 is a four-lane divided highway with a posted speed of 60 miles per hour (mph) and 

CR 209 South is a two-lane undivided roadway with a posted speed of 55 mph.   
 
The proposed residential development is anticipated to generate 1,742 Daily trips which 

includes 103 AM peak and 132 PM peak trips.   
 
The study area will include all the roadway segments and intersections where in the 

project traffic is anticipated to be equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the roadway 
segment adopted LOS maximum service volume (MSV). 

 
Project traffic distribution percentages on the study roadway segments using the interim 

year 2025 NERPM_ABv3 travel demand model run.   
 
The proposed development is anticipated to be constructed and occupied by the end of 

year 2025.  However, the traffic impact analysis will be performed under the year 2027 
conditions.  The future traffic volumes on the study roadway segments were estimated by 
applying a growth rate to the year 2019 and 2022 traffic volumes.  The growth rate was estimated 
by performing trends analysis of the study roadway segments historical AADT.    

 
The roadway segment will be considered impacted if the project traffic assignment (new 

trips) is equal to or greater than 5% of its adopted LOS maximum service volume (MSV).  A study 
area roadway segment will be considered adversely impacted if that roadway segment is 
impacted (project new trips 5% of its adopted LOS MSV) and the total traffic (Existing trips + 
Reserved Trips + New Project Traffic) exceed 100% of the roadway segments adopted LOS MSV.   

 
None of the study roadway segments are anticipated to be either impacted or adversely 

impacted under the build-out conditions of the proposed development.   Additionally, all the 
study roadway segments are anticipated to continue operating at LOS D or better under the year 
2027 background and project build-out conditions, except for the segment of US 17 between the 
City of Green Cove Springs City Limits to SR 16 West/Ferris Street.  The segment of US 17 between 
the City of Green Cove Springs City Limits to SR 16 West/Ferris Street is anticipated to operate at 
LOS F under the year 2027 background and build-out conditions of the proposed development.   

 
Please note that the proposed First Coast Expressway and other proposed roadway 

improvements (Clay County Programmed Bonded Roadway Improvements) are anticipated to 
reduce traffic volumes on US 17 roadway segments within the City of Green Cove Springs.    

Page 115

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA                                                                                            Page 02                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                           05/13/2022 

 
Based on the discussions with FDOT staff, the project access on US 17 will be a right-in-

right-out just north of CR 209 intersection and a full access roadway connection on CR 209 South 
just east of US 17.   The above-mentioned access locations are shown in previously mentioned 
site plan.  FDOT staff require the access evaluation to determine the following: 

 
• The need for a northbound right turn lane on US 17 at the proposed project access driveway 
• Adequacy of the existing southbound left turn lane on US 17 at CR 209 South intersection 

 
 A northbound right turn lane is anticipated to be warranted on US 17 at the proposed Project 
Access Driveway.  As per the guidance included in Chapter 212 of the FDOT Design Manual and the 
FDOT Median Handbook, for a roadway with a posted speed of 60 mph (design speed of 65 mph), a 
right turn lane should include 460 feet deceleration and taper distance.  
 
 All the critical movements are currently operating at LOS D or better and are anticipated to 
continue operating at LOS D or better under the future year 2027 background and year 2027 build-
out conditions of the proposed development.   
 
 The existing southbound left turn on US 17 at CR 209 South is approximately 430 feet long 
(250 feet full width turn lane + 180 feet taper distance).  The 95th percentile queue length on the 
southbound left turn is anticipated to be no greater than 50 feet.  Hence, the existing southbound 
left turn lane on US 17 at CR 209 South is anticipated to be adequate under the build-out conditions 
of the proposed development.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA                                                                                            Page 03                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                           05/13/2022 

Introduction  
A multi-family residential development that is anticipated to include 260 units is proposed for 
construction in the City of Green Cove Springs, FL.  The proposed development will be located on 
the northeast quadrant of US 17 and CR 209.  Access to the proposed development will be 
provided via a right-in-right-out driveway on US 17 and a second driveway on CR 209.   A copy of 
the site plan provided by Matthews Design Group, Inc. is included as Attachment A.  Please note 
that the zoning allows for a maximum of 278 dwelling units.   However, based on the current site 
plan a maximum of 260 dwelling is proposed for construction. 
 
The methodology used in this study is consistent with the methodology document provided to the 
City of Green Cove Springs on 05/10/2022.  A copy of the methodology provided to the staff is 
included as Attachment B.   
 
Trip Generation 
Trip generation and for the proposed residential portion of the development will be estimated 
using the rates and equations included in the Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition published by 
the ITE.  Attached Table 01 summarizes the Daily, AM and PM peak trips anticipated by the 
proposed development.  As shown in this table, the proposed residential development is 
anticipated to generate 1,742 Daily trips which includes 103 AM peak and 132 PM peak trips.   
 
US 17 and CR 209 South Existing Conditions 
US 17 is a four-lane divided highway with a posted speed of 60 miles per hour (mph) and CR 209 
South is a two-lane undivided roadway with a posted speed of 55 mph.  Figure 02 shows the 
existing conditions on US 17 and CR 209 at the proposed project access locations.   
 
Study Roadway Segments and Intersections 
Since the proposed development is anticipated to generate a total of 132 PM peak trips, the study 
area will include all the roadway segments and intersections where in the project traffic is 
anticipated to be equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the roadway segment adopted LOS 
maximum service volume (MSV).   Table 02 shows the existing conditions of the roadway 
segments within the vicinity of the proposed development.  The existing conditions data for the 
study roadway segments were obtained from the FDOT traffic counts and Clay County 
Transportation Analysis Spreadsheet.  As shown in this table, all the study roadway segments are 
currently operating at LOS D or better.  
 
Planned and Programmed Roadways: 
The County Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), FDOT Planned and Programmed Improvements and 
NFTPO LRTP will be reviewed to determine any planned and programmed roadways within study 
roadway segments.  Attachment C includes a list of planned and programmed roadways within 
Clay County in addition to the First Coast Expressway between existing SR 23/Old Jennings Road 
to US 17.    
 
Project Traffic Distribution & Assignment: 
Project traffic distribution percentages on the study roadway segments using the interim year 
2025 NERPM_ABv3 travel demand model run.  Attachment D includes copies of the travel 

Page 117

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA                                                                                            Page 04                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                           05/13/2022 

demand model plots.  Table 03 summarizes the project traffic distribution and assignment on the 
roadway segments in the vicinity of the proposed development.  Figure 03 shows project traffic 
distribution and assignment on the study roadway segments.   
    
Future Traffic Volumes: 
The proposed development is anticipated to be constructed and occupied by the end of year 
2025.  However, the traffic impact analysis will be performed under the year 2027 conditions.  
The future traffic volumes on the study roadway segments were estimated by applying a growth 
rate to the year 2019 and 2022 traffic volumes.  The growth rate was estimated by performing 
trends analysis of the study roadway segments historical AADT.   The historical AADT of the study 
roadway segments was obtained from the FDOT Traffic Counts Online Portal.  Attachment E 
includes copies of the historical AADT, and the trends analysis of the study roadway segments. 
 
Roadway Segment Analysis: 
The segment analysis of the study area roadway segments will be performed to determine any 
impacts and adverse impacts due to the additional trips from the proposed development.  The 
roadway segment will be considered impacted if the project traffic assignment (new trips) is 
equal to or greater than 5% of its adopted LOS maximum service volume (MSV).  A study area 
roadway segment will be considered adversely impacted if that roadway segment is impacted 
(project new trips 5% of its adopted LOS MSV) and the total traffic (Existing trips + Reserved Trips 
+ New Project Traffic) exceed 100% of the roadway segments adopted LOS MSV.   
 
Table 04 summarizes the roadway segments analysis of the study roadway segments.  As shown 
in this table, none of the study roadway segments are anticipated to be either impacted or 
adversely impacted under the build-out conditions of the proposed development.   Additionally, 
all the study roadway segments are anticipated to continue operating at LOS D or better under 
the year 2027 background and project build-out conditions, except for the segment of US 17 
between the City of Green Cove Springs City Limits to SR 16 West/Ferris Street.  The segment of 
US 17 between the City of Green Cove Springs City Limits to SR 16 West/Ferris Street is 
anticipated to operate at LOS F under the year 2027 background and build-out conditions of the 
proposed development.   
 
Please note that the proposed First Coast Expressway and other proposed roadway 
improvements (Clay County Programmed Bonded Roadway Improvements) are anticipated to 
reduce traffic volumes on US 17 roadway segments within the City of Green Cove Springs.    
 
Intersection Capacity Analysis and Access Intersections: 
Based on the discussions with FDOT staff, the project access on US 17 will be a right-in-right-out 
just north of CR 209 intersection and a full access roadway connection on CR 209 South just east 
of US 17.   The above-mentioned access locations are shown in previously mentioned site plan.  
FDOT staff require the access evaluation to determine the following: 
 
• The need for a northbound right turn lane on US 17 at the proposed project access driveway 
• Adequacy of the existing southbound left turn lane on US 17 at CR 209 South intersection 
 

Page 118

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA                                                                                            Page 05                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                           05/13/2022 

Since the project traffic is not anticipated to be equal or greater than the study roadway 
segments’ adopted LOS maximum service volume (MSV), intersection analysis other than the 
above stated intersections is not anticipated to be required.   
 
Existing Traffic Volumes: AM peak and PM peak hour traffic volumes at the above stated study 
intersections were obtained on April 26th, 2022.  These counts were further adjusted with a season 
factor of 1.19 to account for seasonal variations.  This season factor was obtained from the Florida 
Department of Transportation (FDOT) traffic counts online portal.  Attachment F includes copies of 
the traffic counts data and the FDOT season factors.  Figure 04 shows the year 2022 peak hour traffic 
volumes at the above stated study intersections. 
 
Year 2027 Background Traffic Volumes:  The year 2027 background traffic volumes at the above 
stated study intersections were estimated by applying a growth factor of 1.30 to the year 2022 traffic 
volumes.  This growth factor was estimated by performing trends analysis of the historical AADT on 
US 17 north of CR 209 South (included in previously stated Attachment E).  The year 2027 
background conditions peak hour traffic volumes at the study intersections are shown in Figure 05.   
 
Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment:  Project traffic assignment at the above stated study 
intersections were established by applying the project traffic distribution obtained from the travel 
demand model run to the peak hour net external trips shown in previously stated Table 01.   Figure 
06 shows the AM peak and PM peak project traffic assignment at the above stated study 
intersections.   
 
Year 2027 Build-out Traffic Volumes:  The year 2027 build-out traffic volumes include the year 2027 
background traffic volumes and the peak hour project related traffic assignment at the study 
intersections.  Figure 07 includes the year 2027 build-out conditions AM peak and PM peak hour 
traffic volumes at the study intersections.   
 
Right Turn Lane Evaluation: The need for a northbound right turn lane on US 17 at the proposed 
project access roadway was evaluated using the right turn lane criteria included in the in the FDOT 
Access Management Guidebook (Attachment G).  As shown in previously stated Figure 07, about 
30 northbound right turns are anticipated on US 17 which is very close to the right turn lane 
threshold of 35 peak hour turns. Hence, a northbound right turn lane is anticipated to be warranted 
on US 17 at the proposed Project Access Driveway.  As per the guidance included in Chapter 212 of 
the FDOT Design Manual and the FDOT Median Handbook, for a roadway with a posted speed of 60 
mph (design speed of 65 mph), a right turn lane should include 460 feet deceleration and taper 
distance.  
 
Intersection Capacity Analysis: Intersection capacity analysis of the study intersections under the 
year 2022 existing conditions, year 2027 background and year 2027 build-out conditions was 
performed using the Synchro 11 software.  This software uses the HCM 6 criteria and methodology 
to determine the LOS and delay at un-signalized intersections.   Table 05 summarizes the delay and 
LOS for all the critical movements at the study intersections.  As shown in this table, all the critical 
movements are currently operating at LOS D or better and are anticipated to continue operating at 

Page 119

Item #7.



Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA                                                                                            Page 06                                                                                                                                                                                                          

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                           05/13/2022 

LOS D or better under the future year 2027 background and year 2027 build-out conditions of the 
proposed development.  Attachment H includes copies of the HCM Worksheets.  
 
This table also summarizes the 95th percentile queue length on the southbound left turn at the US 
17 and CR 209 South intersection under the existing, year 2027 background and year 2027 build-out 
conditions.  The existing southbound left turn on US 17 at CR 209 South is approximately 430 feet 
long (250 feet full width turn lane + 180 feet taper distance).  As shown in this table, the 95th 
percentile queue length on the southbound left turn is anticipated to be no greater than 50 feet.  
Hence, the existing southbound left turn lane on US 17 at CR 209 South is anticipated to be adequate 
under the build-out conditions of the proposed development.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
      
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120

Item #7.



Figure 01 – Location Map
Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Impact Study

City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida
Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Blvd., Suite 103 
Jacksonville FL 32216
(904) 619‐3368 | www.ctrafficsolutions.com 

Proposed 
Development

Page 121

Item #7.



Figure 02 – Existing Conditions
Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Impact Study

City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida
Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Blvd., Suite 103 
Jacksonville FL 32216
(904) 619‐3368 | www.ctrafficsolutions.com 

Proposed 
Development

Page 122

Item #7.



Figure 03 – Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment
Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Impact Study

City of Green Cove Springs, Clay County, Florida
Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.
8833 Perimeter Park Blvd., Suite 103 
Jacksonville FL 32216
(904) 619‐3368 | www.ctrafficsolutions.com 

Proposed Multi‐family 
Development

O
ak
 R
id
ge
 A
ve
n
u
e

1
.3
3
%

O
ak
 R
id
ge
 A
ve
n
u
e

1
.4
4
%

Page 123

Item #7.



U.S. 17

N

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
A
c
c
e
s
s

R
I
R
O

C
l
e
a
r
 
H
a
l
l

L
a
n
e

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Project Access

U.S. 17

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Study

Figure 04 - Year 2022 AM and PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(765) 493

(1) 6

(
6
)
1

(
0
)
1

784 (700)

4 (0)

0 (0)

(765) 494

788 (700)

1
3
3
 
(
9
4
)

(
0
)
1

(
0
)
0

1
3
3
 
(
9
4
)

0
 
(
0
)

0
 
(
0
)

(112) 50

(643) 443

(0) 1

(
1
1
2
)
5
0

0 (0)

646 (606)

0 (0)

0 (0)

Page 124

Item #7.



U.S. 17

N

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
A
c
c
e
s
s

R
I
R
O

C
l
e
a
r
 
H
a
l
l

L
a
n
e

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Project Access

U.S. 17

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Study

Figure 05 - Year 2027 AM and PM Peak Hour Background Traffic Volumes

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(995) 641

(1) 8

(
8
)
1

(
0
)
1

1,019 (910)

5 (0)

0 (0)

(995) 642

1,024 (910)

1
7
3
 
(
1
2
2
)

(
0
)
1

(
0
)
0

1
7
3
 
(
1
2
2
)

0
 
(
0
)

0
 
(
0
)

(146) 65

(836) 576

(0) 1

(
1
4
6
)
6
5

0 (0)

840 (788)

0 (0)

0 (0)

Page 125

Item #7.



U.S. 17

N

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
A
c
c
e
s
s

R
I
R
O

C
l
e
a
r
 
H
a
l
l

L
a
n
e

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Project Access

U.S. 17

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Study

Figure 06 - Year 2027 AM and PM Peak Hour Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

49%

- Project Traffic Distribution

67.00%

2
.
0

0
%

31.00%

52 (33)

10 (6)

9 (30)

5 (3)

1
 
(
2
)

5
 
(
3
)

1
5
 
(
9
)

(17) 5

(39) 12

(6) 10

(
5
2
)
1
6

4 (13)

4 (13)

(1) 2

(12) 20

(56) 17 (62) 27

5
7
 
(
3
6
)

Page 126

Item #7.



U.S. 17

N

P
r
o
j
e
c
t
 
A
c
c
e
s
s

R
I
R
O

C
l
e
a
r
 
H
a
l
l

L
a
n
e

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Project Access

U.S. 17

C
.
R
.
 
2
0
9
 
S
.

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.

8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard,

Suite 103

Jacksonville, FL 32216

Phone: (904) 619-3368

www.ctrafficsolutions.com

Clay County, Florida

Preserve at Green Cove Springs – Traffic Study

Figure 07 - Year 2027 AM and PM Peak Hour Build-Out Traffic Volumes

LEGEND:

534 - AM Peak Hour Traffic

(923)
- PM Peak Hour Traffic

(1,051) 658

(1) 8

(
8
)
1

(
0
)
1

1,071 (943)

5 (0)

10 (6)

(1,057) 699

9 (30)

1,029 (913)

1
 
(
2
)

1
7
3
 
(
1
2
2
)

(
0
)
1

(
0
)
0

(
0
)
0

1
7
8
 
(
1
2
5
)

0
 
(
0
)

1
5
 
(
9
)

0
 
(
0
)

(17) 5

(185) 77

(842) 586

(
5
2
)
1
6

(
1
4
6
)
6
5

4 (13)

844 (801)

0 (0)

0 (0)

5
7
 
(
3
6
)

(1) 2

(12) 20

Page 127

Item #7.



Table 01
Trip Generation
Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA, The City of Green Cove Springs,  FL

ITE Land Time Rate or
Use Code Description Quantity Units Period Equation Entering Exiting Total Entering Exiting

220 Multi-family Residential 260           Dwelling Daily T = 6.41(X) + 75.31 50% 50% 1,742        871         871         
(Apartments) Units AM Peak T = 0.31(X) + 22.85 24% 76% 103           25           78           

PM Peak T = 0.43(X) + 20.55 63% 37% 132           83           49           

Source: Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition, ITE

Note: Please note that the zoning allows for a maximum of 278 dwelling units.   
However, based on the current site plan a maximum of 260 dwelling is proposed for construction.

Percent Traffic Project Trips

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 04/21/2022
Page 128

Item #7.



Table 02
Roadway Characteristics Inventory
Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA, The City of Green Cove Springs,  FL

Adopted Year 2019 Year 2022 Existing
LOS Peak Peak Hour Peak Hour Conditions Existing

Speed Adopted Hour Length Facility Area 2019 ADT Traffic Growth Traffic V/C Conditions
Roadway Segment Agency Limit LOS MSV (Miles) Lanes Type Type Source Collected Volumes Rate Volumes Ratio LOS

US 17 Green Cove Springs to SR 16 West FDOT 35 D 2,920           1.26 4 - DIV Prin. Arterial Urban FDOT 24,000        2,160         4.07% 2,435         83.39% D
US 17 SR 16 West to SR 16 East FDOT 55 D 3,580           0.63 4 - DIV Prin. Arterial Urban FDOT 21,500        1,935         3.93% 2,172         60.67% D
US 17 SR 16 East to CR 209 FDOT 55 D 3,580           1.61 4 - DIV Prin. Arterial Transition FDOT 14,100        1,269         5.37% 1,485         41.48% C
US 17 CR 209 to CR 226 FDOT 55 D 3,580           3.18 4 - DIV Prin. Arterial Transition FDOT 10,900        981             1.14% 1,015         28.35% C
US 17 CR 226 to Putnam County Line FDOT 60 B 4,460           10.20 4 - DIV Highway Rural FDOT 12,803        1,152         6.01% 1,372         30.76% C
SR 16 Oak Ridge Avenue to US 17 FDOT 35 D 2,774           1.12 4-Un Div Major Arterial Urban FDOT 11,500        1,035         4.13% 1,169         42.14% C
SR 16 US 17 to Slow Tide Road FDOT 45 E 3,070           1.26 4 - Div Highway Transition FDOT 19,694        1,772         5.92% 2,106         68.60% D
Oak Ridge Avenue SR 16 to Green Cove Avenue GCS 35 D 1,161           0.59 2 Minor Collector Urban FDOT 2,200          198             5.26% 231            19.90% C
Oak Ridge Avenue Green Cove Avenue to US 17 GCS 35 D 1,161           3.1 2 Minor Collector Urban FDOT 2,200          198             5.26% 231            19.90% C
Green Cove Avenue US 17 to Oak Ridge Avenue GCS 25 D 1,161           1.14 2 Local Road Urban FDOT 1,600          144             3.85% 161            13.87% C
First Coast Expressway SR 16 to US 17 FDOT 65 D 6,700           6.45 4 - DIV Freeway Urban FDOT -              -             2.00% -             0.00% C
CR 209 East of US 17 Clay County 55 D 2,110           1.69 2 Highway Rural All Traffic Data -              -             0.00% 174            8.25% C

Attachment B - FDOT Traffic Counts Data

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 05/03/2022Page 129

Item #7.



Table 03
Project Traffic Distribution and Assignment
Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA, The City of Green Cove Springs,  FL

132

Residential Residential Project
Adopted LOS Project Traffic Project Traffic Traffic

Roadway From/To Peak Hour MSV Distribution Assignment % of MSV

US 17 Green Cove Springs to SR 16 West 2,920                        24.06% 32                              1.10%
US 17 SR 16 West to SR 16 East 3,580                        33.73% 45                              1.26%
US 17 SR 16 East to CR 209 3,580                        67.04% 88                              2.46%
US 17 CR 209 to CR 226 3,580                        30.98% 41                              1.15%
US 17 CR 226 to Putnam County Line 4,460                        7.18% 9                                 0.20%
SR 16 Oak Ridge Avenue to US 17 2,774                        8.47% 11                              0.40%
SR 16 US 17 to Slow Tide Road 3,070                        33.31% 44                              1.43%
Oak Ridge Avenue SR 16 to Green Cove Avenue 1,161                        1.33% 2                                 0.17%
Oak Ridge Avenue Green Cove Avenue to US 17 1,161                        1.45% 2                                 0.17%
Green Cove Avenue US 17 to Oak Ridge Avenue 1,161                        0.00% -                             0.00%
First Coast Expressway SR 16 to US 17 6,700                        23.81% 31                              0.46%
CR 209 East of US 17 2,110                        1.98% 3                                 0.14%

Attachment D - Travel Demand Model Plots

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 05/03/2022Page 130

Item #7.



Table 04
Roadway Characteristics Inventory
Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA, The City of Green Cove Springs,  FL

Adopted Year 2022 Existing Year 2027 Year 2027 Year 2027 Year 2027 Roadway
LOS Peak Peak Hour Conditions Background Background Year 2027 Residential Project Roadway Build-Out Build-Out Segment Year 2027

Speed Adopted Hour Growth Traffic V/C Peak Hour Peak Hour Background Project Traffic Traffic Segment Peak Hour Traffic Adversely Build-Out
Roadway Segment Agency Limit LOS MSV Rate Volumes Ratio Traffic Volumes V/C Ratio LOS Assignment % of MSV Impacted Traffic Volumes % of MSV Impacted LOS

US 17 Green Cove Springs to SR 16 West FDOT 35 D 2,920          4.07% 2,435             83.39% 2,973                       101.82% F 32                            1.10% No 3,005                       102.91% No F
US 17 SR 16 West to SR 16 East FDOT 55 D 3,580          3.93% 2,172             60.67% 2,634                       73.58% D 45                            1.26% No 2,679                       74.83% No D
US 17 SR 16 East to CR 209 FDOT 55 D 3,580          5.37% 1,485             41.48% 1,929                       53.88% D 88                            2.46% No 2,017                       56.34% No D
US 17 CR 209 to CR 226 FDOT 55 D 3,580          2.00% 1,015             28.35% 1,121                       31.31% C 41                            1.15% No 1,162                       32.46% No C
US 17 CR 226 to Putnam County Line FDOT 60 B 4,460          6.01% 1,372             30.76% 1,837                       41.19% C 9                              0.20% No 1,846                       41.39% No C
SR 16 Oak Ridge Avenue to US 17 FDOT 35 D 2,774          4.13% 1,169             42.14% 1,431                       51.59% D 11                            0.40% No 1,442                       51.98% No D
SR 16 US 17 to Slow Tide Road FDOT 45 E 3,070          5.92% 2,106             68.60% 2,808                       91.47% D 44                            1.43% No 2,852                       92.90% No D
Oak Ridge Avenue SR 16 to Green Cove Avenue GCS 35 D 1,161          5.26% 231                19.90% 298                          25.67% C 2                              0.17% No 300                          25.84% No C
Oak Ridge Avenue Green Cove Avenue to US 17 GCS 35 D 1,161          5.26% 231                19.90% 298                          25.67% C 2                              0.17% No 300                          25.84% No C
Green Cove Avenue US 17 to Oak Ridge Avenue GCS 25 D 1,161          3.85% 161                13.87% 194                          16.71% C -                           0.00% No 194                          16.71% No C
First Coast Expressway SR 16 to US 17 FDOT 65 D 6,700          2.00% -                 0.00% -                           0.00% C 31                            0.46% No 31                            0.46% No C
CR 209 East of US 17 Clay County 55 D 2,110          2.00% 174                8.25% 192                          9.10% C 3                              0.14% No 195                          9.24% No C

Note: A minimum of 2.0% Growth Rate was applied to US 17, First Coast Expressway and CR 209

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 05/03/2022 Page 131

Item #7.



Table 05
Intersection Capacity Analysis - HCM Delay and LOS Summary
Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA, The City of Green Cove Springs,  FL

Traffic 95th Percentile 95th Percentile
Intersection Approach Control Delay LOS Queue (Feet) Delay LOS Queue (Feet)

Year 2022 Existing Conditions
US 17 at Clear Hall Lane NBL Yield 8.60 A 0 0.00 A 0

EB Stop 15.9 C 0 17.5 C 25

US 17 at CR 209 South NBL Yield 0.00 A 0 0.00 A 0
SBL Yield 9.9 A 25 9.5 A 25
EB Stop 18.80 C 0 0.00 A 0
WB Stop 12.5 B 25 11.4 B 25

Year 2027 Background Conditions
US 17 at Clear Hall Lane NBL Yield 9.10 A 0 0.00 A 0

EB Stop 19.6 C 0 22.6 C 25

US 17 at CR 209 South NBL Yield 0.00 A 0 0.00 A 0
SBL Yield 11.2 B 25 10.8 B 25
EB Stop 26.70 D 25 0.00 A 0
WB Stop 15.5 C 50 13.1 B 25

Year 2027 Build-Out Conditions
US 17 at Clear Hall Lane NBL Yield 11.60 B 25 18.70 C 25

EB Stop 20.7 C 25 24.4 C 25

US 17 at Proposed Project Access Driveway WBR Stop 15.40 C 25 13.90 B 25

US 17 at CR 209 South NBL Yield 0.00 A 0 0.00 A 0
SBL Yield 12.3 B 25 12.8 B 50
EB Stop 29.00 D 25 0.00 A 0
WB Stop 19.1 C 75 16.3 C 50

CR 209 South at Project Access Driveway EBL Yield 7.60 A 0 7.60 A 25
SB Stop 9.4 A 25 9.2 A 0

Attachment H - HCM Worksheets

AM Peak PM Peak

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 05/13/2022Page 132

Item #7.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Attachment A 

Project Site Plan 
Source: Matthews Design Group, Inc. 

 
 

Page 133

Item #7.



RECREATION AREA
79,630 SF

RECREATION AREA
46,100 SF

HATCH LEGEND
ASPHALT PAVEMENT

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

SITE DATA TABLE
TOTAL SITE AREA 13.93 AC 606,739 SF
PROPOSED BUILDING 100,285 SF
PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA 210,773 SF
PROPOSED POND AREA (NWL) 47,788 SF
PROPOSED RECREATION AREA 125,720 SF
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS 358,847 SF
TOTAL PERVIOUS 247,892 SF
TOTAL IMPERVIOUS % 59%
TOTAL PERVIOUS % 41%
% BUILDING COVERAGE 17%
TOTAL FLOOR AREA 354,174 SF
FLOOR AREA RATIO (FAR) 58.4%
PARCEL NUMBER(S) 38-06-26-016499-007-00
911 ADDRESS US HIGHWAY 17 AND CR 209 SOUTH
FEMA PANEL NUMBER 12019C0283E

FLOOD ZONE ZONE  X & A

FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

20' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY COUNTY, AS PER O.R. BOOK 10192, PAGE 389, EASEMENT "C"

10' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY ELECTRIC

COOPERATIVE, AS PER O.R. BOOK 1029, PAGE 707

10
'

20
'

10
'

20
'

N
O

N
-E

XC
LU

SI
VE

 E
AS

EM
EN

T 
TO

 T
EC

O
 P

EO
PL

ES
 G

AS
,

(P
ER

M
AN

EN
T 

EA
SE

M
EN

T)
, A

S 
PE

R
 O

.R
. B

O
O

K 
31

67
, P

AG
E 

15
57

AS
PH

AL
T 

PA
VE

M
EN

T

C O U N T Y      R O A D      N o.     2 0 9
( AN 80 FOOT PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY)

S T A T E     R O A D    N o.  1 5   ~  U. S.   H I G H W A Y    N o. 1 7
( A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY )

M
ET

AL
 L

IG
HT

PO
LE

 (6
" D

IA
.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

)
W

IT
H 

LI
G

HT

oe oe oe oe oe oe

G
UYG

UY

oe
W

.P
.P

.
(1

0"
 D

IA
.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)oe

oe

oe

oe
oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.) W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oeoe

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

G
UY

oeoeoe

X

X

X
X

X
X

6'
 C

H
AI

N
 L

IN
K 

FE
N

C
E

0.6'

0.2'

4' HOG WIRE FENCE G
AT

E

4' 
CH

AI
N 

LI
NK

FE
NC

E 
(G

AT
E)

KE
YP

AD

"S
TO

P"
SI

G
N

M
AI

L 
BO

X
# 

42
55

4"
 S

Q
UA

RE
SI

G
N

"A
DO

PT
 A

 
HI

G
HW

AY
"

SI
G

N

"S
TO

P"
SI

G
N

SI
G

N SI
G

N SI
G

N

"S
TO

P
AH

EA
D"

SI
G

N

(C
AB

UL
 L

O
DG

E 
# 

11
6)

2"
 B

.F
.P

.

W
AT

ER
M

ET
ER

FH

W
V

W
AT

ER
VA

LV
E

FH

W
AT

ER
M

ET
ER

S

G
R

AV
EL

R
O

AD

C
AB

AN
AS

AR
BO

R

GRILLE

POOL

MAIL

BUILDING 1
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

BUILDING 2
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

BUILDING 6
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 5
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 4
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 3
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

AM
EN

IT
Y

EXISTING POWER POLE TO BE RELOCATED

DUMPSTER

MAINTENANCE BUILDING

PROPOSED PARKING GARAGE
(5 SPACES TYP.)

BUILDING 7
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

SWMF 1
61,462 SF (1.41 AC)

4:1 SIDE SLOPE
10.80% OF DEVELOPMENT

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

10' SETBACK 10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

6' SIDEWALK

6' SIDEWALKEXISTING WATER
SERVICE TO REMAIN

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT TURN LANE
PER FDOT SPECIFICATIONS

PARKING CALCULATIONS
TOTAL MINIMUM REQUIRED = 457 SPACES
TOTAL PROVIDED = 467 SPACES

DENSITY
MAXIMUM ALLOWED DENSITY = 278 UNITS

20 UNITS / ACRE

DENSITY AS DEPICTED = 260 UNITS

CONCEPT SITE PLAN IS SUBJECT TO REVISIONS BASED ON FINAL SITE
PLAN APPROVAL AND CONSTRUCTION PLAN APPROVAL

N

SHEET No.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
AT

E:

JO
B 

N
o.

:

D
SG

N
 B

Y:

D
W

G
 B

Y:

C
H

K 
BY

:

OF

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

3

M
AS

TE
R

 S
IT

E 
PL

AN
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
M

U
LT

I F
A

M
IL

Y
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
SP

R
IN

G
S,

 F
LO

R
ID

A

PI
ED

M
O

N
T 

PR
IV

A
TE

 E
Q

U
IT

Y

D
TS

D
TS

AR
A

04
-1

2-
20

22

22
03

4

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1" = 80'

160'80' 120'

S:
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\2

20
00

\2
20

34
 - 

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 M

U
LT

I F
AM

IL
Y\

EN
G

\D
R

AW
IN

G
S\

C
O

N
C

EP
T\

22
03

4 
- C

O
N

C
EP

T 
PL

AN
.D

W
G

_L
1,

 5
/1

0/
20

22
 1

0:
01

 A
M

, B
ro

ok
e 

La
w

re
nc

e,
 M

AT
TH

EW
S 

D
ES

IG
N

 G
R

O
U

P,
 IN

C
.

P.
O

. B
O

X
 3

12
6,

 7
 W

A
LD

O
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

. A
U

G
U

ST
IN

E,
 F

L 
32

08
4

PH
O

N
E:

 9
04

.8
26

.1
33

4 
   

FA
X

: 9
04

.8
26

.4
54

7
IN

FO
@

M
D

G
IN

C
.C

O
M

PD
F_

22
x3

4 
O

n 
24

x3
6

Page 134

Item #7.



FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

20' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY COUNTY, AS PER O.R. BOOK 10192, PAGE 389, EASEMENT "C"

S T A T E     R O A D    N o.  1 5   ~  U. S.   H I G H W A Y    N o. 1 7
( A VARIABLE WIDTH PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY )

G
HT

E 
(6

" D
IA

.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

)
W

IT
H 

LI
G

HT

oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe oe

G
UYG

UY
oe

oe
oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe
oe

oe
oe

oe
oe

oe
oe

oe

X
X

X

X

4' 
CH

AI
N 

LI
NK

FE
NC

E 
(G

AT
E)

4"
 S

Q
UA

RE
SI

G
N

(C
AB

UL
 L

O
DG

E 
# 

11
6)

2"
 B

.F
.P

.

W
AT

ER
M

ET
ER

C
AB

AN
AS AR

BO
R

GRILLE

POOL

MAIL

BUILDING 1
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

AM
EN

IT
Y

SWMF 1
61,462 SF (1.41 AC)

4:1 SIDE SLOPE
10.80% OF DEVELOPMENT

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

BU
IL

D
IN

G
 7

(M
AX

 H
EI

G
H

T 
= 

59
')

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

6' SIDEWALK

6' SIDEWALK
6' SIDEWALK

EXISTING WATER
SERVICE TO REMAIN

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT TURN LANE
PER FDOT SPECIFICATIONS

RECREATION AREA
46,100 SF

RECREATION AREA
79,630 SF

N

SHEET No.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
AT

E:

JO
B 

N
o.

:

D
SG

N
 B

Y:

D
W

G
 B

Y:

C
H

K 
BY

:

OF

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

3

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
M

U
LT

I F
A

M
IL

Y
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
SP

R
IN

G
S,

 F
LO

R
ID

A

PI
ED

M
O

N
T 

PR
IV

A
TE

 E
Q

U
IT

Y

D
TS

D
TS

AR
A

04
-1

2-
20

22

22
03

4

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1" = 30'

60'30' 45'

S:
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\2

20
00

\2
20

34
 - 

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 M

U
LT

I F
AM

IL
Y\

EN
G

\D
R

AW
IN

G
S\

C
O

N
C

EP
T\

22
03

4 
- C

O
N

C
EP

T 
PL

AN
.D

W
G

_L
2,

 5
/1

0/
20

22
 8

:4
4 

AM
, B

ro
ok

e 
La

w
re

nc
e,

 M
AT

TH
EW

S 
D

ES
IG

N
 G

R
O

U
P,

 IN
C

.

P.
O

. B
O

X
 3

12
6,

 7
 W

A
LD

O
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

. A
U

G
U

ST
IN

E,
 F

L 
32

08
4

PH
O

N
E:

 9
04

.8
26

.1
33

4 
   

FA
X

: 9
04

.8
26

.4
54

7
IN

FO
@

M
D

G
IN

C
.C

O
M

PD
F_

22
x3

4 
O

n 
24

x3
6

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E 
SE

E 
SH

EE
T 

3 
O

F 
3

Page 135

Item #7.



FLOOD ZONE "A"

FLOOD ZONE "X"

10' UTILITY EASEMENT TO CLAY ELECTRIC

COOPERATIVE, AS PER O.R. BOOK 1029, PAGE 707

10
'

20
'

N
O

N
-E

XC
LU

SI
VE

 E
AS

EM
EN

T 
TO

 T
EC

O
 P

EO
PL

ES
 G

AS
,

(P
ER

M
AN

EN
T 

EA
SE

M
EN

T)
, A

S 
PE

R
 O

.R
. B

O
O

K 
31

67
, P

AG
E 

15
57

C O U N T Y      R O A D      N o.     2 0 
( AN 80 FOOT PUBLIC ROAD RIGHT-OF-WAY)

G
UY

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

0"
 D

IA
.)

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

oe

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.) W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

W
.P

.P
.

(1
0"

 D
IA

.)

oeoeoeoeoeoe

G
UY

P.

oe

G
UY

oe

XXXX
4' HOG WIRE FENCE G

AT
E

"A
DO

PT
 A

 
HI

G
HW

AY
"

SI
G

N

SI
G

N SI
G

N SI
G

N

W
V

W
AT

ER
VA

LV
E

BUILDING 2
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

BUILDING 6
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 5
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 4
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

BUILDING 3
(MAX HEIGHT = 54')

EXISTING POWER POLE TO BE RELOCATED

DUMPSTER

MAINTENANCE BUILDING

PROPOSED PARKING GARAGE
(5 SPACES TYP.)

BUILDING 7
(MAX HEIGHT = 59')

10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

10' SETBACK

25' SETBACK

6' SIDEWALK

6' SIDEWALK

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

10' NON-EXCLUSIVE
UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED RIGHT TURN LANE
PER FDOT SPECIFICATIONS

RECREATION AREA
46,100 SF

N

SHEET No.:

R
EV

IS
IO

N
S

D
ES

C
R

IP
TI

O
N

D
AT

E
N

O
.

D
AT

E:

JO
B 

N
o.

:

D
SG

N
 B

Y:

D
W

G
 B

Y:

C
H

K 
BY

:

OF

PR
EP

AR
ED

 F
O

R

3

SI
TE

 P
LA

N
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
M

U
LT

I F
A

M
IL

Y
G

R
EE

N
 C

O
V

E 
SP

R
IN

G
S,

 F
LO

R
ID

A

PI
ED

M
O

N
T 

PR
IV

A
TE

 E
Q

U
IT

Y

D
TS

D
TS

AR
A

04
-1

2-
20

22

22
03

4

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

1" = 30'

60'30' 45'

S:
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\2

20
00

\2
20

34
 - 

G
R

EE
N

 C
O

VE
 M

U
LT

I F
AM

IL
Y\

EN
G

\D
R

AW
IN

G
S\

C
O

N
C

EP
T\

22
03

4 
- C

O
N

C
EP

T 
PL

AN
.D

W
G

_L
3,

 5
/1

0/
20

22
 8

:4
4 

AM
, B

ro
ok

e 
La

w
re

nc
e,

 M
AT

TH
EW

S 
D

ES
IG

N
 G

R
O

U
P,

 IN
C

.

P.
O

. B
O

X
 3

12
6,

 7
 W

A
LD

O
 S

TR
EE

T
ST

. A
U

G
U

ST
IN

E,
 F

L 
32

08
4

PH
O

N
E:

 9
04

.8
26

.1
33

4 
   

FA
X

: 9
04

.8
26

.4
54

7
IN

FO
@

M
D

G
IN

C
.C

O
M

PD
F_

22
x3

4 
O

n 
24

x3
6

M
A

TC
H

 L
IN

E 
SE

E 
SH

EE
T 

2 
O

F 
3

Page 136

Item #7.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 Attachment B 

Methodology Document 
   

Page 137

Item #7.



Methodology Memo 
Green Cove Springs Multi‐family – TIA 

City of Green Cove Springs, FL 

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc.                                                                                               05/03/2022 

To: Mr. Michael Daniels, AICP                                                   From: Rajesh K. Chindalur, P.E., PTOE 

Planning and Zoning Director                                                       Project: Green Cove Springs – Multi‐family 

City of Green Cove Springs, FL                                                                                      Client: PC Acquisitions, LLC 
                                                                                                          Project No.: 1146‐220‐007 
                                                                                                                                                            Date: 05/03/2022 
 
Introduction:  
A multi‐family residential development that  is anticipated to  include 260 units  is proposed  for 
construction in the City of Green Cove Springs, FL.  The proposed development will be located on 
the  northeast  quadrant  of US  17  and  CR  209.   Access  to  the  proposed  development will  be 
provided  via  a  right‐in‐right‐out driveway on US 17  and  a  second driveway on CR 209.      The 
following methodology will be adopted to complete the traffic impact study (TIS) to determine the impacts 
of the proposed development. A copy of the site plan provided by Matthews Design Group, Inc. is included 
as Attachment A.  
   
Trip Generation: 
Trip generation and for the proposed residential portion of the development will be estimated using the 
rates and equations included in the Trip Generation Manual, 11th Edition published by the ITE.  Attached 
Table 01 summarizes  the Daily, AM and PM peak  trips anticipated by  the proposed development.   As 
shown  in this table, the proposed residential development  is anticipated  to generate 1,742 Daily trips 
which includes 103 AM peak and 132 PM peak trips.   
 
Study Roadway Segments and Intersections: 
Since the proposed development is anticipated to generate a total of 132 PM peak trips (greater than the 
50 PM peak trips threshold), the study area will include all the roadway segments and intersections where 
in the project traffic is anticipated to be equal to or greater than five percent (5%) of the roadway segment 
adopted LOS maximum service volume (MSV).   Table 02 shows the existing conditions of the roadway 
segments within the vicinity of the proposed development.   The existing conditions data for the study 
roadway segments were obtained from the FDOT traffic counts and Clay County Transportation Analysis 
Spreadsheet.   
 
Planned and Programmed Roadways: 
The County Capital Improvement Plan (CIP), FDOT Planned and Programmed Improvements and NFTPO 
LRTP will be reviewed to determine any planned and programmed roadways within study roadway 
segments.  The following projects are anticipated to be planned and programmed roadways: 
 

 First Coast Expressway – SR 16 to US 17 
 
Project Traffic Distribution & Assignment: 
Project  traffic  distribution  percentages  on  the  study  roadway  segments  using  the  interim  year  2025 
NERPM_ABv3 travel demand model run.  Attachment B includes copies of the travel demand model plots.  
Table 03  summarizes  the project  traffic distribution and assignment on  the  roadway  segments  in  the 
vicinity of the proposed development.   
 
Future Traffic Volumes: 
The  proposed  development  is  anticipated  to  be  constructed  and  occupied  by  the  end  of  year  2025.  
However, the traffic impact analysis will be performed under the year 2027 conditions.  The future traffic 
volumes on the study roadway segments were estimated by applying a growth rate to the year 2019 and 
2022 traffic volumes.  The growth rate was estimated by performing trends analysis of the study roadway 

Page 138

Item #7.



Methodology Memo 
Green Cove Springs Multi‐family – TIA 

City of Green Cove Springs, FL 

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 05/03/2022 

segments historical AADT.   The historical AADT of the study roadway segments was obtained from the 
FDOT Traffic Counts Online Portal.  Attachment C includes copies of the historical AADT, and the trends 
analysis of the study roadway segments. 

Roadway Segment Analysis: 
The segment analysis of the study area roadway segments will be performed to determine any impacts 
and adverse impacts due to the additional trips from the proposed development.  The roadway segment 
will be considered impacted if the project traffic assignment (new trips) is equal to or greater than 5% of 
its adopted  LOS maximum  service volume  (MSV).   A  study area  roadway  segment will be  considered 
adversely impacted if that roadway segment is impacted (project new trips 5% of its adopted LOS MSV) 
and the total traffic (Existing trips + Reserved Trips + New Project Traffic) exceed 100% of the roadway 
segments adopted LOS MSV.  Table 04 summarizes the roadway segments analysis of the study roadway 
segments.   As  shown  in  this  table, none of  the  study  roadway  segments are anticipated  to be either 
impacted or adversely impacted under the build‐out conditions of the proposed development.    

Access Intersections: 
Based on the discussions with FDOT staff, the project access on US 17 will be a right‐in‐right‐out just north 
of CR 209  intersection and a full access roadway connection on CR 209 South  just east of US 17.     The 
above‐mentioned access locations are shown in previously mentioned site plan.  FDOT staff require the 
access evaluation to determine the following: 

 The need for a northbound right turn lane on US 17 at the proposed project access driveway

 Adequacy of the existing southbound left turn lane on US 17 at CR 209 South intersection

Intersection Capacity Analysis: 
Since  the  project  traffic  is  not  anticipated  to  be  equal  or  greater  than  the  study  roadway  segments’  
adopted   LOS   maximum   service   volume   (MSV),   intersection   analysis   other   than   the   above  
stated intersections is not anticipated to be required.   

TIA Report:  
A report summarizing the above tasks and the outcome of the analysis will be prepared for submittal to 
FDOT and the City of Green Cove Springs.   

If you have any questions or comments, please give me a call at (904) 422 6923. 

Sincerely, 
Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 

Rajesh K. Chindalur, P.E., PTOE 
8833 Perimeter Park Boulevard, Suite 103, Jacksonville, FL 32216 
(904) 619‐3368 | Chindalur@ctrafficsolutions.com

cc:   Mr. John Cattano (cattanoj@aol.com) 
Ms. Ellen Avery Smith (eaverysmith@rtlaw.com) 

Page 139

Item #7.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Attachment C 

Planned and Programmed 
Improvements   

Page 140

Item #7.



Attachment C

Planned and Programmed Improvements in Clay County, Florida

Green Cove Springs Multi‐family TIA

Project Description Project Limits Length No. Of Lanes Description Budeget Start Date End Date

Middleburg, CR 218 Cosmos Ave to Pine Tree Lane 2.7 4 Widen from 2 to 4 Lanes 21,116,633.00$           Summer 2022 Fall 2024

Lake Asbury CR 209 (Russell Rd) CR 315B to US 17 and from CR 315 to South of Peter's Creek 1.1 4 Widen from 2 to 4 Lanes 11,318,996.00$           Summer 2022 Summer 2024

Lake Asbury CR 209 (Russell Rd), Sandridge Road to Peter's Creek Bridge 3.1 3 Widen from 2 to 3 Lanes 20,600,481.00$           Summer 2023 Fall 2024

Lake Asbury CR739B (Sandridge) Henley Road to CR 209 (Russell) 2.8 3 Widen from 2 to 3 Lanes 18,933,785.00$           Spring 2023 Fall 2024

Middleburg, CR 220 Baxley Road to West of Henley Road 1.2 4 Widen from 2 to 4 Lanes 11,101,379.00$           Summer 2022 Fall 2024

Green Cove Springs / Lake Asbury (First Coast Connector) Maryland Avenue to US 17 1.2 4 Widen from 2 to 4 Lanes 9,604,889.00$             Fall 2022 Summer 2024

Green Cove Springs (First Coast Connector) SR 23 to CR 315/Maryland Ave Intersection 3.3 2 New 2 Lane Roadway 38,553,380.00$           Fall 2022 Summer 2024

131,229,543.00$        

Source: https://www.claycountygov.com/government/bonded‐transportation‐program

Construction

Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. 05/10/2022
Page 141

Item #7.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council  MEETING DATE: June 21, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Request for rezoning of parcel 017172-000-01 consisting of .63 acres located  

on Roberts St, north of Green Cove Avenue from R-2 to Planned Unit 

Development. 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Janis Fleet, Fleet and 

Associates 
OWNER: Wiggins Investments of NF 

Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Roberts St, between Green Cove Avenue to the south and Melrose 

Avenue to the north 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017172-000-01 

FILE NUMBER: PUD-22-004 

CURRENT ZONING:  R-2 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING EXISTING LAND USE 

NORTH: Single Family Residential (R-

2) 
SOUTH: Single Family Residential (R-2)  

EAST: Vacant (Industrial-City 

Owned) 
WEST: Single Family Residential (R-2) 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant Janis Fleet of Fleet & Associates Architects/Planners, Inc., (“Applicant”) submitted an 

application on behalf of Wiggins Investments of North Florida, Inc., (“Owner”) requesting to rezone the 

subject parcel from R-2 to Planned Unit Development (PUD).  The property is undeveloped and sparsely 

wooded. 

 

The intention of the proposed PUD application is to allow for 7 multi-family dwelling units to be 

constructed on .63 acres. The conceptual plan includes on-site retention, open space, and parking. The 

PUD written description does not require garages, and 17 parking spaces with no garages.  The parking 

spaces would be located adjacent to Roberts Street. 

Page 142

Item #8.



 

 

The proposed density of the PUD is approximately 11 units per acre. The surrounding properties are 

developed or developable only as single-family residences, meaning at full development, all properties 

have a density of 4 units per acre.  The one exception is four-unit residential unit at the corner of Green 

Cove Avenue and Roberts which sits on .52 acres which is a converted single-family home.  The property 

to the east of the subject property is owned by the City which was purchased through a grant with the 

Florida Communities Grant to enhance environmental protection and resource based recreational 

activities.  The city is restricted from developing the land for any other purpose.   

 

The Future Land Use – Neighborhood – permits up to 12 units per acre. Per Comprehensive Plan Policy 

1.1.2, the City’s zoning map is intended to further implement and refine the densities permitted within 

each property. The R-2 Zoning District limits development to single family detached dwelling as a 

permitted use.  Special Exceptions are allowed for 2 to 4 attached units based on lot size and width. 

 

To further ensure sustainability of the building pattern, Policy 1.3.2 calls for the following principles to 

be considered:  

(1) increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt transitions; 

(2) high density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses; and  

(3) spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a small parcel 

of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for the benefit of the owner of 

such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

The application was denied on a 5-0 vote by the Planning and Zoning Commission on April 26, 2022 and 

the case was deferred by the applicant’s request on May 17, 2022.   

 

Page 143

Item #8.



 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by 

the City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

 

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following rezoning requests: 

Application # Description 

PUD-22-002 Roberts South PUD Rezoning Application  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 144

Item #8.



 

 

 

Environmental Conditions Analysis 
Soils 

 Sapelo Fine Sand which is a poorly drained soil 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Flood Zones 

This property is not located within a floodzone. 

 
 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

Page 145

Item #8.



 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Multifamily Residential  7 6.65 47 .5 4 .62 4 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 7 multifamily dwelling units would be a de-minimis impact 

on the roadway network.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        2,782 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,814,218 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 

Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 2,226 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -62,226 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to 

handle the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the 

Rookery Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project and as a 

result, an additional Wastewater facility shall be constructed to serve the Rookery and thereby providing 

additional wastewater capacity.  As a result, there is adequate capacity.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 148 lbs. / 27 tons 

Page 146

Item #8.



Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day) x 365 
 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum 

of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For 

commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must 

instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
Public School Facilities Impact 

Land Use 
Units 

Elem. Middle High 

 Rate1 Total Rate1 Total Rate1 Total 

Proposed 

Multifamily 
Units 
 

7 0..0314 1 0.0095 1 0.0197 1 

Net 
Generation 

- - 1 - 1 - 1 

1. Source: School District of Clay County, Educational Facilities Plan, FY 2018/19-2022/23, based on multifamily 
 

Conclusion: The School District of Clay County will make a school capacity determination at the time of 

Final Site Development Plan.  It is not anticipated that the estimated number of students generated by the 

proposed PUD rezoning will exceed the adopted LOS standards see attached.   

 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites to 

higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered: 

 

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each other 

provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use. 

 

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt 

transitions. 

 

c.  High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses.   

  

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a 

Page 147

Item #8.



small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for 

the benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

Policy 1.3.4. The City shall require all new development and redevelopment projects to 

integrate harmoniously into established neighborhoods through the use of buffering, open 

space, landscaping, and other site design tools  

 

The proposed application is not consistent with these Comprehensive Plan policies set forth above.  

From both a density and design standpoint the proposed application is not compatible with the low- 

density residential character of the surrounding area.     

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending denial of this request because the application is not in compliance with the 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element Policy 1.3.2 and Policy 1.3.4.  

 

                                                     RECOMMENDED MOTION 

 

Motion to deny ordinance O-14-2022, to amend the Zoning from R-2 to PUD for .63 acres of property 

located on Roberts Road north of Green Cove Avenue, parcel #-017172-000-01) based on the factual 

support that the proposed application is not in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use 

Policies 1.3.2 and 1.3.4.   

 

 

Page 148

Item #8.



ZONING 

 

Subject 

Property 

R-2 to PUD 

Page 149

Item #8.



Page 150

Item #8.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 2.74 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site includes 2 irregular shaped parcels with frontage on Roberts Street, almost 
connected at the west end of the properties .   The parcels are vacant.  The parcel 
is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation of 
Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  Without a PUD 
on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit its development 
potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with conventional 
apartments and townhomes. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 32 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be from two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained 
under common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing with a variety of housing type options to residents of Green Cove Springs 
and will increase the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

Page 151

Item #8.



III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 

A. Lot Requirements 
 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 10 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -10 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
b. No attached garages. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 
b. Sidewalks provided on one side of the paved drive within the 

development. 
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 152

Item #8.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space and a playground area will be 

developed to serve the residents of the development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 153

Item #8.



� �

�

PUD�Rezoning�Application� �
A.�PROJECT� �

1.� Project�Name:�_________________________________________________________________________�
�
2.� Address�of�Subject�Property:______________________________________________________________�
�
3.� Parcel�ID�Number(s):�____________________________________________________________________�

�
4.� Existing�Use�of�Property:�_________________________________________________________________�
�
5.� Future�Land�Use�Map�Designation�:�________________________________________________________�

�
6.� Existing�Zoning�Designation:�______________________________________________________________�
�
7.� Proposed�Zoning�Designation:�____________________________________________________________�

�

8.� Acreage:�_____________________________________________________________________________�
�
B.�APPLICANT� �

1.� Applicant’s�Status� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Owner�(title�holder)� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � Agent�
�

2.� Name�of�Applicant(s)�or�Contact�Person(s):________________________________�Title:______________�
�

Company�(if�applicable):__________________________________________________________________�
�
Mailing�address:________________________________________________________________________�

�
City:�_________________________�State:___________________________�ZIP:____________________�
�

Telephone:�(� � � )_________________�FAX:�(� � � )_______________�e-mail:_________________________� �

�

3.� If�the�applicant�is�agent�for�the�property�owner*�

Name�of�Owner�(titleholder):):_____________________________________________________________�
�
Mailing�address:________________________________________________________________________�

�
City:�_________________________�State:___________________________�ZIP:____________________�
�

Telephone:�(� � � )_________________�FAX:�(� � � )_______________�e-mail:_________________________�
�

*�Must�provide�executed�Property�Owner�Affidavit�authorizing�the�agent�to�act�on�behalf�of�the�property�owner.� �

C.�ADDITIONAL�INFORMATION� �

1.�Is�there�any�additional�contact�for�sale�of,�or�options�to�purchase,�the�subject�property?� �

Yes� No�If�yes,�list�names�of�all�parties�involved:� �

If�yes,�is�the�contract/option�contingent�or�absolute?� �
Contingent� � Absolute� �

� �

�
� FOR�OFFICE�USE�ONLY

P�Z�File�#� � ____________� � �

Application�Fee:� � � � �

Filing�Date:� � � � Acceptance�Date:�� �

Review�Date:� � SRDT_______�P�&�Z�_______�CC�__________ � �

Roberts�Street��-�North�PUD

�Roberts�Street

�38-06-26-017172-000-01

Vacant

Neighborhood

R-2

PUD

0.63�acres

Janis�Fleet President

Fleet�&�Associates�Architects/Planners,�Inc.

11557�Hidden�Harbor�Way

Jacksonville Florida 32223

�����904�214-7999����������������� ������904�214-9040�������������� jfleet@fleetarchitectsplanners.net

Wiggins�Investments�of�North�Florida�Inc

91�Branscomb�Rd
Green�Cove�Springs

�����904�214-7999�����������������

Florida� 32043

������904�214-9040�������������� joe@wigginslaw.net�

Page 154

Item #8.



Page 155

Item #8.



STATEMENT OF PROPOSED CHANGE 

 

The Roberts Street – North PUD will allow the property to be developed for a multi-family 
development with 7 dwelling units.  The development will provide variety of housing types 
on the site.  The dwelling units will provide affordable rental housing for residents of Green 
Cove Springs.   

The site is in the recently adopted Neighborhood Future Land Use Map (FLUM) category. 
The Neighborhood FLUM category allows up to 12 dwelling units per acre. The proposed 
PUD is incompliance with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  The PUD will allow for 7 
multi-family dwelling units to be developed on 0.63 acres.   

The proposed PUD allows a creative approach to the development of land that would not 
be allowed in the conventional R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  It will accomplish a more 
desirable environment than would be possible through the strict application of the 
minimum requirements of the R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  The PUD provides for 7 
dwelling units with the required by an efficient use of land.  The dwelling units will each 
be two-bedroom units in one apartment building. It will enhance the appearance of the 
neighborhood by developing vacant property with a multi-family development, providing 
affordable housing needed for residents of Green Cove Springs.  The proposed 
development will be compatible with the residential character of this area of Green Cove 
Springs, which is has a variety of housing types, including multi-family west of the 
property.  The development will improve the property values in the Roberts Street/Melrose 
area of Green Cove Springs. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 156

Item #8.



Page 157

Item #8.



AERIAL 

 

Subject 

Property 

Page 158

Item #8.



Page 159

Item #8.



Page 160

Item #8.



Page 161

Item #8.



Page 162

Item #8.



Page 163

Item #8.



Page 164

Item #8.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET  - North PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 0.63 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site includes an irregular shaped parcel with frontage on Roberts Street.   The 
parcel is vacant.  The parcel is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
designation of Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  
Without a PUD on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit 
its development potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with  
an apartment building for 7 two-bedroom units. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 7 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be a two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained under 
common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing option to residents of Green Cove Springs.  The development will increase 
the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

 

Page 165

Item #8.



 
III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 

 
A. Lot Requirements 

 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 15 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -10 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
b. No attached garages. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 

b. Sidewalks from Roberts Street to the apartment building.  
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 166

Item #8.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space to serve the residents of the 

development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 167

Item #8.



Page 168

Item #8.



Page 169

Item #8.



ORDINANCE NO. O-14-2022 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE 

SPRINGS, FLORIDA REZONING ±0.63 ACRES OF PROPERTY 

LOCATED ON ROBERTS STREET, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID 

NUMBER 017172-000-01, MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED 

BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM R-2, MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL, 

TO PUD, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT KNOWN AS 

ROBERTS STREET – NORTH PUD; PROVIDING FOR 

REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN EFFECTIVE 

DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from R-2 Medium 

Density Residential to PUD, Planned Unit Development and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory powers 

to rezone properties within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

April 26, 2022 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA), 

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on May 17, 2022 and June 7, 2022 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from R-2 Medium Density Residential) to Planned Unit Development (PUD). 

 

Tax Parcel ID# 38-06-26-017172-000-01, in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit 

“A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

Page 170

Item #8.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 
 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 17TH DAY OF MAY 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

Page 171

Item #8.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 
 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172

Item #8.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA  

TO:  City Council MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Michael Daniels, Planning and Zoning Director 

SUBJECT: Request for rezoning of parcel 017172-000-00 consisting of 2.11 acres located  

on Roberts St, north of Green Cove Avenue from R-2 to Planned Unit 

Development. 
 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

APPLICANT: Janis Fleet, Fleet and 

Associates 
OWNER: Wiggins Investments of NF 

Inc. 

PROPERTY LOCATION: Roberts St, between Green Cove Avenue to the south and 

Melrose Avenue to the north 

PARCEL NUMBER: 017172-000-00 

FILE NUMBER: PUD-22-002 

CURRENT ZONING:  R-2 

FUTURE LAND USE DESIGNATION: Neighborhood 

SURROUNDING EXISTING LAND USE 

NORTH: Single Family Residential  

(R-2) 

SOUTH: Single Family Residential (R-2)  

EAST: Undeveloped (Industrial-City 

Owned) 
WEST: Single Family Residential (R-2) 

BACKGROUND 

The applicant Janis Fleet of Fleet & Associates Architects/Planners, Inc., (“Applicant”) submitted an 

application on behalf of Wiggins Investments of North Florida, Inc., (“Owner”) requesting to rezone the 

subject parcel from R-2 to Planned Unit Development (PUD).  The property has a row of crape myrtle 

trees in the front of the property and scattered hardwood trees on the property.   

 

The intention of the proposed PUD application is to allow for 25 multi-family dwelling units, consisting 

of one 8 unit apartment building, and three townhome buildings consisting of 17 units to be constructed 

Page 173

Item #9.



on 2.11 acres. The conceptual plan includes on-site retention, a water feature, open space, and a 

playground. The PUD written description does not require garages, and 17 parking spaces with no garages.   

 

The proposed density of the PUD is approximately 12 units per acre. The surrounding properties are 

developed or developable only as single-family residences, meaning at full development, all properties 

have a density of 4 units per acre.  The one exception is four-unit residential unit at the corner of Green 

Cove Avenue and Roberts which sits on .52 acres which is a converted single-family home.  The property 

to the east of the subject property is owned by the City which was purchased through a grant with the 

Florida Communities Grant to enhance environmental protection and resource based recreational 

activities.  The city is restricted from developing the land for any other purpose.   

 

The Future Land Use – Neighborhood – permits up to 12 units per acre. Per Comprehensive Plan Policy 

1.1.2, the City’s zoning map is intended to further implement and refine the densities permitted within 

each property. The R-2 Zoning District limits development to single family detached dwelling as a 

permitted use.  Special Exceptions are allowed for 2 to 4 attached units based on lot size and width. 

 

To further ensure sustainability of the building pattern, Policy 1.3.2 calls for the following principles to 

be considered:  

(1) increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt transitions; 

(2) high density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses; and  

(3) spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a small parcel 

of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for the benefit of the owner of 

such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

The Planning and Zoning Commission recommended denial on a 3-2 vote on April 26, 2022.  

 

The applicant requested a deferral from the May 17, 2022 City Council meeting. 

 

Page 174

Item #9.



 

 

The site is located within the City’s Water, Sewer, and Electric Service Boundaries. It will be served by 

the City’s utilities and sanitation services.    

 

Additionally, the applicant has submitted the following rezoning requests: 

Application # Description 

PUD-22-004 Roberts North PUD Rezoning Application  

Page 175

Item #9.



 

 

Page 176

Item #9.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 177

Item #9.



Environmental Conditions Analysis 
Soils 

 Sapelo Fine Sand which is a poorly drained soil 

 

All new development shall be required to meet the stormwater management requirements of the St John’s 

Water Management District.   

 

Wetlands 

There are no wetlands on the property.   

 

Flood Zones 

This property is not located within a floodzone. 

 
 

Wellfield Protection Zone 

The project site is not located within or adjacent to a wellfield protection zone. 

 

Historic Structures and Markers 

There are no historic structures or markers found on the site. 

 

PUBLIC FACILITIES IMPACT  

Traffic Impacts 

Land Use1 Square Footage/Dwelling  
Units 

Daily AM Peak PM Peak 

(ITE) Rate Trips Rate Trips Rate Trips 

 

Multifamily Residential  25 6.65 166 .5 13 .62 15 

        

1. Source: Institute of Transportation Engineers: Trip Generation Manual 9th Edition 

 

Conclusion: The proposed development of 25 multifamily dwelling units would be a de-minimis impact 

on the roadway network.   

 

 

Potable Water Impacts 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 4,200,000 

Less actual Potable Water Flows1 1,013,000 

Residual Capacity1 3,187,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2                        9,938 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project 3,177,063 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 7 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 150 gal per 

person  

 

Page 178

Item #9.



Sanitary Sewer Impacts – South Plant WWTP 

System Category Gallons Per Day (GPD) 

Current Permitted Capacity1 350,000 

Current Loading1 270,000 

Committed Loading 1 330,000 

Projected Potable Water Demand from Proposed Project2 7,950 

Residual Capacity after Proposed Project -67,950 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Public Works Department 
2. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: 25 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per du x 120 gal per 

person 

 
Conclusion: The project site is served by the South Plant Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP).  As shown in the 

table above, when factoring in the current loading and the committed loading, this WWTP is over capacity to 

handle the estimated impacts resulting from the proposed application.  The committed loading is related to the 

Rookery Development which will be completed in two years prior to the commencement of this project and as a 

result, an additional Wastewater facility shall be constructed to serve the Rookery and thereby providing 

additional wastewater capacity.  As a result, there is adequate capacity.   

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

System Category LBs Per Day / Tons per Year 

Solid Waste Generated by Proposed Project1 530 lbs. / 97 tons 

Solid Waste Facility Capacity2 Minimum 3 Years Capacity 
1. Source: City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan. Formula Used: (25 dwelling units x 2.65 persons per dwelling unit x 8 

lbs. per day) x 365 
 

 

Solid Waste Impacts 

The City of Green Cove Springs’ solid waste is disposed of at the Rosemary Hill Solid Waste 

Management Facility operated by Clay County.  Per the Clay County Comprehensive Plan, a minimum 

of three (3) years capacity shall be maintained at the County’s solid waste management facility. For 

commercial developments, the City does not provide Curbside Service; commercial locations must 

instead contract with an approved franchisee for containerized collection. 

 

Conclusion:  The proposed future land use amendment and rezoning are not expected to negatively 

impact the City’s adopted LOS or exceed the County solid waste management facility’s capacity. 

 
Public School Facilities Impact 

Land Use 
Units 

Elem. Middle High 

 Rate1 Total Rate1 Total Rate1 Total 

Proposed 

Multifamily 
Units 
 

25 0.0314 1 0.0095 1 0.0197 1 

Net 
Generation 

- - 1 - 1 - 1 

1. Source: School District of Clay County, Educational Facilities Plan, FY 2018/19-2022/23, based on multifamily 
 

Page 179

Item #9.



Conclusion: The School District of Clay County will make a school capacity determination at the time of 

Final Site Development Plan.  It is not anticipated that the estimated number of students generated by the 

proposed PUD rezoning will exceed the adopted LOS standards see attached.   

 

CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT 

Policy 1.3.2. The City shall establish locational criteria in the LDC for future rezoning of sites to 

higher density and/or intensity districts. The following principles shall be considered: 

 

a. Compatibility means that different land uses can coexist in relative proximity to each other 

provided that a use is not impacted directly or indirectly by another use. 

 

b. Increases in density and intensity must generally occur in a gradual fashion, avoiding abrupt 

transitions. 

 

c.  High density residential uses should generally be located in areas that have adequate vehicular access 

and proximity to service uses.   

  

d. Spot zoning should be avoided. Spot zoning refers to changing the zoning designation of a 

small parcel of land for a designation totally different from that of the surrounding area for 

the benefit of the owner of such property and to the detriment of other owners. 

 

Policy 1.3.4. The City shall require all new development and redevelopment projects to 

integrate harmoniously into established neighborhoods through the use of buffering, open 

space, landscaping, and other site design tools  

 

The proposed application is not consistent with these Comprehensive Plan policies set forth above.  

From both a density and design standpoint the proposed application is not compatible with the low-

density residential character of the surrounding area.     

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff is recommending denial of this request because the application is not in compliance with the 

Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Element Policy 1.3.2 and Policy 1.3.4.  

 

                                                     RECOMMENDED MOTION 

 

Motion to deny ordinance O-15-2022, to amend the Zoning from R-2 to PUD for 2.11 acres of property 

located on Roberts Road north of Green Cove Avenue, parcel #017172-000-00) based on the factual 

Page 180

Item #9.



support that the proposed application is not in compliance with the Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use 

Policies 1.3.2 and 1.3.4.   

 

 

Page 181

Item #9.



ZONING 

 

Subject 

Property 

R-2 to PUD 

Page 182

Item #9.



Page 183

Item #9.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 2.74 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site includes 2 irregular shaped parcels with frontage on Roberts Street, almost 
connected at the west end of the properties .   The parcels are vacant.  The parcel 
is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) designation of 
Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  Without a PUD 
on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit its development 
potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with conventional 
apartments and townhomes. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 32 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be from two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained 
under common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing with a variety of housing type options to residents of Green Cove Springs 
and will increase the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

Page 184

Item #9.



III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 

A. Lot Requirements 
 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 10 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -10 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit 
b. No attached garages. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 
b. Sidewalks provided on one side of the paved drive within the 

development. 
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 185

Item #9.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space and a playground area will be 

developed to serve the residents of the development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 186

Item #9.



  

 

PUD Rezoning Application  
A. PROJECT  

1. Project Name: _________________________________________________________________________ 
 
2. Address of Subject Property:______________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Parcel ID Number(s): ____________________________________________________________________ 

�
4. Existing Use of Property: _________________________________________________________________ 
 
5. Future Land Use Map Designation : ________________________________________________________ 

�
6. Existing Zoning Designation: ______________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Proposed Zoning Designation: ____________________________________________________________ 

�

8. Acreage: _____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
B. APPLICANT  

1. Applicant’s Status                Owner (title holder)                Agent 
 

2. Name of Applicant(s) or Contact Person(s):________________________________ Title:______________ 
 

Company (if applicable):__________________________________________________________________ 
�
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________  

 

3. If the applicant is agent for the property owner* 

Name of Owner (titleholder):):_____________________________________________________________ 
�
Mailing address:________________________________________________________________________ 

 
City: _________________________ State:___________________________ ZIP:____________________ 
 

Telephone: (   )_________________ FAX: (   )_______________ e-mail:_________________________ 
 

* Must provide executed Property Owner Affidavit authorizing the agent to act on behalf of the property owner.  

C. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

1. Is there any additional contact for sale of, or options to purchase, the subject property?  

Yes No If yes, list names of all parties involved:  

If yes, is the contract/option contingent or absolute?  
Contingent  Absolute  

�  

 
 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

P Z File #  ____________   

Application Fee:     

Filing Date:    Acceptance Date:   

Review Date:  SRDT_______ P & Z _______ CC __________   

Roberts Street - South PUD

 Roberts Street

 38-06-26-017172-000-00 

Vacant

Neighborhood

R-2

PUD

2.11 acres

Janis Fleet President

Fleet & Associates Architects/Planners, Inc.

11557 Hidden Harbor Way

Jacksonville Florida 32223

     904 214-7999                       904 214-9040              jfleet@fleetarchitectsplanners.net

Wiggins Investments of North Florida Inc

91 Branscomb Rd
Green Cove Springs

     904 214-7999                 

Florida 32043

      904 214-9040              joe@wigginslaw.net 

Page 187

Item #9.



Page 188

Item #9.



STATEMENT OF PROPOSED CHANGE 

 

The Roberts Street – South PUD will allow the property to be developed for a multi-family 

development with 25 dwelling units.  The development will provide variety of housing 

types on the site.  The dwelling units will provide affordable rental housing for residents 

of Green Cove Springs.   

The site is in the recently adopted Neighborhood Future Land Use Map (FLUM) category. 

The Neighborhood FLUM category allows up to 12 dwelling units per acre. The proposed 

PUD is incompliance with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  The PUD will allow for 25 

multi-family dwelling units to be developed on 2.11 acres.   

The proposed PUD allows a creative approach to the development of land that would not 

be allowed in the conventional R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  It will accomplish a more 

desirable environment than would be possible through the strict application of the 

minimum requirements of the R-2 or R-3 zoning category.  The PUD provides for 25 

dwelling units with the required by an efficient use of land.  The property will be developed 

with 17 townhouses with a 1 car garage and 8 one-bedroom units in an apartment 

building. It will enhance the appearance of the neighborhood by developing vacant 

property with a multi-family development, providing affordable housing options needed 

for residents of Green Cove Springs.  The proposed development will be compatible with 

the residential character of this area of Green Cove Springs, which is has a variety of 

housing types, including multi-family west of the property.  The development will improve 

the property values in the Roberts Street/Melrose area of Green Cove Springs. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 189

Item #9.



ZONING 

 

Subject 

Property 

R-2 to PUD 

Page 190

Item #9.



AERIAL 

 

Subject 

Property 

Page 191

Item #9.



PLAT MAP 

Subject 

Property 

Page 192

Item #9.



Page 193

Item #9.



Page 194

Item #9.



Page 195

Item #9.



Page 196

Item #9.



Page 197

Item #9.



PUD Written Description 

 
ROBERT STREET PUD 

 
I.   PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 
Roberts Street PUD is a 2.11 acre development located on Roberts Street, north 
of Green Cove Avenue in the Roberts Roads/Melrose Avenue are of the City.  The 
site is an irregular shaped parcel with frontage on Roberts Street.   The parcel is 
vacant.  The parcel is zoned R-2 and has a Future Land Use Map (FLUM) 
designation of Neighborhood, which allows for up to 12 dwelling units per acre.  
Without a PUD on the property, with the irregular shape of the property would limit 
its development potential.  The PUD allows for flexibility in the housing types, with 
apartments and townhomes. 
  
The PUD will allow for the development of 25 dwelling units.  Access to the property 
will be from two driveways from Roberts Street.  The parcel will be maintained 
under common ownership with rental dwelling units. 
 
The project will develop a vacant property into a residential development at a 
density consistent with the Neighborhood FLUM category.  It will provide affordable 
housing with a variety of housing type options to residents of Green Cove Springs 
The development will increase the property values in the area.  
 

II.   USES AND RESTRICTIONS 
 

A. Permitted Uses 
 
1. Multiple-family residential structures, including apartments, 

townhouses, cooperatives, and condominiums, without an attached 
garage, having no commercial businesses connected therewith. 

2. Customary accessory buildings and structures provided they are in the 
rear yard and are not located in the setback area.  The accessory 
buildings and structures shall not exceed 20 feet in height. 

3. Temporary buildings used for construction purposes, for a period not 
exceeding the duration of the building permit. 

 
B. Uses by Special Exception 

 
1. Home Occupations 
 

C. Restrictions on Uses 
 
1. None 

 

Page 198

Item #9.



III. DESIGN GUIDELINES 
 

A. Lot Requirements 
 
1. Minimum lot area – 10,000 square feet 

 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 feet 

 
3. Maximum lot coverage of buildings – 35% 

 
4. Minimum front yard - 20 feet 

 
5. Minimum side yard - 15 feet 

 
6. Minimum rear yard -20 feet 
 
7. Maximum height of structures – 35 feet 

 
B. Ingress, Egress and Circulation 

 
1. Parking Requirements  

 
a. 2 spaces per dwelling unit. 
b. No attached garages for the apartment for the apartment building. 

 
2. Vehicular Access 

 
a. A 24 ft. common paved drive of asphalt or concrete from Roberts 

Street 
 
3. Pedestrian Access  

 
a. Existing sidewalk on Roberts Street 
b. Sidewalks provided on one side of the paved drive within the 

development. 
 

C. Signs 
 
1. No signs will be located on the property. 

 
D. Landscaping, Tree Mitigation, and Buffers 

 
1. Landscaping per Section 113-244 of the Land Development Regulations. 

  

Page 199

Item #9.



 
E. Recreation and Open Space 

 
1. The lot will be sodded to create open space and a playground area will be 

developed to serve the residents of the development.  
 

F. Utilities 
 
1. Water will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
2. Sanitary sewer will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 
 
3. Electric will be provided by the City of Green Cove Springs 

 
G. Wetlands 

1. There are no wetlands on the property.  
 

 
 

Page 200

Item #9.



Page 201

Item #9.



Page 202

Item #9.



ORDINANCE NO. O-15-2022 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA REZONING ±2.11 ACRES OF PROPERTY LOCATED ON 

ROBERTS STREET, IDENTIFIED AS TAX ID NUMBER 017172-000-00, 

MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY EXHIBIT “A”, FROM R-2, 

MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL, TO PUD, PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT KNOWN AS ROBERTS STREET – SOUTH PUD; 

PROVIDING FOR REPEALER, SEVERABILITY AND SETTING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

WHEREAS, the City has received a request to rezone the subject parcel from R-2 Medium 

Density Residential to PUD, Planned Unit Development and 

 

WHEREAS, the City has the authority pursuant to its home rule and other statutory powers 

to rezone properties within the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, a duly advertised public hearing was conducted on the proposed rezoning on 

April 26, 2022 by the Planning and Zoning Board, sitting as the Local Planning Agency (LPA), 

and the LPA reviewed and considered comments received during the public hearing concerning 

the application and made its recommendation for approval to the City Council; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council considered the recommendations of the LPA at a duly 

advertised public hearing on May 17, 2022 and June 7, 2022 and provided for and received public 

participation; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined and found said application for the 

amendment, to be consistent with the City of Green Cove Springs Comprehensive Plan and Land 

Development Regulations; and, 

 

WHEREAS, for reasons set forth in this Ordinance that is hereby adopted and incorporated 

as findings of fact, that the Green Cove Springs City Council finds and declares that the enactment 

of this amendment is in the furtherance of the public health, safety, morals, order, comfort, 

convenience, appearance, prosperity, or general welfare. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA AS FOLLOWS: 

 

Section 1. Zoning Map Amended. The Zoning Map is hereby amended for the 

following property from R-2 Medium Density Residential) to Planned Unit Development (PUD). 

 

Tax Parcel ID# 38-06-26-017172-000-00, in accordance with the legal description found in Exhibit 

“A” and map found in Exhibit “B” attached hereto. 

 

 Section 2. Ordinance to be Construed Liberally.  This ordinance shall be liberally 

construed in order to effectively carry out the purposes hereof which are deemed to be in the best 

Page 203

Item #9.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

interest of the public health, safety and welfare of the citizens and residents of Green Cove Springs, 

Florida. 

 

 Section 3. Repealing Clause.  All ordinance or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith 

are, to the extent of the conflict, hereby repealed. 

 

 Section 4. Severability.  It is the declared intent of the City Council of the City of 

Green Cove Springs that, if any section, sentence, clause, phrase, or provision of this ordinance is 

for any reason held or declared to be unconstitutional, void, or inoperative by any court or agency 

of competent jurisdiction, such holding of invalidity or unconstitutionality shall not affect the 

remaining provisions of this ordinance, and the remainder of the ordinance after the exclusions of 

such part or parts shall be deemed to be valid. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective upon passage. 
 

 INTRODUCED AND APPROVED AS TO FORM ONLY ON THE FIRST 

READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, 

FLORIDA, ON THIS 17TH DAY OF MAY 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

PASSED ON SECOND AND FINAL READING BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA, THIS 7TH DAY OF JUNE 2022. 
 

      CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 
 

 

 

              

Page 204

Item #9.



Ordinance O-13-2022 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 

      Matthew Johnson, Mayor 
 

ATTEST: 
 

 

 

       

Erin West, City Clerk 
 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 

 

 

       

L. J. Arnold, III, City Attorney 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205

Item #9.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Assistant Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of the 2021 water quality Consumer Confidence Report and 

authorization to include in all customer bills for a single cycle in June / July.  
 

BACKGROUND 

The Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) requires utilities to provide to customers 

an annual report of the quality of their drinking water.  This activity is to comply with the requirement.  

FISCAL IMPACT 

Approximately $500.00 in mailing costs.  

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the 2021 water quality Consumer Confidence Report and authorize distribution in all customer 

bills for a single cycle in June / July. 
 

Page 206

Item #10.



 
 

The City of Green Cove Springs is pleased to present to you this year's Annual Water Quality Report.  The City wants to 

keep you informed about the excellent water and services we have delivered to you over the past year.  The City’s goal is 

and always has been, to provide you with a safe and dependable supply of drinking water.  We want you to understand the 

efforts we make to continually improve the water treatment process and protect our water resources.  We are committed 

to ensuring the quality of your water.  The City’s water comes from five (5) wells that receive water from the Floridan 

Aquifer.  The Floridan Aquifer is the primary source of water for the majority of Florida’s water systems.  We aerate and 

chlorinate this water before distribution to consumers. 

 

In 2020 the Florida Department of Environmental Protection performed a Source Water Assessment on our system.  The 

assessment was conducted to provide information about any potential sources of contamination in the vicinity of our 

wells.  There are nine potential sources of contamination identified for this system with a low susceptibility level, and one 

potential source of contamination identified for this system with a moderate susceptibility level.  The assessment results 

are available on the FDEP Source Water Assessment and Protection Program website at www.dep.state.fl.us/swapp or 

they can be obtained from Jesse Ryan, Lead Operator. 

  

If you have any questions about this report or concerning your water utility, please contact Jesse Ryan, Lead Operator, 

City of Green Cove Springs Water/Wastewater Department, between 7:30 a.m. and 3:30 p.m., Monday through Friday, 

phone (904) 297-7056 or Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director at (904) 297-7060.  The City of Green Cove Springs 

wants our customers to be informed about their water utility.  If you want to learn more, please attend any of our 

regularly scheduled council meetings. They are held on the first and third Tuesday of each month at 7:00 p.m., 321 

Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, Florida.  You can call the Green Cove Springs City Hall at (904) 297-7500 to voice 

your concerns, comments and/or opinions and request to be placed on the agenda for the regularly scheduled meeting. 

 

The City of Green Cove Springs routinely monitors for contaminants in your drinking water according to Federal and 

State laws, rules, and regulations.  Except where indicated otherwise, this report is based on the results of our monitoring 

for the period of January 1 to December 31, 2021.  Data obtained before January 1, 2021 and presented in this report are 

from the most recent testing done in accordance with the laws, rules, and regulations. 

 

In the table below, you may find unfamiliar terms and abbreviations.  To help you better understand these terms we have 

provided the following definitions: 

 

Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL): The highest level of a contaminant that is allowed in drinking water.  MCLs are 

set as close to the MCLGs as feasible using the best available treatment technology. 

 

Maximum Contaminant Level Goal (MCLG): The level of a contaminant in drinking water below which there is no 

known or expected risk to health.  MCLGs allow for a margin of safety. 

 

Action Level (AL):  The concentration of a contaminant which, if exceeded, triggers treatment or other requirements that 

a water system must follow. 

 

Maximum Residual Disinfectant Level (MRDL):  The highest level of a disinfectant allowed in drinking water.  There is 

convincing evidence that addition of a disinfectant is necessary for control of microbial contaminants. 

 

Maximum Residual Disinfectant Level Goal (MRDLG):  The level of a drinking water disinfectant below which there is 

no known or expected risk to health.  MRDLGs do not reflect the benefits of the use of disinfectants to control microbial 

contaminants. 

 

Parts per million (ppm) or Milligrams per liter (mg/l) – one part by weight of analyte to 1 million parts by weight of the 

water sample. 

 

Parts per billion (ppb) or Micrograms per liter (µg/l) – one part by weight of analyte to 1 billion parts by weight of the 

water sample. 

 

 

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS 

2021 Annual Drinking Water Quality Report 
 

Page 207

Item #10.

http://www.dep.state.fl.us/swapp


 2 

Inorganic Contaminants 

Contaminant and  

Unit of Measurement 

Dates of 

sampling 

(mo./yr.) 

MCL 

Violation 

Y/N 

Level 

Detected 

Range of 

Results 
MCLG MCL Likely Source of Contamination 

Barium (ppm) 09 / 2020 N 0.016 0.012 - 0.016 2 2 
Discharge of drilling wastes; discharge from 

metal refineries; erosion of natural deposits 

Sodium (ppm) 09 / 2020 N 12.0 7.6 – 12.0 N/A 160 Salt water intrusion, leaching from soil 

 

 

Stage 1 Disinfectants 

Disinfectant and  

Unit of Measurement 

Dates of sampling 

(mo./yr.) 

MCL Violation 

Y/N 

Level 

Detected 

Range of 

Results 
MRDLG MRDL 

Likely Source of 

Contamination 

Chlorine (ppm) Monthly 2021 N 1.49 1.29 - 1.83 4 4.0 
Water additive used to 

control microbes 

 

 

Stage 2 Disinfection By-Products 

Contaminant and  

Unit of Measurement 

Dates of sampling 

(mo/yr) 

MCL Violation 

(Y/N) 

Level 

Detected 

Range of 

Results 
MCLG MCL 

Likely Source of 

Contamination 

Haloacetic Acids [HAA5] 

(ppb) 
07 / 2021 N 0.89 N/A N/A 60 

By-product of drinking 

water disinfection 

Total Trihalomethanes 

[TTHM] (ppb) 
07 / 2021 N 12.77 N/A N/A 80 

By-product of drinking 

water disinfection 

 

Radioactive Contanimants 

Contaminant and  

Unit of Measurement 

Dates of sampling 

(mo/yr) 

MCL Violation 

(Y/N) 

Level 

Detected 

Range of 

Results 
MCLG MCL 

Likely Source of 

Contamination 

Radium 226 (pCi/L) 04/2017 N 0.7 N/A N/A 5 
Erosion of natural 

deposits 

 

 

Lead and Copper (Tap Water) 

Contaminant and  

Unit of Measurement 

Dates of 

sampling 

(mo./yr.) 

AL Violation 

Y/N 

90th 

Percentile 

Result 

No. of sampling 

sites exceeding 

the AL 

MCLG 

AL 

(Action 

Level) 

Likely Source of Contamination 

Copper (tap water) 

(ppm) 
08/2019 N 0.033 0 of 23 1.3 1.3 

Corrosion of household plumbing 

systems; erosion of natural deposits; 

leaching from wood preservatives 

Lead (tap water)  

(ppb) 
08/2019 N 1.5 0 of 23 0 15 

Corrosion of household plumbing 

systems, erosion of natural deposits 

 

If present, elevated levels of lead can cause serious health problems, especially for pregnant women and young children.  

Lead in drinking water is primarily from materials and components associated with service lines and home plumbing.  

City of Green Cove Springs Water System is responsible for providing high quality drinking water, but cannot control the 

variety of materials used in plumbing components.  When your water has been sitting for several hours, you can minimize 

the potential for lead exposure by flushing your tap for 30 seconds to 2 minutes before using water for drinking or 

cooking.  If you are concerned about lead in your water, you may wish to have your water tested.  Information on lead in 

drinking water, testing methods, and steps you can take to minimize exposure is available from the Safe Drinking Water 

Hotline or at http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead. Page 208

Item #10.

http://www.epa.gov/safewater/lead


 3 

The sources of drinking water (both tap water and bottled water) include rivers, lakes, streams, ponds, reservoirs, 

springs, and wells.  As water travels over the surface of the land or through the ground, it dissolves naturally occurring 

minerals and, in some cases, radioactive material, and can pick up substances resulting from the presence of animals or 

from human activity. 

 

Contaminants that may be present in source water include: 

 

(A) Microbial contaminants, such as viruses and bacteria, which may come from sewage treatment plants, septic 

systems, agricultural livestock operations, and wildlife. 

(B) Inorganic contaminants, such as salts and metals, which can be naturally-occurring or result from urban 

stormwater runoff, industrial or domestic wastewater discharges, oil and gas production, mining, or farming. 

(C) Pesticides and herbicides, which may come from a variety of sources such as agriculture, urban stormwater 

runoff, and residential uses. 

(D) Organic chemical contaminants, including synthetic and volatile organic chemicals, which are by-products of 

industrial processes and petroleum production, and can also come from gas stations, urban stormwater runoff, 

and septic systems. 

(E) Radioactive contaminants, which can be naturally occurring or be the result of oil and gas production and mining 

activities. 

 

In order to ensure that tap water is safe to drink, the EPA prescribes regulations, which limit the amount of certain 

contaminants in water provided by public water systems.  The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations establish 

limits for contaminants in bottled water, which must provide the same protection for public health. 

 

Drinking water, including bottled water, may reasonably be expected to contain at least small amounts of some 

contaminants.  The presence of contaminants does not necessarily indicate that the water poses a health risk.  More 

information about contaminants and potential health effects can be obtained by calling the Environmental Protection 

Agency’s Safe Drinking Water Hotline at 1-800-426-4791. 

 

Some people may be more vulnerable to contaminants in drinking water than the general population. Immuno-

compromised persons such as persons with cancer undergoing chemotherapy, persons who have undergone organ 

transplants, people with HIV/AIDS or other immune system disorders, some elderly, and infants can be particularly at 

risk from infections. These people should seek advice about drinking water from their health care providers. EPA/CDC 

guidelines on appropriate means to lessen the risk of infection by Cryptosporidium and other microbiological 

contaminants are available from the Safe Drinking Water Hotline (800-426-4791). 

 

We at the City of Green Cove Springs, work to provide top quality water to every tap.  We ask that all of our customers 

help us protect our water sources, which are vital to our community’s health and welfare.  If you see any suspicious or 

unusual activity concerning the water system, please report it to the Green Cove Springs Police Department at (904) 297-

7300. 

Page 209

Item #10.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: March 15, 2022 

FROM: Mike Null 

SUBJECT: Approval of Pay Application # 11 in the amount of $26,870.75 to Terry’s Electric for 

Chapman Substation Construction Improvements, leaving a balance of $49,145.26 in 

contract number LC 2020-17 in the total revised amount of $982,905.17. Andy Yeager 
 

BACKGROUND 

At the December 8, 2020 City Council meeting, Council awarded ITB LC 2020-17 to perform 

construction work at the Chapman Substation to Terry’s Electric in the amount of $879,086.00. 

At the March 16, 2021 Council meeting, Council approved Pay Application #1 in the amount of 

$227,171.99 for payment. 

At the April 6, 2021 Council meeting, Council approved Pay Application #2 in the amount of 

$83,855.41 for payment. 

At the April 20, 2021 Council meeting, Council approved Pay Application #3 in the amount of 

$39,600.00 for payment. 

At the May 18, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #4 in the amount of 

$106,594.30 for payment. 

At the July 6, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #5 in the amount of 

$122,787.50 for payment. 

At the August 3, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #6 in the amount of 

$114,950.00 for payment. 

At the September 21, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Change Order #1 increasing the contract 

amount by $75,534.17 to $954,620.17. 

At the October 5, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #7 in the amount of 

$166,139.96 for payment. 

At the November 16, 2021 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Application #8 in the amount of 

$12,017.50 for payment. 

At the March 15, 2022 Council Meeting, Council approved Pay Applications # 9 and #10 in the amounts 

of $29,421.50 and $4,351.00 respectively. 

At the April 5, 2022 Council Meeting, Council approved Change Order #2 in the additive amount of 

$28,285.00, increasing the contract amount to $982,905.17. 

Page 210

Item #11.



Terry’s Electric has submitted Pay Application # 11 in the amount of $26,870.75 for payment.  The 

City’s Engineer, Patterson & Dewar, as well as city staff have reviewed the pay applications and find 

them to be complete and recommend approval for payment. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

The funds for the construction project in the amount of $954,620.17 are in the Electric Department’s FY 

2022 capital project fund. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Pay Application # 11 in the amount of $26,870.75 to Terry’s Electric for Chapman Substation 

Construction Improvements, leaving a balance of $49,145.26 in contract number LC 2020-17 in the total 

revised amount of $982,905.17. 
 

Page 211

Item #11.



 
 

1531 Hunt Club Blvd, Suite 200 
Gallatin, TN 37066 

 
(615) 527-7084 

pdengineers.com 
 

 
 

May 16, 2022 
 
 
 
 
Mr. Mike Null  
City of Green Cove Springs 
321 Walnut Street 
Green Cove Springs, FL 32043  
 
Subject: Chapman Substation & SCADA Installation, Construction Contract LC 2020-17 
 Terry’s Electric – Application for Payment No. 11 
  
 
Mr. Null, 

 
Enclosed is the Contractor’s eleventh invoice for the subject project.  We have reviewed the invoice and recommend 
payment as follows: 
 

Original Contract Amount $879,086.00 
Increase of Change Order Nos. 1 & 2 $103,819.17 
Revised Total Contract Amount $982,905.17 
Total Amount Due to Date $982,905.17 
Less Retainage (5%) ($49,145.26)
Net Amount Due to Date $933,759.91 
Less Previously Recommended Payments ($906,889.16)
Net Amount Due this Application $26,870.75 
Balance Remaining $49,145.26  

 
Please forward payment directly to the address noted on the invoice. There will be one more invoice (retainage) to 
closeout this project. If you have any questions or comments, please feel free to call me at (615) 527-7077. 
 
Sincerely, 
Patterson & Dewar Engineers, Inc. 
 
 
 
P. Anthony Hanson, P.E. 
Principal Engineer 
ahanson@pdengineers.com 

Page 212

Item #11.

mailto:ahanson@pdengineers.com


26,870.75

5/11/2022

Page 213

Item #11.



Page 214

Item #11.



Page 215

Item #11.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Meeting MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Scott Schultz, Asst. Water Utilities Director 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor to execute, Disbursement 

Request #13, in the amount of $504,319.39, which includes Contractor’s Pay Request # 12 

for Williams Industrial in the amount of $472,819.39 and Invoice # 22187 for Mittauer in 

the amount of $31,500.00, for construction of the Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant 

(AWWTP), as part of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State 

Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 

2, SRF Agreement No. WW1000420 in the total amount of $15,426,644.33.  Note:  This 

request returns funds to the Wastewater CIP budget. 
 

BACKGROUND 

On June 7, 2016, Council provided direction for staff to pursue “Scenario #3” (See excerpt from the June 7th 
staff report) sewer system expansion/improvements.   
 
Excerpt from the June 7, 2016 Staff Report 
 
“At the October 20, 2015 meeting, Council authorized submittal of a loan application under the Florida 
Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) program for the “Phase I” 
planning portion of the project which would be completed by Mittauer & Associates.  In addition, the Council 
approved a task order to Mittauer & Associates to prepare the planning documents necessary to secure 
capital financing under the SRF Program to complete a Facilities Plan, Environmental Plan, Capital 
Financing Plan, and associated Special Studies.”  
 
The staff report reviewed additional aspects of the analysis to date, and summarized three main 
development scenarios the City was considering.  They are outlined as follows: 
 
Scenario 1:      AWWTP only (no reclaimed water improvements) 
Scenario 2:      AWWTP and Reclaimed Water System Improvements 
Scenario 3:     AWWTP, Reclaimed Water System, and Existing Collection System Improvements 
 
As a result of the discussions and preliminary analysis, the City selected Scenario 3, which had the following 
implications: 
 
“Scenario 3 – AWWTP, reclaimed water system improvements and collection system improvements (repair 
and replacement of clay lines city-wide) 
 
                       Project Cost                            $35,181,000 
                       Loan Amount                          $28,681,000 
                       Retained Earnings                    $1,000,000 
                       Impact Fee Revenue                $1,200,000 
                       Grants                                       $4,300,000  
                       Annual Loan Payment              $1,316,100” 

Page 216

Item #12.



 
The costs are planning-level values and the annual loan payment will be based on final bid prices, interest 
rates at the time of construction loan acquisition, and accumulated grants/retained earnings/impact-fee 
revenue. Each scenario was reviewed with the following common variables: All scenarios assumed a 2% 
increase in the number of wastewater customers each year through FY’20 and a 0.5% increase each year 
from FY’21 through FY’25.All scenarios assumed $6,500,000 available in grant funding, retained earnings, 
and impact fee revenue dedicated to the project up front in order to reduce the total loan repayment 
amount.  Retained earnings is estimated at $1,000,000.  Impact fee revenue is estimated at 
$1,200,000.  Grant funding from all sources is estimated at $4,300,000.  Although, as indicated earlier in this 
writing, we may qualify for 45% grant funds from SRF, the total dollar amount available each year for grant 
funding is limited.  Staff feels that $4,300,000 is a reasonably conservative and prudent estimate as to the 
amount of grant dollars we may receive.  However, depending on the number of projects funded by the SRF 
program in the next two years and the amount of grant funding available, that number can certainly increase. 
All scenarios assume a 2.2%, 30-year loan repayment which is in line with the Capital Financing Plan 
formulas.  However, based on recent interest rate history in the SRF program and use of interest rate buy-
downs such as requiring Davis-Bacon wage requirements and Buy-American provisions of the contractor, 
we may be able to realize lower interest rates when our loan is actually processed.  The 30-year loan 
timeline contemplates repayments from FY’21 through FY’50.Reynolds Park re-development is not factored 
in to any of the scenarios. 
 
On August 10, 2016, SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a 
$2,261,200.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $1,491,035.00 to address the project’s design, 
permitting, and SSES needs.  These tasks were completed and the project has been completed / closed. 
 
On October 18, 2016, the City Council adopted after second and final reading, Ordinance O-13-2016, 
authorizing the expenditures of up to $34,158,100.00 for capital improvements to the City's wastewater 
treatment, wastewater collection and reclaimed water systems 
 
On August 8, 2018, FDER SRF staff approved SRF Project # 100400 granting the City of Green Cove 
Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction 
which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On October 2, 2018 Council approved Resolution No. R-29-2018, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit 
and mayor to execute a loan application to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) 
State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase I Construction of the Consolidated Advanced 
Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) and associated Lift Station Improvements. 
 
On December 4, 2018, council approved and authorized the execution of the contract  for SRF Project # 
100400 granting the City of Green Cove Springs a $6,120,600.00 loan with a principal forgiveness amount 
of $4,063,425.00 for Phase I Construction which includes reclaimed water, electrical and improvements to 
Lift Stations #2 and #4. 
 
On March 19, 2019, Council approved bid tabulations and awarded Sawcross the plant portion, and R2T the 
lift station portion, of the Phase I construction. 
 
Phase I construction being completed in May of 2020, Council authorized staff to submit a Request for 
Inclusion (RFI) to the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) 
for Construction Phase II, which includes construction of a 1.25 million gallon per day (MGD) - annual 
average daily flow (AADF), advanced wastewater treatment facility (AWWTF), in the amount of 
$18,165,500.00. 
 
On August 12, 2020, the FDEP SRF program awarded the City a $12,000,000.00, 20 year loan, with 
$4,452,835.00 in principal forgiveness (grant).  Due to a limitation of available funds, the SRF program 
withheld $6,186,500.00 in requested funds, which will be reviewed for award and addition to the current loan 
the next award period. 

Page 217

Item #12.



On 10/6/2020 City Council approved Resolution No. R-27-2020, a Resolution authorizing staff to submit and 
Mayor to execute the loan application for SRF Loan # 100401 to the Florida Department of Environmental 
Protection (FDEP) State Revolving Fund (SRF) loan program for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated 
Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal 
forgiveness (grant) amount of $4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00. 

On 1/19/2021 the City Council approved of, and authorized the Mayor, City Attorney and City Clerk to  
execute, the Clean Water State Revolving Fund (SRF), Construction Loan Agreement WW100420, Grant 
Agreement SG 100421 for Phase II Construction of the Consolidated Advanced Wastewater Treatment 
Plant (AWWTP) in the amount of $12,000,000.00 with a principal forgiveness (grant) amount of 
$4,452,835.00 providing for an actual repayment amount of $7,547,165.00.  The original loan request was 
for $18,106,500.00.  Due to limited funds, the SRF program limited the award to $12,000,000.00, with the 
plan to award the city an additional $6,106,500.00 in July 2021. 

On February 2, 2021, eight Sealed Bids were opened for the construction of the above referenced project.  
Williams Industrial was determined to be the lowest qualified bidder.  The estimated budget / original SRF 
loan request was for $18,106,500.00.  This project came in under projected budget, including the Additive 
Alternates.  

On February 16, 2021 Council approved the Engineers Recommendation of Award to Williams Industrial 
Services, LLC. 

On March 16, 2021, Council approved and executed the contract between the city and Williams Industrial. 

 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$504,319.39 to the Wastewater CIP Budget 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve of, and authorize the Mayor to execute, Disbursement Request #13, in the amount of 

$504,319.39, which includes Contractor’s Pay Request # 12 for Williams Industrial in the amount of 

$472,819.39 and Invoice # 22187 for Mittauer in the amount of $31,500.00, for construction of the 

Advanced Wastewater Treatment Plant (AWWTP), as part of the Florida Department of Environmental 

Protection (FDEP), State Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) 

Expansion, Phase 2, SRF Agreement No. WW1000420 in the total amount of $15,426,644.33.  Note:  

This request returns funds to the Wastewater CIP budget. 

Page 218

Item #12.



    

  

      

       

 
                 

   

    

   

  

  

           

  

  

   

 

 

Disbursement Request Package
State Revolving Fund Programs 

1. Project Sponsor

2. Project Number

3. Disbursement Request Number

4. Invoice Period

5. Type of Request: Partial Final 

6. Federal Employer Identification Number

7. Mail EFT Send Remittance to: 

(This must match an address setup in MyFloridaMarketPlace.com as the Vendor address). 

Disbursement Details 
(Rounded to the nearest dollar) 

1. Planning and Specialized Studies (attach invoices)

2. Design (attach invoices)

3. Construction and Demolition (attach pay estimates)

4. Technical Services during Construction (attach invoices)

5. Other (must be specified in agreement)

6. 

7. Total cumulative to date

8.. Disbursements previously requested 

9. Amount requested for disbursement

Amount This Request Total Cumulative 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ $ 

$ 

$( ) 

$ $ 

(Total of lines 1 through 6) (Line 7 minus Line 8) 

** SUBMIT ONE ORIGINAL COPY OF THIS FORM AND SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION TO: ** 

SRF_Reporting@dep.state.fl.us 

Page 1 of 3 

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida

WW100420/SG100421

13

3/21/2022 through 4/29/2022

59-6000328

Wells Fargo Bank N.A. Account#: 2000007820388 | ABA#: 121000248

Account Name: City of Green Cove Springs Utility Fund Savings

City Address:  321 Walnut Street, Green Cove Springs, FL  32043

  

  

                      472,819.39         7,610,505.87

                         31,500.00            290,250.00

 

         7,900,755.87

                      504,319.39
            504,319.39

     7,396,436.48

x

Page 219

Item #12.

mailto:SRF_Reporting@dep.state.fl.us
http:MyFloridaMarketPlace.com


 

  

 

  

 

 
 

 

 
 

   

 

  
 

  
 

 

  

 

 

 

  Project Number _______________________ 

Disbursement Number _______________ 

Authorized Representative’s Certification
of Disbursement Request and Davis-Bacon Certification 

I, , 

(name of Authorized Representative designated in the agreement) 

on behalf of , do hereby certify that: 

(name of Project Sponsor) 

1. The disbursement amount requested on page 1 of this form is for allowable costs for the project
described in the agreement.

2. Materials, labor, equipment, and/or services representing costs included in the amount requested
have been satisfactorily purchased, performed or received, and applied toward completing the project;
such costs are documented by invoices or other appropriate documentation which are filed in the
Project Sponsor’s permanent records.

3. The Project Sponsor is required to pay such costs under the terms and provisions of contracts relating
directly to the project, and the Project Sponsor is not in default of any terms or provisions of the
contracts.

4. All funds received to date have been applied toward completing the project.

5. All permits and approvals required for the construction which is underway have been obtained.

6. If applicable for construction projects, I certify to the best of my knowledge and belief that the above
referenced project complies with Davis-Bacon and Related Acts such that all of the laborers and
mechanics employed by contractors and subcontractors during the referenced period on the
contractors pay applications submitted with this disbursement request were paid wages at rates not
less than those listed on the prevailing wage rate contained in the contract documents and that all
applicable provisions of the Davis-Bacon and Related Acts have been met.

I also certify that interviews and periodic reviews of a representative sample of the weekly payroll data
have been performed to verify that contractors and subcontractors are paying the appropriate wage
rate.

I understand that falsifying information on this certification may be grounds for termination of the SRF
loan agreement.

( Signature of Authorized Representative) 

(Title) 

(Date) 

Page 2 of 3 

Period of Certification:

3/21/22 through 4/29/22  

DEP Agreement No. WW100420/SG100421

Edward Gaw, Mayor

City of Green Cove Springs, Florida

Mayor

June 7, 2022

WW100420
13

Page 220

Item #12.



Page 221

Item #12.



MITTAUER & 
ASSOCIATES, INC.
580-1 WELLS ROAD
ORANGE PARK, FL  32073

904-278-0030

Invoice  22187

BILL TO

City of Green Cove Springs
321 Walnut Street
Green Cove Springs, FL  
32043
Attn: Mike Null

DATE
05/03/2022

PLEASE PAY
$31,500.00

DUE DATE
05/23/2022

M&A PROJECT NO.
8905-56-1

DESCRIPTION AMOUNT

DEP SRF HARBOR ROAD WWTF EXPANSION, PHASE 2
BIDDING & CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION 
DEP AGREEMENT NO. WW100420/SG100421 
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA
P.O. NO.  2723070

Engineering services concerning the DEP SRF Harbor Road WWTF Expansion, Phase 2, 
Construction Administration project including FDEP SRF and SJRWMD coordination, attendance 
at construction conferences, shop drawing review, City coordination, vendor coordination, Davis-
Bacon interviews, AIS compliance reviews, and contactor correspondence during the period 
ending April 29, 2022.

LUMP SUM CONTRACT AMOUNT:  $696,500.00
     Item A.  Administration Services, $20,000
     Item B.  Construction Bidding Services, $8,500
     Item C.  Construction Administration, $287,500
     Item D.  SRF Monitoring Requirements (Davis-Bacon & American Iron-Steel Monitoring), 
$114,500
     Item E.  Resident Project Representative Services, $233,500
     Item F.  Start-up Services & Operation/Maintenance Manual, $32,500

AMOUNT PREVIOUSLY INVOICED:  $258,750.00

Amount Earned This Period 31,500.00

TOTAL DUE $31,500.00

Thank you for your business.

THANK YOU.

Page 222

Item #12.



Page 223

Item #12.



Page 224

Item #12.



Page 225

Item #12.



Page 226

Item #12.



Page 227

Item #12.



Page 228

Item #12.



Page 229

Item #12.



Page 230

Item #12.



Page 231

Item #12.



Page 232

Item #12.



Page 233

Item #12.



Page 234

Item #12.



Page 235

Item #12.



Page 236

Item #12.



Page 237

Item #12.



Page 238

Item #12.



Page 239

Item #12.



Page 240

Item #12.



Page 241

Item #12.



Page 242

Item #12.



Page 243

Item #12.



Page 244

Item #12.



Page 245

Item #12.



Page 246

Item #12.



Page 247

Item #12.



Page 248

Item #12.



Sponsor Name: 13
DEP Agreement No.:

Vendor  Name Invoice Number  Invoice Date Invoice Amount Local Share or Other Funding or 
Amount Not Requested Requested Amount Check Number Category:  (ie. Construction, Tech. Services, 

Design, Planning)

Mittauer & Associates, Inc, 22187 5/3/2022 31,500.00$                               -$                                          31,500.00$                               Technical Services
Williams Industrial Services, LLC 12 5/18/2022 472,819.39$                             -$                                          472,819.39$                             Construction

Totals: 504,319.39$                     -$                                  504,319.39$                     

WW100420/SG100421 Period of Service:  March 21, 2022 through April 29, 2022

FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

REIMBURSEMENT SUMMARY

City of Green Cove Springs Payment Request No.:

Page 249

Item #12.



Summary of Work 
DEP SRF Harbor Road WWTF Expansion, Phase 2 

Bidding & Construction Phase 
DEP Agreement No. WW100420/SG100421 

City of Green Cove Springs, FL 
M&A Project Nos. 8905-56-1 

June 7, 2022 
 
 
Summary of work for Green Cove Springs Disbursement Request No. 13 to accompany the 
Contractor’s Application for Payment No. 12 and Mittauer & Associates Invoice No. 22187, 
consist of:  
 
Construction services included progress toward soil and concrete testing; sitework; underground 
piping; oxidation ditch outer walls; clarifiers structural concrete walls, miscellaneous metals, 
clarifier equipment, and piping; chlorine contact chamber foundations & walls; in-plant/transfer 
pump station & vac con miscellaneous metals; operations building HVAC, plumbing, and 
architectural items; line crew building structural PEMB, HVAC, miscellaneous metals, and 
architectural items; and electrical general conditions and surface conduit. Overall, construction 
services are 62% complete.  
 
Technical services during construction included FDEP SRF and SJRWMD coordination, attendance 
at construction conferences, shop drawing review, City coordination, RFI responses, vendor 
coordination, and contractor correspondence. Overall, technical services during construction are 
42% complete.  
 
 
 

Page 250

Item #12.



 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS  

 

CITY COUNCIL REGULAR SESSION 

321 WALNUT STREET, GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TUESDAY, MAY 03, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

MINUTES 

Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag - Chaplain Joseph Williams, CCSO 

Roll Call 

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Ed Gaw, Vice Mayor Matt Johnson, Council Member 

Connie Butler, Council Member Steven Kelley, Council Member Van Royal 

STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT: L.J. Arnold, III, City Attorney, Steve Kennedy, City Manager, Mike 

Null, Assistant City Manager, Erin West, City Clerk 

Mayor to call on members of the audience wishing to address the Council on matters not on the Agenda. 

No comments 

AWARDS & RECOGNITION 

1. Proclamation - National Police Week 

Council Member Royal reads the proclamation and presents it to Chief Guzman. 

PRESENTATIONS 

2. Presentation by the North Florida TPO for the draft of the 2022/2023 to 2026/2027 

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) Elizabeth De Jesus, Transportation Programs 

Manager 

Ms. De Jesus gave a presentation and overview of the 5 Year Plan and Highlighted Projects.  

Council discussion followed. 

 

3. Presentation by James Moore and Company of the Audited Financial Statements for the period 

ending September 30, 2021.  Marlena Guthrie 

Finance Director, Marlena Guthrie introduces James Halleran and Webb Shepherd with James 

Moore and Company.  Mr. Shepherd presents the Audited Financial Statements for the period 

ending September 30, 2021. 

 

4. Recommendations for the Rivers House.  CAC Rivers House Sub-Committee 

CAC Rivers House Sub-Committee Chairman, Al Herndon explains the recommendations 

provided to the Council by the CAC for the Rivers House property. 

Council Member Royal would like to see the property restored. 

Mr. Herndon advises there are quite a few historic items in the house including doorknobs, the 

kitchen sink, and possibly some Savannah bricks. 

Mayor Gaw questions restoring the house back to the original era. 

Council discussion follows. 

Page 251

Item #13.



May 03, 2022 Minutes Page 2 of 6 

 

 

City Manager, Steve Kennedy advises this recommendation is part of the vision of the committee 

and thanks the committee for their efforts.  Mr. Kennedy advises the first part would be making 

sure the building is structural safe and then second would be considering the use of the building. 

Joe Sobotta 212 North St. GCS advises he has a thumb drive with information on 300 or 400 old 

houses in GCS. 

Pam Lewis 426 Mrytle Ave. GCS thanks the Council for listening to the recommendations. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

5. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-06-2022, a Future Land Use Amendment from 

Residential Low Density to Public  of 21.89 acres for a portion of parcel #: 016515-008-

00.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-06-2022 by title. 

Development Services Director, Michael Daniels presents and explains the presentation is for 

items 5 through 9. 

Ellen Avery-Smith with Rogers Towers presents for items 5 through 9. 

Raj Chindalur with Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. presents the traffic report. 

Mayor Gaw opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Mayor Gaw closes the public hearing. 

Council Member Royal asked Mr. Daniels if any other large property owners have come forward 

concerning the coming developments and traffic. 

Mr. Daniels advises a public meeting will be held on US 17 Corridor. 

Motion to approve on second and final reading of Ordinance No. O-06-2022 to amend the 

Future Land Use of the property described therein from Residential Low Density to Public. 

Motion made by Council Member Royal, Seconded by Vice Mayor Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

6. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-07-2022, a Rezoning from Planned Unit 

Development to Recreation of 21.89 acres for a portion of parcel #: 016515-008-00.  Michael 

Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-07-2022 by title. 

Mayor Gaw opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Mayor Gaw closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve on second and final reading of Ordinance No. O-07-2022 to amend the 

Zoning of the property described therein from Planned Unit Development to Recreation. 
Motion made by Council Member Butler, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

7. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-08 -2022, a Future Land Use Map Amendment from 

Recreation to Neighborhood for 21.3 acres, a portion of parcel number 016515-002-00.  Michael 

Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-0r8-2022 by title. 

Mayor Gaw opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Mayor Gaw closes the public hearing. 

Page 252

Item #13.



May 03, 2022 Minutes Page 3 of 6 

 

 

Motion to approve on second and final reading of Ordinance No. O-08-2022 to amend the 

Future Land Use of the property described therein from Public to Neighborhood. 

Motion made by Council Member Royal, Seconded by Council Member Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

8. Second and Final Reading of Ordinance O-09-2022, a Rezoning from Recreation to Planned Unit 

Development for 21.3 acres, a portion of parcel number 016515-002-00.  Michael Daniels 

City Attorney Arnold reads Ordinance No. O-09-2022 by title. 

Mayor Gaw opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Mayor Gaw closes the public hearing. 

Motion to approve on second and final reading of Ordinance No. O-09-2022 to amend the 

Zoning of the property described therein from Recreation to Planned Unit Development. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Johnson, Seconded by Council Member Butler. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

9. First Reading of Development Agreement for approximately 559.9 acres for the Rookery 

Residential Development located on CR 15 A south of Green Cove Avenue, parcel # 016515-

008-00.  Michael Daniels 

Mayor Gaw opens the public hearing. 

Following no public comment, Mayor Gaw closes the public hearing. 

Council Member Royal comments on the Police Department Substation and questions if it would 

be needed or if we should use the money for something else. 

Chief Guzman advises he was not involved in the original talk with the Developer but believes 

the substation will be needed in the future as the City continues to grow as they will need more 

room for additional Officers and personnel 

Council discussion follows. 

Mayor Gaw calls on Raj Chindalur with Chindalur Traffic Solutions, Inc. to discuss traffic issues 

along US 17. 

Council discussion follows concerning the traffic. 

John Gislason with DR Horton advises CSX has approved the proposed bridge plan so they will 

be submitting the signed and sealed plans.  They are expecting to within 60 days to have a permit 

to start construction of the bridge that will direct traffic to 17 and the new interchange. 

Council discussion follows concerning traffic. 

Brian Snyder, Project Engineer, advises he has reviewed the TIA in full and everything conforms 

with DOT standards. 

Council discuss follows. 

Motion to approve for form and legality on first reading of the Rookery Development 

Agreement concerning 559.9 acres located on CR 15A, south of Green Cove Avenue. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

 

 

Page 253

Item #13.



May 03, 2022 Minutes Page 4 of 6 

 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All matters under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the city council and will be enacted 

by one motion in the form listed below. There will be no separate discussion on these items. If discussion 

is desired, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately. Backup 

documentation and staff recommendations have been previously submitted to the city council on these 

items. 

Motion to approve Consent Agenda items 10 through 19. 

Motion made by Council Member Kelley, Seconded by Vice Mayor Johnson. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

10. City Council approval of the National Safe Boating Week Proclamation.  Erin West 

11. City Council approval of CAC Minutes for 11/09/21, 12/09/21, 1/13/22 & 3/10/22.  Kimberly 

Thomas 

12. City Council approval of Pay Application # 1 in the amount of $11,000.00 to Thomas May 

Construction Company for installation of the Police Metal Storage Building, leaving a balance of 

$68,750.00.  Greg Bauer 

13. City Council approval of the May Mann Jennings Proclamation.  Erin West 

14. City Council approval of Minutes from 3/1/2022 Regular Session.  Erin West 

15. City Council approval of, and authorization for the Mayor to execute, Disbursement Request 

#12, in the amount of $1,535,057.39 for construction of the Advanced Wastewater Treatment 

Plant (AWWTP), as part of the Florida Department of Environmental Protection (FDEP), State 

Revolving Fund (SRF), Harbor Road Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Expansion, Phase 2, 

SRF Agreement No. WW1000420 in the total amount of $15,426,644.33.  Note:  This request 

returns funds to the Wastewater CIP budget.  Scott Schultz 

16. City Council approval of the FY 2022 Revenues and Expenditures Report and the Quarterly 

Investment Report for the period ending March 31, 2022.  Marlena Guthrie 

17. City Council approval and execution of Construction and Maintenance Agreement (CMA) with 

FDOT to construct the entire Palmetto Trail project and maintain the portion outside of FDOT 

right of way and approval of Resolution R-04-2022.  Mike Null 

18. City Council approval of Amendment #1 to contracts for each of CHW, CPH, Jones Edmunds 

and WGI for engineering services under Bid LC 2021-02 covering the period from April 21, 

2022 through April 20, 2023.  Mike Null 

19. City Council approval of Amendment #1 to contract with Patterson & Dewar for engineering 

services under Bid LC 2021-04 covering the period from April 21, 2022 through April 20, 2023.  

Mike Null 

 

Page 254

Item #13.



May 03, 2022 Minutes Page 5 of 6 

 

 

COUNCIL BUSINESS 

20. FMPA - May 2022 Bob Page 

Mr. Page gave an overview of the May 2022 report. 

21. City Council approval of a task order to WGI, Inc. in an amount not to exceed $256,790 to 

survey most of the downtown area and design roadway, utility, pedestrian and streetscape 

improvements on Walnut St from Palmetto Ave to the River.  Mike Null 

 Assistant City Manager, Mike Null explains the task order to WGI, Inc. 

 Council Member Royal questions being able to include some type of streetscape plan that will 

include the buildings/businesses. 

 Mr. Null advises that is part of this and has been explained to WGI. 

 Council discussion follows. 

Motion to authorize the Mayor to execute a task order to WGI, Inc. in an amount not to 

exceed $256,790 to survey most of the downtown area and design roadway, utility, 

pedestrian and streetscape improvements on Walnut St. from Palmetto Ave to the River. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Johnson, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

22. Lien Reduction Request For 1124 Houston St.  Michael Daniels 

Development Services Director, Michael Daniels speaks to the Council about the lien reduction. 

Robert Seidler speaks on the behalf of the citizen requesting the reduction. 

Council discussion follows. 

Motion to approve staff recommendation of not reducing the lien due to the amount of time 

the violation remained and the impact it had on the surrounding neighbors.  Multiple 

notices were sent to the owners listed address and code enforcement did not get a response 

until after the lien hearing. 

Motion made by Vice Mayor Johnson, Seconded by Council Member Kelley. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Gaw, Vice Mayor Johnson, Council Member Butler, Council Member 

Kelley, Council Member Royal 

23. City Manager & City Attorney Reports / Correspondence 

 The City Manager and City Attorney made comments regarding various city activities, events, 

operations, and projects. 

24. City Council Reports / Correspondence 

The City Council made comments regarding various city activities, events, operations, and 

projects. 

Adjournment 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, the meeting was adjourned at 10:56 

p.m. 

 

 

 

Page 255

Item #13.



May 03, 2022 Minutes Page 6 of 6 

 

 

 CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

 
 

 Edward R. Gaw, Mayor 

  

Attest:  

 
 

Erin West, City Clerk  

 

Page 256

Item #13.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Chief Guzman 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of Mutual Aid Agreements between the Green Cove Springs Police 

Department and the Orange Park Police Department, and the Green Cove Springs Police 

Department and the St. Johns County Sheriff’s Office.  Chief Guzman 
 

BACKGROUND 

. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

City Council approval of the Mutual Aid Agreements with the Orange Park Police Department and the 

St. Johns County Sherriff’s Department. 
 

Page 257

Item #14.



Page 258

Item #14.



Page 259

Item #14.



Page 260

Item #14.



Page 261

Item #14.



Page 262

Item #14.



 1 

 

VOLUNTARY COOPERATION 
 

LAW ENFORCEMENT MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 
 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

 

Whereas, the subscribing law enforcement agencies are so located in relation to each other that 

it is to the advantage of each to receive and extend mutual aid in the form of law enforcement 

services and resources to adequately respond to continuing, multi-jurisdictional criminal activity, 

so as to protect the public peace and safety, and preserve the lives and property of the citizens; 

and, 

 

Whereas, the GREEN COVE SPRINGS POLICE DEPARTMENT (GCSPD) and the 

ORANGE PARK POLICE DEPARTMENT (OPPD) have the authority under the Mutual Aid 

Act, Chapter 23, Part I, Florida Statutes, to enter into a mutual aid agreement for law 

enforcement service which permits voluntary cooperation and assistance of a routine law 

enforcement nature across jurisdictional lines. 

 

Now, therefore, the parties agree as follows: 

 

 

SECTION I:   PROVISIONS FOR VOLUNTARY COOPERATION 

 

Each of the aforesaid law enforcement agencies hereby approve and enter into this agreement 

whereby each of the agencies may request and render law enforcement assistance to the other in 

dealing with any violations of Florida Statutes to include, but not necessarily be limited to, 

investigating homicides, sex offenses, robberies, burglaries, thefts, gambling, motor vehicle 

thefts, controlled substances violations, DUI violations, and civil traffic infractions. In addition, 

by execution of this agreement, each of the agencies may request and render law enforcement 

assistance with special events, sporting events, disasters (natural or man-made), inter-agency task 

forces and/or joint investigations, off-duty work details, school resource officers on official duty 

out of their jurisdiction, and assistance with tactical operations. 

 

SECTION II:   PROVISIONS FOR OPERATIONAL ASSISTANCE 

 

Each of the aforesaid law enforcement agencies hereby approve and enter into this agreement 

whereby each of the agencies may request and render law enforcement assistance to the other to 

include, but not limited to, dealing with civil disturbances, law enforcement emergencies, large 

protests demonstrations, pre-planned special events, aircraft disasters, fires, hurricanes, tornadoes 

or other weather-related crises, sporting events, concerts, parades, prisoner escapes, and incidents 

requiring utilization of specialized units.  

 

SECTION III: PROCEDURE FOR REQUESTING ASSISTANCE 

 

In the event that a party to this agreement is in need of assistance as set forth above, an 

authorized representative of the agency requesting assistance shall notify the agency Chief of 

Page 263

Item #14.



 2 

Police or his/her designee from whom such assistance is requested. The agency Chief of Police 

or authorized agency representative whose assistance is sought shall evaluate the situation and 

the agency’s available resources, consult with his/her supervisors if necessary and will respond 

in a manner he/she deems appropriate. 

 

The agency Chief of Police in whose jurisdiction assistance is being rendered may determine 

who is authorized to lend assistance in his/her jurisdiction, for how long such assistance is 

authorized and for what purpose such authority is granted. This authority may be granted either 

verbally or in writing as the situation dictates. 

 

 

SECTION IV:   REACTIVE LAW ENFORCEMENT ACTIONS 

 

Should a sworn law enforcement officer be in the other subscribed agency’s jurisdiction for 

matters of routine nature, such as traveling through the jurisdiction on routine business, attending 

a meeting, going to or from work, working a special detail, or transporting a prisoner, and a 

violation of Florida Statutes occurs in the presence of said party, said officer shall be empowered 

to render enforcement and act in accordance with law. Should enforcement action be required, 

said officer shall ensure that the agency having normal jurisdiction be quickly notified; a 

supervisor from the jurisdiction’s agency should then come to the scene of the incident. Law 

enforcement officers from the agency having normal jurisdiction shall render all lawful 

assistance to officers from the other subscribed agency. The officer performing reactive law 

enforcement actions will be responsible for completing all necessary related legal forms and 

actions. Required legal forms and documents may include, but not limited to, offense/incident 

reports, arrest booking affidavits, and follow-up written reports documenting the event and the 

actions taken. The agency with normal jurisdiction shall have the right to assume the 

investigation and complete necessary documentation and /or action if said agency sees fit.  

 

This provision so prescribed is not intended to grant general authority to conduct pro-active 

investigations, serve warrants and/or subpoenas or to respond without request to calls for service 

already being addressed by the agency having normal jurisdiction. This provision is intended to 

address critical, life-threatening, or public safety situations, prevent bodily injury to citizens, 

secure apprehension of criminals without unnecessary delay, and respond to observed infractions 

of state traffic laws that may put other motorists or citizens at risk.  

 

No officer or appointee shall be empowered to operate outside of this agreement, or state laws, in 

the other agency’s jurisdiction without properly notifying the latter agency. The agency head’s 

decision in these matters shall be final. 

 

SECTION V:   COMMAND AND SUPERVISORY RESPONSIBILITY 

 

The personnel and equipment that are assigned by the assisting agency Chief of Police shall be 

under the immediate command of a supervising officer designated by the assisting agency Chief 

of Police. Such supervising officer shall be under the direct supervision and command of the 

agency Chief of Police or his/her designee of the agency requesting assistance. 

 

CONFLICTS:  Whenever an officer is rendering assistance pursuant to this agreement, the 

officer shall abide by and be subject to the rules and regulations, personnel policies, general 

orders and standard operating procedures of his/her own employing agency. If any such rule, 

regulation, personnel policy, general order or standard operating procedure is contradicted, 

Page 264

Item #14.



 3 

contravened or otherwise in conflict with a direct order of a superior officer of the requesting 

agency, then such rule, regulation, personnel policy, general order or procedure shall control and 

shall supersede the direct order. 

 

HANDLING COMPLAINTS:  Whenever there is cause to believe that a complaint has arisen 

as a result of a cooperative effort as it may pertain to this agreement, the agency Chief of Police 

or his/her designee of the requesting agency shall be responsible for the documentation of said 

complaint to ascertain at a minimum: 

 

1. The identity of the complainant. 

2. An address where the complaining party can be contacted. 

3. The specific allegation. 

4. The identity of the employees accused without regard as to agency affiliation. 

 

If it is determined that the accused is an employee of the assisting agency, the above information, 

with all pertinent documentation gathered during the receipt and processing of the complaint, 

shall be forwarded without delay to the agency Chief of Police or his/her designee of the 

assisting agency for administrative review. The requesting agency may conduct a review of the 

complaint to determine if any factual basis for the complaint exists and/or whether any of the 

employees of the requesting agency violated any of their agency’s policies or procedures. 

 

 

SECTION VI:   LIABILITY 

 

Each party engaging in any mutual cooperation and assistance, pursuant to this agreement, 

agrees to assume responsibility for the acts, omissions, or conduct of such party’s own 

employees while engaged in rendering such aid pursuant to this agreement, subject to the 

provisions of Section 768.28, Florida Statutes, where applicable. 

 

 

SECTION VII:   POWERS, PRIVILEGES, IMMUNITIES AND COSTS 

 

A. Employees of the GREEN COVE SPRINGS POLICE DEPARTMENT and the 

ORANGE PARK POLICE DEPARTMENT, when actually engaging in mutual 

cooperation and assistance outside of their jurisdictional limits but inside this state, under the 

terms of this agreement, shall, pursuant to the provisions of Section 23.127 (1), Florida 

Statutes, have the same powers, duties, rights, privileges and immunities as if the employee 

was performing duties inside the employee’s political subdivision in which normally 

employed. 

 

B. Each party agrees to furnish necessary personnel, equipment, resources, and facilities and to 

render services to each other party to the agreement as set forth above; provided, however, 

that no party shall be required to deplete unreasonably its own personnel, equipment, 

resources, facilities, and services in furnishing such aid. 

 

C. A political subdivision that furnishes equipment pursuant to this agreement must bear the 

cost of loss or damage to that equipment and must pay any expense incurred in the operation 

and maintenance of that equipment. 

 

Page 265

Item #14.



 4 

D. The agency furnishing aid pursuant to this agreement shall compensate its 

appointees/employees during the time such aid is rendered and shall defray the actual travel 

and maintenance expenses of its employees while they are rendering such aid, including any 

amounts paid or due for compensation due to personal injury or death while such employees 

are engaged in rendering such aid. 

 

However, the requesting agency may compensate the assisting agency during the time of the 

rendering of such aid and may defray the actual travel and maintenance expenses of such 

employees while they are rendering such aid, including any amounts paid or due for 

compensation as a result of personal injury or death while such employees are rendering aid 

pursuant to this agreement. 

 

E. The privileges and immunities from liability, exemption from laws, ordinances and rules, and 

all pension, insurance, relief, disability, workers’ compensation, salary, death and other 

benefits that apply to the activity of an employee of an agency when performing the 

employee’s duties within the territorial limits of the employee’s agency apply to the 

employee to the same degree, manner, and extent while engaged in the performance of the 

employee’s duties extraterritorially under the provisions of this mutual aid agreement. The 

provisions of this section shall apply with equal effect to paid, volunteer, and auxiliary 

employees. 

 

F. Nothing herein shall prevent the requesting agency from requesting supplemental 

appropriations from the governing authority having budgeting jurisdiction to reimburse the 

assisting agency for any actual costs or expenses incurred by the assisting agency performing 

hereunder. 

 

G. Nothing in this agreement is intended or is to be construed as any transfer or contracting 

away of the powers or functions of one party hereto to the other. 

 

 

SECTION VIII:  LIABILITY INSURANCE 

 

Each party shall provide satisfactory proof of liability insurance by one or more of the means 

specified in Section 768.28 (15)(a), Florida Statutes, in an amount which is, in the judgment of 

the governing body of that party, at least adequate to cover the risk to which that party may be 

exposed. Should the insurance coverage, however provided, of any party be canceled or undergo 

material change, that party shall notify all parties to this agreement of such change within ten 

(10) days of receipt of notice or actual knowledge of such change. 

 

 

SECTION IX:   FORFEITURE PROVISIONS 

 

A. In the event an agency seizes any real property, vessel, motor vehicle, aircraft, currency or 

other property pursuant to the Florida Contraband Forfeiture Act during the performance of 

this agreement, the seizing agency in the case of voluntary cooperation shall be responsible 

for maintaining any forfeiture action pursuant to Chapter 932, Florida Statutes. The agency 

pursuing the forfeiture action shall have the exclusive right to control and the responsibility 

to maintain the property in accordance with Chapter 932, Florida Statutes, to include, but not 

be limited to, the complete discretion to bring the action or dismiss the action. 

 

Page 266

Item #14.



 5 

B. All proceeds from forfeited property seized as a result of or in accordance with this 

agreement shall be divided equally between the parties, less the costs associated with the 

forfeiture action. 

 

 

SECTION X:   EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

This agreement shall take effect under execution and approval by the hereinafter named officials 

and shall continue in full force and cancelled in writing. Under no circumstances may this 

agreement be renewed, amended, or extended except in writing. 

 

 

SECTION XI:   CANCELLATION 

 

Any party may cancel its participation in this agreement upon delivery of written notice, within 

thirty (30) days, to the other party or parties. Cancellation will be at the direction of any 

subscribing party. 

 

 

In witness whereof, the parties hereto cause the presents to be signed on the date specified. 

 

 

_____________________________               

Name: Elvis J. Guzman 

Title: Chief of Police   

Agency: Green Cove Springs Police Department   

Date:  ____________________   

 

___________________________________ 

Name:      Steve Kennedy 

Title:        City Manager 

Entity:      City of Green Cove Springs 

Date:        _____________________ 

 

        

___________________________________ 

Name: Gary Goble     

Title: Chief of Police   

Agency: Orange Park Police Department   

Date:  ____________________   

 

___________________________________ 

Name:      Sarah Campbell 

Title:        Town Manager 

Entity:      Town of Orange Park 

Date:        _____________________ 

 

 

 

 

Page 267

Item #14.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Chief Guzman 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of Multi-Agency Mutual Aid Agreement between Fernandina Beach 

Police Department, Jacksonville Beach Police Department, Atlantic Beach Police 

Department, Neptune Beach Police Department, Green Cove Springs Police Department, 

City St. Augustine and St. Augustine Beach Police Department.  Chief Guzman 
 

BACKGROUND 

. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

City Council approval of the Multi-Agency Mutual Aid Agreement. 
 

Page 268

Item #15.



Page 269

Item #15.



Page 270

Item #15.



Page 271

Item #15.



Page 272

Item #15.



Page 273

Item #15.



Page 274

Item #15.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Mike Null, Asst. City Manager 

SUBJECT: City Council approval of annual work order for FY 2022-2023 in the amount of $39,318.70 

under FDOT contract number ASO70 for FDOT State Highway System Lighting, 

Maintenance, and Compensation Agreement, and authorization for the City Manager to 

execute same annually through the contract expiration date of June 30, 2028.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

In 2003, the FDOT started a program to compensate all local maintaining agencies for their costs 

associated with the operation and maintenance of traffic signal systems located on state-owned 

roadways. The City received $4,780 for FY 02/03. The City received 

$27,956.88 for FY 15/16, $28,794.66 for FY 16/17, $29,657.88 for FY 17/18, $30,549.96 for 

FY 18/19, $34,089.12 for FY 19/20, $35,111.70 for FY 20/21 and $36,164.70 for FY 21/22. The amount 

is programmed to increase by 3% annually unless or until the Agreement is amended. The attached 

agreement for FY 22/23 is for the amount of $39,318.70. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Funds are deposited to A/R Account No. 001-3439100 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve annual work order for FY 2022-2023 in the amount of $39,318.70 under FDOT contract 

number ASO70 for FDOT State Highway System Lighting, Maintenance, and Compensation 

Agreement, and authorize the City Manager to execute same annually through the contract expiration 

date of June 30, 2028. 
 

Page 275

Item #16.



STATE HIGHWAY LIGHTING MAINTENANCE, AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT WORK ORDER 

 
 
Contract Number:  ASO70     
Maintaining Agency:  City of Green Cove Springs  
Financial Project No:  414416-1-78-02   
Fiscal Year:   2022-2023    
 
1.0 PURPOSE 

This work order summarizes the method and limits of compensation to be made to the 
Maintaining Agency for FDOT fiscal year 22/23 for the maintenance of highway lighting on the 
State Highway System as prescribed in the original agreement executed on August 5, 2021.  
 

2.0 COMPENSATION AND PAY PROCESSING 

For the satisfactory completion of all services detailed in the original agreement for the fiscal 
year beginning July 1, 2022, and ending June 30, 2023, the DEPARTMENT will pay the 
MAINTAINING AGENCY a total lump sum amount of $39,318.70. The basis of compensation is 
as described in Exhibit A. 

The MAINTAINING AGENCY shall invoice the DEPARTMENT for services rendered at the end 
of the fiscal year in a format acceptable to the DEPARTMENT. 
 

3.0 AUTHORIZATION 

This Work Order for City of Green Cove Springs will not be considered as authorized unless 
it is signed and returned by the MAINTAINING AGENCY to the DEPARTMENT, whereby the 
DEPARTMENT’S final signature is required to fully authorize compensation for services 
beginning July 1, 2022 and ending June 30, 2023.  

MAINTAINING AGENCY 

BY: (signature)  _________________________________ Date:     

Printed Name: _____________________________________________________ 

Printed Title: ______________________________________________________ 

STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION 
 
BY: (signature) ____________________________ Date: _____________  

Printed Name: ___Jennifer Curls_______________________________________ 

Printed Title: ____District Two Maintenance Contracts Administrator_________ 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 321E6930-7FD5-4129-B035-3ADD6C207CB8

Page 276

Item #16.



 

EXHIBIT A 
 

STATE HIGHWAY LIGHTING, MAINTENANCE, AND COMPENSATION AGREEMENT 
 

For Fiscal Year 2022-2023   

 1.0 PURPOSE 

This exhibit defines the method and limits of compensation to be made to the MAINTAINING 
AGENCY for the services described in this Agreement and method by which payments will be 
made. 

 2.0 FACILITIES 

The lighting or lighting systems listed below, or in an attached spreadsheet, or other electronic 
forms are included with this Agreement and represent the Facilities to be maintained by 
the MAINTAINING AGENCY. 

 3.0 COMPENSATION 

For the satisfactory completion of all services detailed in this Agreement, FDOT will pay the 
MAINTAINING AGENCY the Total Sum as provided in Section 2 of the Agreement. The MAINTAINING 
AGENCY will receive one single payment at the end of each fiscal year for satisfactory completion of 
service. 

The per-light unit rate shall increase by 3% each fiscal year. E.g., the per-light unit rate of 
$300.10 in fiscal year 2020-2021 shall increase to $309.10 in fiscal year 2021-2022. 

Total Payment Amount for each fiscal year is calculated by inputting the actual number 
of qualifying types of lights 
into the table below and multiplying by the unit rate and ____%. Example: 330 (lights) x 
$309.10 (unit rate) x 95% = $96,902.85 

 
 

Type of Light # of lights LED or HPS Unit rate 95% Total 
High Mast   HPS   0.00 0.00 

Standard 130 HPS 318.37 0.95 39,318.70 
.70 Underdeck   HPS   0.00 0.00 

Sign   HPS   0.00 0.00 

High Mast   LED   0.00 0.00 

Standard   LED   0.00 0.00 

Underdeck   LED   0.00 0.00 

Sign   LED   0.00 0.00 

 

DocuSign Envelope ID: 321E6930-7FD5-4129-B035-3ADD6C207CB8

Page 277

Item #16.



State Road 

Number
County

Begin Milepost or Nearest 

Cross Road

End Milepost or Nearest 

Cross Road

Number of Lights 

Being Currently 

Maintained Within 

These Limits

Type of Light(s): High 

Mast, Standard, 

Underdeck, or Sign

LED or HPS

SR 17 Clay Orion Hall Park Road 81 Standard

SR 16 E Clay Hwy 17 Red Cove Road 3 Standard

SR 16 W Clay Hwy 17 Randal Road 46 Standard

TOTAL # OF LIGHTS BEING 

MAINTAINED: 130

Florida Department of Transportation Highway Lighting Maintenance and Compensation 
Agreement Inventory

L. Steve Kennedy, City Manager  904-297-7500

CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS

DocuSign Envelope ID: 321E6930-7FD5-4129-B035-3ADD6C207CB8

Page 278

Item #16.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 07,2022 

FROM: Greg Bauer, Public Works Field Supervisor 

SUBJECT: Approval of Pay Application # 2 in the amount of $68,750.00 to Thomas May Construction 

Company for installation of the Police Metal Storage Building, leaving a balance of $0.00 
 

BACKGROUND 

At the March 15, 2022, City Council Meeting, Council awarded Bid #2022-01 to Thomas May 

Construction Company to install the Police metal storage building in the amount of $79,750.00. 

Thomas May Construction Company has submitted Pay Application #2 in the amount of $68,750.00. 

City staff have reviewed the pay application and find them to be complete and recommend approval for 

payment. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

$68,750.00, G/L 001-3052-5006200 

RECOMMENDATION 

City Council to approve Pay Application #2 in the amount of $68.750.00. 
 

Page 279

Item #17.



Page 280

Item #17.



Page 281

Item #17.



Page 282

Item #17.



Page 283

Item #17.



Page 284

Item #17.



Page 285

Item #17.



Page 286

Item #17.



Page 287

Item #17.



Page 288

Item #17.



Page 289

Item #17.



Page 290

Item #17.



Page 291

Item #17.



Page 292

Item #17.



Page 293

Item #17.



Page 294

Item #17.



Page 295

Item #17.



Page 296

Item #17.



Page 297

Item #17.



Page 298

Item #17.



Page 299

Item #17.



Page 300

Item #17.



Page 301

Item #17.



Page 302

Item #17.



Page 303

Item #17.



Page 304

Item #17.



Page 305

Item #17.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Mike Null 

SUBJECT: Approval of Amendment #1 to contract with Tocoi for engineering services under Bid LC 

2021-04 covering the period from April 21, 2022 through April 20, 2023.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

At the April 20, 2021 City Council Meeting, Council authorized award of bid LC 2021-04 for Electrical 

Engineering Services for Overhead and Underground Facilities to two (2) firms: Patterson & Dewar ad 

Tocoi.  Per the bid, each firm entered into a one-year contract with the City which was eligible for four, 

one-year extensions.  Attached please find Amendment #1 to the agreement with Tocoi for Council 

Approval. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Task orders as assigned under these agreements. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Amendment #1 to contract with Tocoi for engineering services under Bid LC 2021-04 

covering the period from April 21, 2022 through April 20, 2023.   
 

Page 306

Item #18.



Page 307

Item #18.



Page 308

Item #18.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Mike Null 

SUBJECT: Approval of Amendment #1 to contracts for each of Mittauer and Tocoi for Engineering 

services under Bid LC 2021-02 covering the period from April 21, 2022 through April 20, 

2023.  Mike Null 
 

BACKGROUND 

At the April 20, 2021 City Council Meeting, Council authorized award of bid LC 2021-02 for 

Engineering Services for Water, Wastewater, Drainage, Stormwater, Roadway & Parks to six (6) firms: 

CHW, CPI, Jones Edmunds, Mittauer, Tocoi and WGI.  Per the bid, each firm entered into a one-year 

contract with the City which was eligible for four, one-year extensions.  Attached please find 

Amendment #1 to each of the agreements for Mittauer and Tocoi. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

Task orders as assigned under these agreements. 

RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Amendment #1 to contracts for each of Mittauer and Tocoi for engineering services under Bid 

LC 2021-02 covering the period from April 21, 2022 through April 20, 2023.   
 

Page 309

Item #19.



Page 310

Item #19.



Page 311

Item #19.



Page 312

Item #19.



Page 313

Item #19.



FMPA Monthly Report 

 

June 2022 

 

Rate Call 

 

The average price of natural gas for the month was $5.48. Daily natural gas prices have 

fluctuated in the $7.30 - 9.10 range over the last month. Natural gas could remain around the 

$8.00 or higher level for the remainder of the year. This will push average ARP cost above 

$110/MWh and possibly higher. 
 

Natural gas accounted for 69% of the generation mix. Coal was 17% and nuclear was 6%. Solar 

generation was 2%. You can track the performance of the solar projects at FMPA.com/solar. 
 

The peak for the month was 6 April at 5PM. 

 

Board of directors 

 

The Board of Directors approved the use of the Development Fund for the cost associated with 

the ARP Northern Star capacity acquisition, a budget amendment for the Stanton and Tri-Cities 

projects and appointment of a nominating committee for Board Officers. 
 

Information items covered a summary of the Finance Committee’s activity and a postponement 

of the Annual Disclosure training due to the availability of the trainer. 

 

Executive Committee 

 
The Executive Committee approved the rollover of the FGT gas transportation contract. 

 

Information items were reports on the Stock Island fuel leak, an alternative to the North Star 

capacity acquisition (new build) and ARP cost projections. 

 

At current natural gas pricing levels, summer usage costs will be 67% above last year’s cost. The 

summer temperature forecast for North Florida is near normal. 

 

 

Other Energy Resources 
 

Goenring & Rozencwajg 
https://blog.gorozen.com/blog 
 

“Fossil Future” by Alex Epstein 

Page 314

Item #20.

https://blog.gorozen.com/blog


Futures Pricing Drops Substantially After Winter 2023

5

Summer 2023 Averages $4.80 vs. $8.35 for Summer 2022

$2

$3

$4

$5

$6

$7

$8

$9

22
-Ju

n

22
-A

ug

22
-O

ct

22
-D

ec

23
-F

eb

23
-A

pr

23
-Ju

n

23
-A

ug

23
-O

ct

23
-D

ec

24
-F

eb

24
-A

pr

24
-Ju

n

24
-A

ug

24
-O

ct

24
-D

ec

25
-F

eb

25
-A

pr

25
-Ju

n

25
-A

ug

25
-O

ct

25
-D

ec

26
-F

eb

26
-A

pr

26
-Ju

n

26
-A

ug

26
-O

ct

26
-D

ec

$/
M

M
Bt

u

NYMEX Futures Pricing as of Close May 17, 2022

Page 315

Item #20.



Most Natural Gas Use Immune to Price Increases

Power
37%

Industrial
33%

Residential
15%

Commercial
11%

Other
4%

U.S. Natural Gas Use by Sector* Residential
3%

Commercial
2%

Industrial
27%

Transportation
67%

Power
1%

U.S. Oil Use by Sector*

8

Transport Uses of Oil Will Decline on High Prices

*Source: US Energy Information Administration (2021) *Source: US Energy Information Administration (2021)
Page 316

Item #20.



F I R S T  Q U A R T E R  2 0 2 2  - -  M a y  1 8 t h  2 0 2 2
 Goehring & Rozencwajg 
Natural Resource Market Commentary

GOEHRING & 
ROZENCWAJG

 Natural Resource Investors

 1 

“A German retiree facing sky-high energy bills is turning to a wood burning stove. 
The owner of a dry cleaning business in Spain adjusted her employees’ work 
shift to cut electric bills, and a Mayor in France said he is ordering a hiring freeze 
because rising electrical bills threaten a financial ‘catastrophe.’ Europeans have 
long paid some of the world’s highest prices for energy, but no one can remember 
a winter like this one.” Bloomberg February 22, 2022

 “The US has taken further steps to help send more LNG to Europe to replace 
Russian gas, but….it was not immediately clear where the additional 15 bcm of 
gas that the US has agreed to supply to Europe would come from.” Bloomberg 
March 27, 2022

A sudden and unexpected event is about to take place: the “global” natural gas crisis, now 

Table of Contents
The Gas Crisis is Coming to America 
The Commodity Bull Market has Just Begun 
Inflation and Magazine Covers Part III 
Market Commentary 
Out of Spare Capacity 
Catastrophic Agriculture Markets 
Russia and the Uranium Fuel Cycle 
The Time to Buy Gold is Getting Closer 

THE GAS 
CRISIS IS 
COMING TO 
AMERICA

Managing Partners:
LEIGH R. GOEHRING
ADAM A. ROZENCWAJG

Page 317

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  2 

gripping huge swaths of the world, is about to engulf North America as well. 

Asian and European natural gas prices stand at $35 per mmbtu, versus $8.20 per mmbtu 
here in the United States. Given the underlying fundamentals that have now developed in 
US gas markets, we believe prices are about to surge and converge with international prices 
within the next six months. 

The natural gas market outside of North America has been in an extreme shortage since the 
end of last summer. Prices first broke $35 per mmbtu last October, plateaued, and then 
surged again in December, surpassing $50 per mmbtu – equivalent to $300 per barrel oil. 
The problems started in Europe last spring. After a colder-than-normal end to winter across 
most of Europe and Russia, inventories reached dangerously low levels. By midsummer, 
European utilities and industrial consumers turned to global LNG markets seeking additional 
supplies after Russian pipeline imports failed to replenish stockpiles.

Conventional wisdom says that Russia withheld contracted gas throughout the summer; 
however, our analysis shows that Russia fulfilled all its volume requirements. What Russia 
did not do was ship additional gas over and above the contracted levels, preferring instead 
to refill first  its own domestic inventories. 

Strong Asian demand left little additional LNG for other buyers – a danger we warned 
about in our 4Q20 letter. European buyers panicked once they realized they would be unable 
to refill inventories ahead of the winter heating season.  In response  prices surged  five-fold 
higher.

Although North American investors might not be aware, record gas prices have already 
impacted Europe’s economy. Both fertilizer manufacturing and metal smelting facilities 
have been forced to close and governments have offered cash subsidies to help soften the 
blow. European coal demand has hit all-time highs, undoing a decade of CO2 reduction 
efforts in only a few months.

All this occurred before Russia invaded the Ukraine. 

The upheaval impacting international gas markets has largely bypassed North America over 
the last 12 months. US natural gas briefly surpassed $6 per mmbtu last September before 
falling back to $4 by December. At the same time, European gas reached $50 per  mmbtu, 
twelve times higher than in the US. The natural gas crisis gripping huge swaths of the world 
has so far showed little inclination to move across either the Pacific or Atlantic ocean. “Gas 
crisis? What gas crisis?” might be something asked by North American investors today. 

In this essay, we explain why North American investor apathy is foolish. Our models suggest 
the decades-long protection from international price swings, enjoyed by the North American 
gas market, is about to change. Slower-than-expected shale growth will push the US market 
into structural deficit for the first time in 15 years. Almost immediately following the shift, 
US prices will converge with global gas prices. Given today’s $35 per mmbtu international 
gas prices, prices could surge by almost four-fold. 

The unique structure of the North American natural gas market has long protected it from 
foreign influences. Since its development, evolution, and massive expansion in the post 
WW2 period, the US market has been like an island. Gas was produced in the United States, 
and imported via pipeline from Canada or via LNG from any of its five import terminals. 

THE NATURAL GAS CRISIS 
GRIPPING HUGE SWATHS 
OF THE WORLD HAS SO 
FAR SHOWED LITTLE 
INCLINATION TO MOVE 
ACROSS EITHER THE PACIFIC 
OR ATLANTIC OCEAN. “GAS 
CRISIS? WHAT GAS CRISIS?” 
MIGHT BE SOMETHING 
ASKED BY NORTH AMERICAN 
INVESTORS TODAY. 

Page 318

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  3 

Once that gas arrived, however, it was trapped. Small amounts could be exported via pipeline 
to Mexico, but that was it -- no “Lower-48” facility existed to export LNG. Because of its 
island-like structure, international gas fundamentals only marginally impacted US prices, 
which often traded at a huge discount.

Prior to 2016, the US was only a tiny player in global LNG export markets -- a small amount 
was exported from the Kenai Peninsula in Alaska. In just six short years, the US has become 
the world’s largest LNG exporter. Six export facilities currently operate and a seventh, Calca-
sieu Pass, will add an additional 1.7 bcf/d of capacity, bringing total US LNG export capacity 
to 13 bcf/d, surpassing both Qatar and Australia, formerly the world’s two largest LNG 
exporters. 

Even though it is now integrated into the global gas market via LNG, US prices remain 
disconnected from global prices. Why? Surging shale production has far exceeded LNG 
export demand. The US natural gas market has remained in structural surplus even with 
surging LNG exports. That is all about to change. Slowing shale production will cause the 
US to flip from structural surplus to structural deficit. 

The impact of shale gas in the United States cannot be overstated. Prior to the unlocking 
of the Barnett Field in east Texas in the early 2000s, the US was running out of natural gas. 
In 2000, conventional production was 50 bcf/d. By 2005, this had fallen to 45 bcf/d and by 
2010, conventional production was just 40 bcf/d. Even with the big shale ramp up from the 
Barnett, total US production fell from 52.6 bcf /d in 2000 to 49.5 bcf/d by 2005. 

By the late 1990s, the US had become a significant LNG importer. In 2000, the US imported 
approximately 500 mmcf/d. By 2005, this had grown to almost 1.8 bcf/d and by 2007, LNG 
imports peaked at 2.1 bcf/d. The contrast between these two periods (2000 to 2007 and 
2016 to 2021) are amazing. Between 2000 and 2007, natural gas production fell sharply and 
LNG imports into the US surged. Over the last seven years, production has exploded and 
the US has become the world’s largest LNG exporter. Talk about a difference!

The Barnett started ramping up in 2002 and was soon followed by the Fayetteville in 2005. 
The Marcellus and Haynesville began their massive ramp ups in the late 2000s and were 
joined by associated gas from the Bakken, Eagle Ford, DJ, Permian, and Anadarko oil shales. 
Finally, the Utica began its production ramp up in the mid-2010s. 

In 2000, US dry gas production was 52.6 bcf/d and the shales produced little. Today, produc-
tion is 94 bcf/d with nearly 73 bcf/d, or 80%, coming from the shales.

Since 2016, US shale gas production has grown by an incredible 27 bcf/d, more than offset-
ting a 7 bcf/d decline in conventional supply. The 20 bcf/d net increase in supply far 
outstripped the 10 bcf/d of new LNG export demand. Reflecting the surplus over the last 
10 years, US natural gas continues to trade at a material discount to crude oil. A barrel of 
oil has six times the energy content of an mmbtu of natural gas, so the “normal” ratio of oil 
to gas should be 6:1. Instead, the oil to gas ratio averaged 20:1 between 2016 and 2021, even 
as crude prices fell.

The following chart illustrates the impact of the shales. Between 1998 and 2006, before the 
shales were developed, the ratio of oil to gas averaged 8:1 – close to its energy equivalent 
value. The shales ramped up production in 2013 and ever since, the ratio has averaged 20:1. 

Page 319

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  4 

Now compare that to outside of North America, where natural gas trades at an oil-to-gas 
ratio of 3:1. An mmbtu in a barrel of oil today costs approximately $18 outside of North 
America. That same mmbtu in US natural gas costs $8.00. In Europe and Asia, a natural gas 
mmbtu costs $35. In other words, US gas is priced at an energy-equivalent discount of 56% 
to world oil and a 77% discount to world gas.

In our 35 years investing in global energy markets, we have never seen such a wide disparity.

Almost everyone takes it for granted that US gas production will continue to grow strongly 
as we progress through this decade. With production having nearly doubled in the last 10 
years, few analysts bother to even consider underlying shale gas supply issues. But something 
else has happened that receives no comment -- never before has production been concen-
trated in so few fields. Over half of production comes from just three fields. The Marcellus 
and Hayneville produced almost 40% of US gas while associated gas from the Permian oil 
shale takes this to 52%. 

The production profiles of the Marcellus and Haynesville look like this:

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1998 2000 2002 2004 2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020 2022

O
il:

 G
as

 R
at

io

'98-06 Avg: 8:1

'13-22 Avg: 20:1

Source: Bloomberg.

F I G U R E  1 Gold: Oil Ratio

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  2 Marcellus

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

20
00

20
02

20
05

20
08

20
11

20
14

20
17

20
19

20
22

Pr
od

uc
tio

n 
(b

cf
/d

)

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  3 Haynesville

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

20
00

20
02

20
05

20
08

20
11

20
14

20
17

20
19

20
22

Pr
od

uc
tio

n 
(b

cf
/d

)

 IN EUROPE AND ASIA, 
A NATURAL GAS MMBTU 
COSTS $35. IN OTHER 
WORDS, US GAS IS PRICED 
AT AN ENERGY-EQUIVALENT 
DISCOUNT OF 56% TO 
WORLD OIL AND A 77% 
DISCOUNT TO WORLD GAS.
IN OUR 35 YEARS INVESTING 
IN GLOBAL ENERGY 
MARKETS, WE HAVE 
NEVER SEEN SUCH A WIDE 
DISPARITY.

Page 320

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  5 

But how long until they begin to look like this?

The answer will be critical in trying to ascertain the future of US gas prices. The US reached 
13 bcf/d of functional LNG export capacity this year and is now fully integrated into the 
global market where prices are $35 per mmbtu. The moment the US gas market swings from 
even marginal surplus to marginal deficit (i.e., when US demand plus LNG exports exceeds 
production and imported supply), something shocking will take place: almost immediately, 
US prices will converge with global prices. 

Everything comes down to whether the US shales will continue to grow. Given the impor-
tance of the question -- and the fact that the Biden administration pledged another 5 bcf/d 
of LNG to Europe by 2030 -- you would think there would be endless analysis of the three 
shales upon which so much production depends. But if you thought that, you would be 
incorrect. As far as we can tell, while most analysts spend their time debating the interna-
tional geopolitics of gas, they continue to take shale production completely for granted. We 
have not read any recent discussion of the geological or technical challenges facing the 
Marcellus, Haynesville, or Permian, or what their future production capabilities might be. 
These three fields represent over 50% of US production and their growth is critical. 

We believe it’s imperative to understand the future production profiles of these fields. Many 
analysts seem to believe shale growth is almost unlimited. Our analysis tells us something 
quite different. We believe all the fields -- especially the Marcellus and Haynesville -- will 
soon begin to exhibit the first signs of exhaustion, very similar to what happened with the 
Barnett and Fayetteville. 

The Barnett and Fayetteville were the first gas shales to be developed and, despite being 
“unconventional,” exhibited every classic sign of conventional field exhaustion. They ramped 
up, plateaued, peaked, and declined in an orderly fashion. Using this framework, we can 
attempt to understand what the future production profiles of the Marcellus and Haynes-
ville might look like. When will they peak, plateau, and begin to decline? 

The Barnett started producing in the early 2000s and peaked 12 years later at 5.2 bcf/d. The 
field plateaued for two years and then started a sustained, steep decline. Today the Barnett 
produces 1.6 bcf/d, 70% below its peak. Drilling peaked in 2011 at over 80 rigs. Today, only 

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

20
00

20
02

20
05

20
07

20
10

20
12

20
15

20
17

20
20

Pr
od

uc
tio

n 
(b

cf
/d

)

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  4  Barnett

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

20
00

20
02

20
05

20
07

20
10

20
12

20
15

20
17

20
20

Pr
od

uc
tio

n 
(b

cf
/d

)

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  5  Fayetteville

Page 321

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  6 

three rigs operate in the Barnett. 

The Fayetteville ramped up in 2007 and by 2012 production peaked at 3 bcf/d before also 
entering a steep decline. Fayetteville production has fallen 65% from its 2012 peak and today 
is just 1 bcf/d. Drilling peaked in 2011 at 35 rigs and since March 2020 not a single rig has 
operated in the Fayetteville.

Both fields exhibited well-defined “Hubbert Curve” profiles: production resembles a 
bell-shaped curve. (For those unfamiliar with King Hubbert’s work and what a “Hubbert 
Linearization” is,  we have attached  brief descriptions in the appendix.) 

Hubbert believed that oil and gas reservoirs that were developed in an unconstrained manner 
would peak in production once half of their recoverable reserves were produced. By plotting 
a “Hubbert Linearization” of cumulative production to the ratio of production to cumula-
tive production, we can indirectly estimate total recoverable reserves and by extension, peak 
production. The “Hubbert Linearization” for the Barnett and Fayetteville strongly suggest 
total recoverable reserves of 23 tcf and 10 tcf respectively. 

If these estimates are correct, then half of the Barnett’s reserves were produced in 2013 while 
the Fayetteville produced half of its reserves in 2014. Looking at the production profile 
above, both fields began to decline just as half of their reserves had been produced. Given 
the limited drilling in both fields, it is safe to assume that the estimates of recoverable reserves 
from the Hubbert Linearization are now fairly accurate. 

Several years ago, we developed an artificial intelligence neural network to study the shale 
basins. We have constantly refined this model and used it to estimate the total number of 
wells that will ultimately be drilled and to calculate our own expected recoverable reserve 
figure. In the Barnett, we identified 18,000 potential drilling locations of which 15,800 have 
already been drilled, leaving 2,200 remaining locations. Our neural network estimated the 
Barnett would ultimately recover 25 tcf from its 18,000 locations. Furthermore, production 
from the Barnett peaked once exactly half of the neural network’s expected recoverable 
reserves had been produced. Today, with production down 70% we estimate that 21 of the 
25 tcf of recoverable reserves have already been produced, leaving only 15% remaining. Our 
“bottoms up” analysis was within 10% of the Hubbert Linearization “top down” estimate.

In the Fayetteville, we identified 7,000 locations of which 5,600 have been drilled leaving 

0
200
400
600
800

1,000
1,200
1,400

0 5,000 10,000 15,000

Pr
od

 : 
Cu

m
e 

Pr
od

Cumulative Production

Recoverable
Reserves
10 TCF

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

0 10,000 20,000 30,000

Pr
od

: C
um

e 
Pr

od

Cumulative Production

Recoverable
Reserves
23 TCF

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  6  Barnett Linearization

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  7  Fayetteville Linearization

Page 322

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  7 

1,300 remaining wells. Our neural network estimates these 7,000 locations would produce 
11 tcf of total recoverable gas, of which 9.7 tcf or 88% has already been produced. Again, 
our neural network was within 10% of the more indirect Hubbert Linearization method-
ology, and just like the Barnett, production peaked and plateaued within months of half the 
field’s reserves having been produced.

Next, we focused on only the best wells and   we noticed another  very interesting  trend. 
We used our neural network to analyze every acre and to  distinguish the best “Tier 1” areas 
from the lower-quality “Tier 2” locations. Both the Barnett and Fayetteville rolled over once 
60% of their best wells were developed. It is interesting to note that drilling activity peaked 
in both fields approximately two years before production declines. Operators likely found 
it harder and harder to source top-quality Tier 1 locations and this showed up in drilling 
behavior well before it showed up in the production numbers.

We applied this analysis to both the Marcellus and Haynesville to estimate where both fields 
stand regarding their production and when they might start to decline. According to the 
Hubbert Linearization, the Marcellus will eventually recover 130 tcf of natural gas, making 
it by far the largest shale basin. Our neural network identified 16,500 drilling locations of 
which 12,300 have been drilled, leaving 4,200 remaining. The neural network estimates these 
16,500 locations will ultimately recover 135 tcf – within 5% of the Hubbert Linearization. 
Looking at the production profile, the Marcellus has clearly not plateaued; however, that 
day is likely closer than anyone expects. To date, the Marcellus has produced 65 tcf of our 
estimated 135 tcf of total recoverable reserves – or 48%. The Barnett and Fayetteville both 
plateaued once they hit 50% of total reserves, and according to our models,  this would 
occur as we speak. Using the Hubbert Linearization, we can predict that Marcellus might 
peak as soon as June, at only 100 mmcf/d higher than today.

After plateauing, when could the Marcellus actually roll over? So far, it has completed 45% 
of its Tier 1 wells and, according to our models, has 1,500 remaining locations left before 
it will have completed 60% of its best wells – the point at which both the Barnett and Fayette-
ville went from plateau to steep decline. Using what we learned from the Barnett and Fayette-
ville, the Marcellus will likely stop growing within the next 12 months and given today’s 
completion activity will likely begin its period of steep decline in 2025. Also of interest to 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

20
00

20
02

20
05

20
07

20
10

20
12

20
15

20
17

20
20

60% Tier 1
Drilled

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

0.0

0.5

1.0

1.5

2.0

2.5

3.0

3.5

20
00

20
02

20
05

20
07

20
10

20
12

20
15

20
17

20
20

60% Tier 1
Drilled

Source: EIA, G&R Models.

F I G U R E  8  Barnett Tier 1

Source: EIA, G&R Models.

F I G U R E  9  Fayetteville Tier 1

Page 323

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  8 

note  is that the Marcellus’s rig count peaked out in the summer of 2019 at 68 rigs—today 
the rig count sits at only 39 rigs.  Is the declining rig count tipping us off that production 
declines are rapidly approaching, just like what happened in the Barnett and Fayetteville?

The Haynesville is more complicated because its production ramped up and rolled over 
before surging again. A Hubbert Linearization is visually  impossible  given the “noise” over 
the past several years. However, our neural network is able to handle this production and 
drilling variability easily. We estimate there are 11,500 drilling locations of which 6,800 have 
been completed, leaving 4,600 remaining locations. Our neural network estimates total 
recoverable reserves at 73 tcf of which 30 tcf have been produced – or 41%. Based upon our 
models, the Haynesville will have produced 50% of its recoverable reserves by October 2023 
at a rate only 500 mmcf/d higher than today. Nearly 47% of Tier 1 wells have been drilled 
in the Haynesville, suggesting a degree of high-grading is underway. At today’s rate of Tier 
1 completion, we believe the Haynesville will reach 60% Tier 1 development by late 2024. 
In other words, the Haynesville will take somewhat longer to plateau but will then begin its 
steep decline more quickly thereafter – more like the Barnett than the Fayetteville.

Even if we are off by 20% in our recoverable reserve estimates (which we do not think we 
are), the Marcellus and Haynesville peak will only be pushed out by one year. Given the 
declines in the rest of the shale basins and in conventional production, this will still not be 
enough to avoid swinging the US natural gas market from structural surplus to structural 
deficit. 

Most investors can only extrapolate a trend. In this case, the trend has been near endless 
growth from the shale gas basins. The idea that gas supply could falter and as a result that 
US gas prices could nearly instantly rise four-fold is completely off any investors’ radar. And 
yet, this is exactly what our models are telling us could happen within the next six months.

The world has enjoyed a decade of cheap, abundant energy and nowhere has that been truer 
than in US natural gas. We consume nearly as much energy via natural gas as we do via crude 
oil, although it is usually an afterthought. The rest of the world is in the midst of an acute 
gas shortage that has grabbed everyone’s attention. We believe the same is about to happen 
in the US -- much faster than anyone realizes.

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

20
00

20
03

20
07

20
10

20
14

20
17

20
21

20
24

20
28

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

0 50,000 100,000 150,000

Pr
od

 : 
Cu

m
e 

Pr
od

Cumulative Production

Recoverable
Reserves
135 TCF

Source: EIA.

F I G  1 0  Marcellus Linearization

Source: EIA, G&R Models.

F I G U R E  1 1  Marcellus Tier 1

Page 324

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  9 

The Commodity Bull Market 
Has Only Just Begun
One of the most frequent questions we get asked regarding this commodity bull market is: 
“Have I missed it? Is it too late to make an investment in natural resources?”

From our base of younger investors, we frequently get questions such as this: “I have been 
reading your material for the last two years and I started getting heavily involved in the 
commodity markets and I have made a lot of money. Is the top near? Should I sell out? Is 
this commodity bull market over?”

Given the big moves in various commodity markets since the summer of 2020, it is logical 
to ask these questions. But our response to all these questions is going to be a real shocker. 
Not only is the commodity bull market not over, it has hardly begun. Look carefully at the 
chart below. 

We first ran this chart on the front page of our 2Q2017 letter. This chart shows the returns 
of the Goldman Sachs commodity index versus the level of the US stock market, as measured 
by the Dow Jones Industrial Average. Although the Goldman Sachs commodity index was 
only constructed in 1971, we reconstructed it going all the way back to 1900. As you can 
see, commodities and financial equities have both traded in long cycles that are usually 
inversely related. Over the last 130 years, there have been four times when commodity 
markets became radically undervalued versus the stock market: 1929, the late 1960s, the 
late 1990s, and today. After each period of radical undervaluation, commodities entered 
into large bull markets and then proceeded to become radically overvalued. If you had 
invested in commodities or commodity related equities in any of these three previous periods, 
the returns on both an absolute and related returns basis were huge -- even in the 1930s. 
Constructing a natural resources equity portfolio that consisted of 25% energy, 25% metals 
and mining, 25% precious metals, and 25% agriculture would have significantly beaten the 
stock market in each of these cycles. 

For example, had you invested in such a natural resource portfolio in 1929, your return 
would have been 122% by 1940,  which doesn’t sound like much, but compared to the 
Depression ravaged stock market, the returns were almost spectacularly good. Between 1929 
and 1940, the stock market fell 50%.  Also, the  1930’s was a period of chronic deflation and 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

19
00

19
03

19
06

19
09

19
12

19
15

19
18

19
21

19
24

19
27

19
30

19
33

19
36

19
39

19
42

19
45

19
48

19
51

19
54

19
57

19
60

19
63

19
66

19
69

19
72

19
75

19
78

19
81

19
84

19
87

19
90

19
93

19
96

19
99

20
02

20
05

20
08

20
11

20
14

20
17

20
20

20
23

In
de

x 
(1

90
0 

= 
10

0) Commodities overvalued

Commodities undervalued

Source: Bloomberg, G&R Models.

F I G U R E  12  Commodities vs. Dow Jones Industrial Avg.

Page 325

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  10 

consumer prices fell over 20% between 1930 and 1940.  In real terms, commodity prices 
(and related equities) offered real returns of almost 180% -- not bad in a period that included 
one of the greatest bear markets in history and a full-blown banking crisis that required the 
temporary suspension of the world financial system. 

In 1970, a similarly constructed natural resource equities portfolio would have returned 
400% by 1980, a return that handily beat the stock market which returned only 80% for the 
decade. Inflation was a huge problem in the 1970s and consumer prices advanced almost 
130% for those 10 years. Natural resources not only provided excellent relative returns versus 
the stock market, but they provided investors with nominal returns far above the inflation 
rate as well. 

And finally in 2000, a similarly constructed natural resources equity portfolio would have 
returned 360% between 1999 and 2010, significantly outperforming both the stock market, 
which returned nothing during that time period, and the inflation rate, which advanced 
35% over those 10 years. Even though the 1999-2010 time period saw both the breaking of 
the “Dot-Com” stock market bubble, the Lehman Brothers financial collapse, and a global 
banking  crisis,  commodities again provided excellent returns relative to financial assets, as 
well as excellent returns relative to inflation. 

These three periods couldn’t have been more different: the 1930s were a period of deflation 
and global depression; the 1970s were a period of severe inflation and worries over currency 
debasement; and the 2000s were a little bit of everything including a stock market collapse, 
a global financial panic, and an oil price spike not seen since the 1970s. For those interested 
in the links joining these three periods together, please read “On the Verge of a Commodity 
Cycle” that appeared in our 3Q20 letter. That essay is a reprint of a presentation we made at 
the August 19, 2020 Finanz and Wirtschaft conference in Zurich, Switzerland. These three 
great commodity buying opportunities were all characterized not only by cheap commodity 
prices, but by the recurrence of four other events. 

First, prior to each commodity buying opportunity was a decades-long commodity bear 
market that produced price declines so severe that capital spending in many extractive indus-
tries was impaired. Second, each period was characterized by excessive monetary creation. 
Third, all three periods saw intense financial speculation. And fourth, each period saw a 
major shift in global monetary regimes. All four conditions are once again present today 
and, in many instances, they are far greater in magnitude than in any of the previous three 
cycles. 

It is no coincidence that commodity related investments have begun to radically outper-
form general equity markets. Since January 1, 2021, the natural resource equity portfolio 
construction above has returned 70%, far outstripping the S&P 500’s 14% return over the 
same period.  Commodity prices remain radically undervalued relative to financial assets 
and we have great confidence that we will swing from commodities being radically under-
valued to commodities being radically overvalued relative to financial assets at some point 
in this decade. What will that radically overvalued level be? If the stock market stays at 
present levels, commodity prices would have to surge 600% to become overvalued relative 
to the stock market. If the stock market falls 50%, commodity prices would still have to rise 
250% for our chart to enter “radially overvalued” territory. 

The biggest risk for investors is selling too soon. From the bottom in 2020, the ratio of 

IF THE STOCK MARKET 
STAYS AT PRESENT LEVELS, 
COMMODITY PRICES WOULD 
HAVE TO SURGE 600% TO 
BECOME OVERVALUED 
RELATIVE TO THE STOCK 
MARKET. IF THE STOCK 
MARKET FALLS 50%, 
COMMODITY PRICES WOULD 
STILL HAVE TO RISE 250% 
FOR OUR CHART TO ENTER 
“RADIALLY OVERVALUED” 
TERRITORY. 
THE BIGGEST RISK FOR 
INVESTORS IS SELLING TOO 
SOON. 

Page 326

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  11 

commodities to the Dow Jones Industrial Average has rallied by 40%. Using history, we can 
compare this move to past cycles. The ratio bottomed in December 1968 and by November 
1970 had advanced by 40% -- commodities by 10% while the market fell by 16%. Many 
investors may have wanted to sell at that point; however the rally was just beginning. Over 
the next nine years, commodities rallied another 156% and commodity stocks rallied another 
400%. Had you sold in 1970 after the index advanced 40%, you would have missed 90% of 
the rally. In 1999, the index bottomed in June and advanced 40% over the next 12 months 
– commodities advanced by 33% and the market fell by 4%. At that point, oil was $32 on 
its way to $145, gold was $289 on its way to over $1,000. Over the next 10 years, commod-
ities rallied 150% and resource stocks rallied by 325%. Again, if you had sold in 2000 once 
the ratio advanced 40%, you would have missed 95% of the rally.

As you can see, commodities still have to surge multiple times in price from here before they 
become overvalued. Given the huge amount of monetary creation that has taken place over 
the last 14 years and, given that inflation psychology is about to grip both consumers and 
investors alike, we have great confidence that we are about to transverse from one side of 
this chart to the other. The great commodity bull market has only started, and investors 
should us use any resource market pullback as an opportunity to increase their exposure.   

 

Inflation and Magazine Covers Part III
On April 20th, 2019, Bloomberg/BusinessWeek magazine published an issue entitled “Is 
Inflation Dead?” with a dead dinosaur prominently displayed on the cover. The thrust of 
the cover story was that inflation had become extinct and investors should position themselves 
accordingly. 

The cover story in our 1Q2019 letter was titled: “The Bell Has Been Run: The Contrarian 
Power of Magazine Covers.” We discussed why the April 2019 article was the perfect “bookend” 
to the infamous BusinessWeek cover story, “The Death of Equities: How Inflation is Destroying 
the Stock Market,” published back in August 1979. Just as the 1979 cover predicted that 
inflationary problems would never go away, the 2019 cover told investors that inflation 

F I G U R E  13  Magazine Covers

Page 327

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  12 

would never return. The message in our cover story was simple: after declining for 40 years, 
inflation was about to return with a vengeance. 

In our essay, we discussed the relevance of business magazine cover stories and the strong 
contrarian investment signal they often send.  The 1979 BusinessWeek cover story was in a 
league of its own.    If investors had done the opposite of what that cover story recommended, 
they would have become wealthy.  Every investment projection made in that 1979 Business-
Week issue proved to be incorrect.  Instead of betting that inflation was about to worsen, 
investors should have bet that inflation was about to peak and then spend the next 40 years 
declining. Instead of buying inflationary hard assets, investors should have unloaded them 
as quickly as possible. Instead of selling stocks and bonds, investors should have taken the 
1979 BusinessWeek cover story as a golden opportunity to literally “backup the truck” and 
buy as many financial assets as their margin accounts allowed. 

We speculated in our essay that the 2019 Bloomberg/BusinessWeek cover story would be 
as important (and wrong) as the 1979 cover story and that investors should use its strong 
contrarian signal to significantly increase their exposure to hard, inflationary-sensitive assets 
-- an asset class that had become as unpopular as stocks and bonds were when the first 
BusinessWeek cover story was published over 40 years ago. 

In our 1Q2020 letter, we reminded our readers about the magazine cover and how the 
massive explosion in government spending and the Federal Reserve’s balance sheet, all in 
response to the deepening COVID-19 crisis, practically guaranteed an upcoming infla-
tionary surge. 

One of the funny things about business magazine covers is that in the short term their 
predictions are often perceived as correct. Three years passed between the publication of 
the 1979 BusinessWeek cover story and the beginning of the great bull market in stocks. 
The Financial Times ran its very famous “The Death of Gold” cover story on November 
1998 and again three years passed before the great gold bull market commenced. If the same 
time-lag materialized again, we predicted that three years might pass before accelerating 
inflation become a recognized problem. Global inflation began to unexpectedly accelerate 
last May and by March 2022 the US consumer price index hit 8.5% -- a rate not seen in 40 
years -- exactly three years after the publication of the 2019 cover story. Everyone now under-
stands the severity of our inflation problems. Even the US Federal Reserve, which spent all 

Source: Bloomberg.

F I G U R E  14  Extrapolating a Trend

-1%

4%

9%

14%

19
54

19
57

19
60

19
63

19
66

19
69

19
72

19
75

19
78

19
81

19
84

19
87

19
90

19
93

19
96

19
99

20
02

20
05

20
08

20
11

20
14

20
17

20
20

CP
I Y

oY

Death of Equities
August 1979

Is Inflation Dead?
April 2019

Page 328

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  13 

of last year predicting that inflationary pressures were “transitory”, now admits the problem 
is real. 

We believe today’s inflationary pressures are neither transitory nor moderate. We believe 
inflation will intensify as we progress through the decade. The 1979 BusinessWeek cover 
story declared that inflation and poor financial returns would extend far into the future. 
Why did they predict that? The reason is simple. As the chart shows below, inflation and 
interest rates had been rising for the previous 40 years. All the BusinessWeek editors did was 
express confidence in a trend that had been in place for two generations. 

Not only did the 1979 cover story tip investors off that a huge trend reversal was fast 
approaching, but also that a powerful new trend, lasting far longer than anyone thought, 
was about to start. The decline of inflation, the fall of interest rates, and the surge in the 
prices of financial assets have been happening for 40 years. And just the like in August 1979, 
the April 2019 Bloomberg/BusinessWeek cover story sent investors an incredibly strong 
contrarian signal that not only was a huge trend reversal about to take place, but that infla-
tion was about to return as a serious problem that could last for decades. 

The deflationary trend of the last 40 years is now over. A new inflationary trend is in place 
and will last longer and carry on farther than anyone expects. Huge changes in investment 
flows are about to take place with large implications. Although inflation-sensitive assets 
have already begun to radically outperform bonds and the general stock market, investors’ 
interests in these assets remains subdued. Pundits, market analysts, and investors remain in 
a state of confusion and hope that the trends of the previous cycle will return. Very few 
market commentators or investors have taken serious steps to protect themselves from the 
massive trend change that has now taken place. 

Given the significant amount of money printed and the huge amount of debt now accumu-
lated throughout the world, we believe the trend change in inflation as telegraphed by the 
2019 BusinessWeek cover story will last decades. We also believe the recent outperformance 
of inflation-sensitive assets will last for years as well. There is still plenty of opportunity to 
not only protect yourself from the ravages of inflation, but to profit by it as well. 

Natural Resource Market Commentary 
Following the February 24th Russian invasion of Ukraine, commodity prices staged their 
strongest advance in over 30 years. Throughout 2021, commodity prices had moved up as 
strong demand was met with a limited supply response, but investors paid little attention.   
Invasion related supply disruptions and resulting price jolts forced investors, for the first 
time, to confront and recognize these severe underlying tightening forces. 

The advance was broad-based across most commodity and natural resource equity markets. 
The Goldman Sachs commodity index, which is heavily weighted toward energy, advanced 
an extremely strong 29%. The Rodger’s International Commodity Index, which has much 
higher exposure to agriculture and metals, rose 27%. The S&P North American Natural 
Resource stock index, which is very heavily weighted towards large capitalization energy 
names, rose 29%, and the S&P Global Natural Resource Index, which has much higher 

THE DEFLATIONARY TREND 
OF THE LAST 40 YEARS 
IS NOW OVER. A NEW 
INFLATIONARY TREND IS 
IN PLACE AND WILL LAST 
LONGER AND CARRY ON 
FARTHER THAN ANYONE 
EXPECTS. HUGE CHANGES 
IN INVESTMENT FLOWS ARE 
ABOUT TO TAKE PLACE WITH 
LARGE IMPLICATIONS.

Page 329

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  14 

metal and agricultural equity exposure, rose 16%.  In comparison, the general stock market, 
as measured by the S&P 500 stock index fell 4.6% for the quarter. 

The global energy crisis continued to gather strength during the quarter as prices continued 
their advance from last year. Oil prices surged 38%, reaching a peak of almost $125 per barrel 
just after the Russian invasion. After pulling back at the end of 2021, natural gas prices both 
here in the US and abroad resumed leadership positions. Led by colder than normal weather 
forecasts, US gas prices surged over 50%. European natural gas prices, driven by fears of 
interruptions in Russian supply, surged by well over 200% during the quarter, hitting almost 
$70 per mmbtu (or $400 per barrel in oil terms) before pulling back in the second half of 
March. By the end of the quarter, both European and Asian prices pulled back to $40 and 
$35 per mmbtu respectively, or $240 and $200 per barrel of oil equivalent.

Driven by the continued strength in global natural gas prices, international coal prices 
surged. Australian and South African seaborne thermal coal prices spiked to almost $450 
per tonne during the quarter, vastly exceeding their old record-breaking cycle highs of $150 
per tonne set back during the last coal bull market, which ended in 2011. 

We continue to believe this energy crisis has many years left to run, and profits remain 
immense for investors establishing positions today. The US natural gas market will be the 
next energy market to fall into full-blown crisis. We remain wildly bullish on North American 
natural gas and we continue to recommend large exposure to natural gas focused E&P 
companies. Even after their big runs in 2021 and into the first quarter of 2022, natural gas 
related equites are priced extremely cheap. In no way do these stocks incorporate $4.00 per 
mmbtu gas, let alone today’s $8 price. As the natural gas bull market unfolds, these stocks 
still offer tremendous upside profit potential. 

Global oil inventories continue their highly unusual counter-cyclical draw, and demand, 
even with the Russian invasion of the Ukraine and the Chinese COVID lockdown, remains 
incredibly strong. In the January “Oil Market Report,” the IEA revised up its 2021 demand 
estimate by almost 1 mm b/d, their largest single demand revision ever. Missing barrels still 
exist in the latest IEA supply-demand numbers, suggesting the IEA’s demand figures will be 
revised higher again. 

The United States has resorted to releasing a massive 180 mm barrels of oil from its strategic 
petroleum reserves (drawing it down another 30%) and this will be joined by another 60 
additional barrels by other OECD countries over the next six months. Although the news 
of these releases has caused oil to pull back by $10 per barrel over the last several weeks, we 
believe the release does little to change the underlying supply trends now embedded in 
global oil markets. 

Grain prices surged in Q1 on threats of supply disruptions from both Ukraine and Russia. 
Although Ukraine and Russia combined produce only 15% of world wheat and 5% of world 
corn, their presence in global export markets is much higher. Russia and Ukraine make up 
30% of global wheat exports and 15% of global corn exports.

Wheat prices surged the most during the quarter, rising by over 30% and setting a new 
all-time high. Corn advanced 26%, narrowly missing an all-time high while soybeans rose 
22%. As our readers know, we have warned repeatedly that a substantial global agricultural 
crisis loomed in the not too distant future. It has emerged with a vengeance. Extremely 

Page 330

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  15 

strong global grain demand has collided with a myriad of supply problems. In the Agricul-
tural section of this letter we discuss the supply problems, and focus on the rapidly intensi-
fying global fertilizer crisis and the impact on 2022-2023 crop yields.

Precious metals continue to lag overall natural resource markets. Gold advanced 6%, silver 
advanced 12%, and platinum advanced 3%. Gold stocks rose 20%, but silver stocks actually 
fell 1% during the quarter. Palladium was the strongest performer, advancing 20% -- not 
surprising given Russia produces almost 40% of world supply. We turned neutral on the 
precious metals complex back in the summer of 2020 after silver’s furious catch up rally and 
since then we have been sitting on the sidelines with minimal exposure. The Precious Metals 
section of the letter discusses the various underlying trends that signal to us why the next 
great precious metals bull market is rapidly approaching. 

Base metals were also strong during the quarter. Nickel led the base metal complex with a 
58% gain. Supply disruptions in Russia, combined with projected strong battery demand, 
pushed prices higher. Potential Russian aluminum supply disruptions pushed prices up 
almost 25% during the quarter. Russia produces 6% of primary aluminum supply. Zinc prices 
rose 18% while copper lagged the base metal complex, rising only 7%. Copper continues to 
be our favorite metal. Copper mine problems, a subject that we discussed at length in previous 
letters, have become a critical issue. Chile, by far the world’s largest producer with over 25% 
of world mine supply, saw a large unanticipated drop in the first quarter. According to the 
World Bureau of Metal Statistics (WBMS), Chile’s copper production fell over 7% in the 
first two months of 2022 versus 2021. Water problems, labor shortages, social unrest, and 
ongoing falling ore grades, all contributed to the shortfall. Chile’s mine supply could contract 
by almost 300 tonnes this year, falling back to levels not seen since 2012. 

On a global basis, copper mine supply will barely grow in 2022, despite an impressive number 
of new projects scheduled to come on line this year. Kamoa Kakula Phase 2 and Quebrada 
Blanca Phase 2 will each add 100,000 tonnes of new production. Anglo American’s large 
Quellaveco mine in Peru will commence operation and could ultimately produce 150,000 
tonnes of mine supply. Finally, the expansion of the huge Spence mine in Chile could add 
75,000 tonnes. However, all this new mine supply will be offset by depletion issues now 
firmly embedded in legacy global copper mine supply. On balance we believe 2022 will show 
little in the way of net mine supply growth. 

Copper demand remains very strong. For the first two months of 2022 -- the latest data we 
have available -- copper demand grew by 5% year-over-year. China, the world’s largest copper 
consumer, grew 6% year-over-year while India (which we believe is now following China’s 
footsteps regarding copper consumption) registered an 8% jump. Russia saw a huge increase 
in copper consumption in the first two months of 2022, almost doubling year-over-year 
according to WBMS data. 

Copper inventories have rebounded slightly but remain near their 2021 historic lows. In our 
last letter we wrote that combined copper inventories on the Shanghai, London Metal 
Exchange (LME), and COMEX, when adjusted for days of consumption, had fallen to 
levels not seen since 2005, just before copper staged its huge three-fold increase in price. 
Since then, combined copper inventories on these three exchanges rose by approximately 
100,000 tonnes to 280,000 tonnes, but remain extremely low compared with historical levels. 
In 2005, exchange inventories covered only two days of global demand. By the end of 2021, 

Page 331

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  16 

this had reached three days – nearly as low as in 2005. Currently, inventories cover four days 
of demand – still extremely low. To put these numbers in perspective, in 2018 exchange 
inventories covered daily consumption by 15 days. We remain extremely bullish towards 
copper and believe prices are heading much higher. Investors should maintain significant 
exposure to copper related equities. 

Uranium prices rose by nearly 30% over the quarter and are now at the highest levels in eight 
years. Please read our Uranium section where we explain the potential implications of Russia’s 
invasion of Ukraine on uranium markets.

Out of Spare Capacity
Between 2010 and 2020 the world grew accustomed to cheap, abundant conventional energy. 
Global energy markets were so well supplied for so long that neither investors nor consumers 
gave energy markets much thought. We were one of the few warning that an impending 
energy shortage and crisis would emerge in the next several years. The calm of the past decade 
has been turned upside down seemingly overnight. Conventional wisdom holds that today’s 
energy shortage is the result of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine; however, we strongly believe 
this is incorrect. While Russia’s invasion has made the energy shortage much worse in the 
short term, the underlying problems have been building for many years and cannot be easily 
remedied.

Our biggest short term problem is that we are now running out of spare oil pumping capacity. 
In every prior energy shortage, including the dual oil crises of the 1970s and the rally of 
2008, OPEC maintained ample spare capacity that could quickly be brought online. In past 
letters, we explained why the second half of 2022 would mark the first time in history that 
global demand bumped up against total pumping capacity. 

As we begin to run out of spare capacity, we are only starting to see what that world looks 
like and, unfortunately, investors still do not appreciate the huge impact this will have. Energy 
related equities have now significantly outperformed the general stock market over the last 
two years and yet, investor interest remains extremely low. As far as we can tell, few inves-
tors have repositioned their portfolios at all. 

Internally, we have discussed what we should expect to see as the world runs out of spare 
pumping capacity. Although extremely challenging and uncertain, we find it valuable to lay 
out a roadmap with mile makers that we should expect to pass if our premise is correct. We 
agreed that if we are in fact running out of spare capacity, we should see a series of large 
releases from strategic petroleum reserves. On March 31st 2022, President Biden announced 
he would release a record 1 m b/d for six months from the SPR. Other countries followed 
suit and agreed to release another 1 m b/d for at least two months.

Historically, SPR releases have been unsuccessful in reducing oil prices and instead are an 
indication that the physical crude market is exceptionally tight. The larger the release, the 
tighter the market. The recent announcement from the US and the rest of the International 
Energy Agency (IEA) member countries is by far the largest coordinated SPR release in 
history and we believe confirms our thesis that the oil market has fundamentally changed. 

WHILE RUSSIA’S INVASION 
HAS MADE THE ENERGY 
SHORTAGE MUCH WORSE 
IN THE SHORT TERM, THE 
UNDERLYING PROBLEMS HAVE 
BEEN BUILDING FOR MANY 
YEARS AND CANNOT BE EASILY 
REMEDIED.

Page 332

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  17 

On the surface, the releases were blamed on the war in Ukraine; however, we believe the 
true reason is something much more fundamental: if we are running out of spare capacity 
at some point, oil must be released from the SPRs. 

There is no doubt the conflict in Ukraine is making energy matters worse; however, it’s not 
the complete story. The war in Ukraine is only eight weeks old while the crude market has 
been in sustained (albeit not widely appreciated) deficit for nearly two years. If we want to 
ultimately fix today’s energy crisis, we must acknowledge its underlying causes. The record 
deficit we are now experiencing is the result of a decade of chronic underinvestment combined 
with relentlessly strong demand. Unfortunately, reversing these factors will take years—an 
easy and quick fix to the energy crisis is nearly impossible. 

OECD inventories (a good proxy for global inventories) peaked at the height of COVID-19 
related restrictions in July 2020 at 4.8 bn bbl – 380 mm bbl above the 10-year seasonal 
average. Just as global inventories peaked -- along with bearish investor sentiment -- we wrote 
that we were on the verge of an energy crisis. Demand was likely to rebound much faster 
than supply, pushing oil markets into severe deficit and resulting in strong inventory 
drawdowns. Since then, inventories collapsed by 1.2 m b/d, the fastest sustained rate in 
history. In their latest release, the IEA estimates that OECD inventories ended February at 
less than 4.1 bn bbl, the lowest absolute level since 2007 and the lowest level relative to 
10-year seasonal averages since our dataset begins in 1980. This all took place before Russia 
invaded Ukraine on February 24th.

More recent data from the Energy Information Agency (EIA) shows US inventories drew 
counter seasonally again in March and April and that in recent weeks these draws acceler-
ated from 1 m b/d to 1.8 m b/d. Given that the US makes up nearly 50% of total OECD 
inventories, we expect upcoming data releases will confirm global deficits are quickly getting 
much worse.

The term structure of WTI and Brent are both signaling extreme physical market tightness. 
Under normal circumstances a commodity contract for delivery in the future will trade at 
a premium to the prompt month contract, reflecting the costs of capital and storage. In 
periods of acute shortage, physical traders are willing to pay a premium for prompt delivery, 
pulling the near-term contract above the later-month contract – a situation known as 
backwardation. Currently, physical markets are so tight that traders are willing to pay a 

-200

-100

0

100

200

300

400

500

19
96

19
97

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
19

20
20

20
21

Source: IEA, Bloomberg.

F I G U R E  15  OECD Petroleum Inventory vs. 10-Year Average

Page 333

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  18 

record $17 premium (or nearly 15%) for oil delivered promptly compared to a year from 
now. We have never seen this level of anxiety or market tightness.

Years of underinvestment in upstream oil and gas projects has produced the present deficit. 
Trying to reverse this shortfall will take years of upstream capital spending at rates double 
and triple of what we are spending today. Until we reverse this shortfall in upstream capital 
spending, we will not fix the underlying problem. 

The oil industry is inherently cyclical: high prices lead to strong profitability which attracts 
investment and ultimately leads to surplus production. Prices then fall, hurting profitability 
and pushing capital out of the industry. Ultimately shortages arise once depletion takes 
hold. At the end of the last energy bull market in 2010, inventors worried that “peak supply” 
would lead to persistent shortages. Crude averaged almost $100 per barrel between 2010 
and 2014 and capital poured into an E&P industry that was busy developing the nascent 
US shale oil fields. Between 2010 and 2019 production grew from nothing to over 9 mm 
b/d. If the shales were a country, they would have gone from no production to being the 
world’s third largest producer in just 10 years, behind only Saudi Arabia and Russia. The 
shales produced more oil than all of Europe, Central and South America combined. It is 
not an exaggeration to say the shales were the most important oil development since the 
Saudi super major fields, led by Ghawar, in the early 1950s. 

Oil began to collapse at the end of 2014 and capital began flowing out of the sector. Oil and 
gas capital spending fell by over 60% between 2010 and 2020. Investment in the US shales 
fell by over 70%. Over that entire period, the cumulative reduction in capital spending 
compared to trend was more than $1 tr. 

Over the same period, ESG concerns came to grip the global investor community. We 
believe much of the capital needed to build renewable projects was diverted away from 
upstream oil and gas investment. Unfortunately, wind and solar are intermittent sources of 
power that suffer from very poor energy efficiency. Lithium-ion batteries, necessary for both 
buffering intermittent renewables and powering electric vehicles, are also extremely energy 
intensive to mine and manufacture. Our research tells us that neither wind, solar nor electric 
vehicles, because of their poor energy efficiency, will live up to their promise of replacing 
oil and gas. Please see our 4Q2021 letter where we discuss the limitations of wind and solar. 
We now know the incredible growth of shale oil (and shale gas), and the resultant downward 

-$30

-$20

-$10

$0

$10

$20

Source: Bloomberg.

F I G U R E  16  12 Month WTI Backwardation

YEARS OF UNDERINVESTMENT 
IN UPSTREAM OIL AND GAS 
PROJECTS HAS PRODUCED 
THE PRESENT DEFICIT. 
TRYING TO REVERSE THIS 
SHORTFALL WILL TAKE YEARS 
OF UPSTREAM CAPITAL 
SPENDING AT RATES DOUBLE 
AND TRIPLE OF WHAT WE ARE 
SPENDING TODAY. UNTIL WE 
REVERSE THIS SHORTFALL 
IN UPSTREAM CAPITAL 
SPENDING, WE WILL NOT FIX 
THE UNDERLYING PROBLEM. 

Page 334

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  19 

pressure it put on oil and gas prices, fooled investors into thinking they could divert huge 
amounts of capital into unproductive renewable projects without any consequences. What 
are those consequences and how painful are they going to be? We are only now beginning 
to find out. 

In a normal cycle, falling inventory levels, rising prices, and improved profitability would 
have attracted capital back into the industry by now. Instead, ESG commitments made over 
the past several years are keeping capital from reentering the oil and gas industry, making 
the production problems much worse. Oil prices are at 15-year highs and natural gas in 
Europe and Asia are setting new records and yet E&P capital spending is still down 50% 
from the peak with shale spending down 60%. Despite record free cash flow, companies 
prefer to return capital through dividends and share buybacks rather than drill new wells. 
Several E&P executives were brought before Congress last fall and criticized for not doing 
more to curtail their fossil fuel production. These same companies were called to Washington 
again in April and asked why they were not producing more. Unfortunately, the impact of 
many years of anti-fossil fuel rhetoric cannot be undone overnight.

Another major issue facing the energy industry is that, although the shale resource is extremely 
large, it is ultimately finite just like any other conventional field. Like a conventional resource, 
a shale basin ramps up early in its life then plateaus and ultimately declines. We were among 
the first to intensely study the concept of shale depletion as early as 2019 and we concluded 
their best days were likely past. This was an incredibly important conclusion given the US 
shale basins represented nearly 90% of all non-OPEC+ growth between 2010 and 2019. In 
our 4Q2019 letter, we laid out our research and predicted that shale growth would begin 
to falter, causing the global crude market to slip into deficit. So far this is exactly what has 
happened.

We built an artificial neural network to understand the factors driving shale productivity 
growth. Immediately, we realized the industry was preferentially drilling its best wells – a 
process known as high-grading. Instead of improving their drilling techniques (a common 
industry story at the time) and turning Tier 2 areas into Tier 1 wells, the E&P industry was 
drilling out the cores of the shale basins at ever-faster rates. We argued that as companies 
drilled out their Tier 1 inventory, well productivity would soon begin falling, making it far 
more difficult for the shale basins to grow. 

To understand the importance of drilling productivity, we put forth these real-life examples. 
Consider the best county in each of the Big 3 shale basins: Karnes County in the Eagle Ford, 
Mountrail County in the Bakken, and Midland County in the Permian. Each of these 
counties are prime Tier 1 acreage with wells that enjoy production rates nearly twice the 
average Tier 2 well. Karnes County is 750 square miles. Assuming 6,000 foot laterals and 
800 foot lateral spacing, there are at most 3,800 drilling locations representing 23 mm lateral 
feet of wellbore. To date, we estimate 18 mm of the 23 mm lateral feet have been drilled – 
or nearly 85%. Out of 3,800 top tier Karnes drilling locations, only 400 remain undrilled 
today.

Mountrail County, home to the best wells in the Bakken, is larger at 1,900 square miles. 
Assuming 9,000 foot laterals and 1,300 feet between wells, there is room for at most 3,200 
wells in the county totaling 27 mm lateral feet of well bore. So far 19 mm lateral feet have 
been drilled or 70% of the total. Of 3,200 locations only 700 remain today.

Page 335

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  20 

Production from both counties peaked all the way back in 2015, and despite big increases 
in oil prices between 2016 and 2018, and again today, neither Karnes nor Mountrail counties 
have been able to grow production. 

Both counties saw production ramp, plateau, ultimately make a second peak, and then roll 
over. Today both counties remain 50,000 b/d below their pre-Covid level. As these basins 
run out of undrilled locations, operators have been forced to look to lower quality parts of 
the basin, hurting productivity. In the Bakken, per well productivity peaked in December 
2019 and has since fallen by 6%. In the Eagle Ford, productivity has held in better but only 
because total completions remain down by over 40% compared with 2019. Eagle Ford 
companies have been able to keep their well productivity high by reducing completion 
activity by nearly half and focusing only on their remaining high-grade inventory. Clearly 
this trend cannot last. If companies lack high-quality Tier 1 drilling locations, production 
will continue to disappoint.

Despite being both the youngest field and having the most drilling locations, even the 
Permian is not immune from the early stages of resource depletion. Midland County is 900 
square miles of the best acreage in the entire Permian basin. Assuming 10,000 foot laterals, 
1,300 feet between wells, and three productive zones of stacked Wolfcamp pay (very generous), 
we believe there are at most 3,900 drilling locations in Midland county representing 39 mm 
lateral feet of wellbore. Thus far, 24 mm feet have been drilled implying Midland County is 
over 60% developed. Although Midland production is still growing, our models believe this 
will likely soon begin to plateau as well.

Permian Tier 1 exhaustion might be happening already. Between late 2019 and March 2022, 
Permian per well productivity has fallen by a very large 14% even though completions remain 
down 7%. The only source of non-OPEC+ growth over the past decade is now suffering 
resource exhaustion, just like any other conventional resource. We predicted this trend in 
late 2019 and if our models continue to be correct, then production will soon begin to disap-
point materially.

In aggregate, productivity in the Big 3 shale basins is down 6% compared with 2019 and 
production remains 550,000 b/d below the peak. In other smaller shale basins, the declines 
have been more dramatic with production now 450,000 b/d below the peak (on a smaller 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Karnes Mountrail

Source: ShaleProfile.

F I G U R E  19  Karnes and Mountrail County Production

DESPITE BEING BOTH THE 
YOUNGEST FIELD AND 
HAVING THE MOST DRILLING 
LOCATIONS, EVEN THE 
PERMIAN IS NOT IMMUNE 
FROM THE EARLY STAGES OF 
RESOURCE DEPLETION.

Page 336

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  21 

base). Moreover, we estimate that nearly 1 mm b/d of incremental production came from 
the completion of drilled but uncompleted wells (DUCs). These wells were drilled in the 
lead-up to COVID-19 but ultimately not completed when oil prices collapsed. In 2021, 
energy companies completed 50% more wells than they drilled as they drew down their 
DUC inventory, leading to a one-time boost in production. Today, there are fewer than 
4,300 DUCs – the lowest level since our dataset began in 2013. Clearly the industry needs 
some DUC inventory to properly function, and we believe we have now reached that level. 
The past four months saw sequential shale growth in excess of 100,000 b/d but, if our models 
are correct regarding DUC liquidation, this will slow dramatically as we progress into the 
summer.

Conventional US production continues to fall precipitously, having declined by 16% since 
its peak while Gulf of Mexico production is off 20%. Higher oil prices have not helped either 
source of supply: conventional US production is off 7% year-to-date while the Gulf of Mexico 
is down 6%.

Non-OPEC+ production outside of the US was supposed to have been a bright spot in 
2022 (something we never agreed with) but is now severely disappointing as well. In the first 
four months of the year, the IEA has revised 4Q21 and 1Q22 estimates lower by a material 
300,000 b/d. In a pattern that has repeated itself many times, the IEA revised down the 
actual data while revising higher the second half estimates, leaving the full-year figures 
unchanged. The IEA now expects non-OPEC+ production outside of the US to reverse 
course and grow by a staggering 1.2 m b/d over the next two quarters – something we believe 
to be impossible. To put this in proper context, production from this group is now down 
500,000 b/d over the past six months versus original estimates calling for growth of 500,000 
b/d. 

At the same time as production is disappointing, demand is running far ahead of expecta-
tions. In our past letters, we explained how the IEA has embedded a chronic demand under-
estimation into its forecasts, largely driven by flaws in its emerging market methodology. 

In 10 of the last 12 years, the IEA has ultimately been forced to revise its demand estimates 
higher by 1 m b/d on average and this problem is getting worse. In their February 2022 

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

10,000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Source: EIA.

F I G U R E  2 1  Drilled but Uncompleted Wells

Page 337

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  22 

report, the IEA undertook the largest series of demand revisions in their history. Going 
back to 2018, the IEA revised global demand higher by nearly 1 mm b/d each year on average 
with nearly all the revisions focused on the emerging markets. This was followed up with a 
smaller set of upward demand revisions in March of nearly 200,000 b/d on average going 
back to 2019. 

Even after these historic revisions, we believe the IEA is still underestimating demand. In 
the first quarter of 2022, the IEA claims that global supply averaged 98.7 m b/d while demand 
averaged 98.5 m b/d, suggesting inventories should have built by 200,000 b/d. Instead, 
preliminary data points to inventory draws between 500,000 and 600,000 b/d. In other 
words, the “missing barrels” are back: that is oil that was produced but neither consumed 
nor added to inventory. Our readers know that the “missing barrels” are usually under-re-
ported non-OECD demand and we believe this time will be no different. In the first quarter, 
we estimate that even after the historic revisions, the IEA continues to underestimate demand 
by as much as 800,000 b/d. If this demand continues – and we have every reason to believe 
it will – the crude market is even tighter than most people currently realize. 

One question we are often asked is whether high prices will curtail demand and potentially 
push the world into recession. The topic of demand destruction is extremely interesting and 
in a future letter we will likely dedicate a whole essay to the subject. Using the relationship 
of oil expenditures to GDP helps us put the current situation in proper context. The last 
two major oil tops occurred in 1980 when oil rallied from $3 to $36 per barrel and in 2008 
when oil rallied from $11 to $145 per barrel. In 1980, the US consumed 17 m b/d which 
amounted to $225 bn per year on GDP of $2.9 trillion. In other words, nearly 8% of US 
GDP was spent on oil. On a global basis, oil demand averaged 61 m b/d, amounting to $800 
bn on GDP of $11 trillion, or 7.2%. In 2007, the US consumed 19 m b/d, amounting to $1 
tr on GDP of $14.5 tr, or 6.9%. Globally, we consumed 86 m b/d, amounting to $4.5 tr or 
7.8% of $58 tr in global GDP.

At present, the US consumes 20 m b/d, amounting to $730 bn at $100 per barrel crude. 
With GDP running at $21 tr, oil expenditures amount to 3.5% -- less than half the prior 
two peaks. Globally, demand ran at 97.5 m b/d last year (although we believe this is higher), 
amounting to $3.4 tr or only 4% of global GDP – again only slightly more than half the 
prior two peaks. Oil prices likely contributed to slowing economic growth in 1980 and 
2008, however we are not yet at the same levels of expenditures. Were oil to reach $170 per 
barrel, expenditures as a percentage of GDP would reach 6-7%, more consistent with previous 
market tops. We actually believe, for a variety of reasons, that a figure closer to $150 per 
barrel would put undue pressure on the economy, and in our upcoming letter we will discuss 
our rationale. 

With demand running higher than expectations and non-OPEC+ supply disappointing, 
all eyes are on OPEC+. President Biden asked the cartel to produce more oil in November 
2021 and again in February 2022 and both requests were ignored. Most analysts we speak 
with believe that OPEC+ (led by Saudi Arabia) chose not to increase production; however 
we believe they tried but were ultimately unable to. In our past letters we have detailed exten-
sively why we believe OPEC+ spare capacity is much lower than anyone realizes. As of March 
2022, nearly every OPEC+ country was producing below their allotted quota – something 
we never recall seeing. The core OPEC-10 countries produced nearly 1 m b/d less than 
allowed, effectively leaving $3 bn in revenue on the table in March alone while the remaining 

Page 338

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  23 

member countries missed their quota by 700,000 b/d. There is no logical explanation for 
why this should happen consistently, as it has, other than the member countries have been 
unable to increase production. The argument that OPEC+ is somehow aiding Russia by 
keeping prices high also seems unlikely. Saudi Arabia serves as the de facto leader of OPEC+ 
and is very skeptical of Russia. As recently as March 2020, Russia and Saudi Arabia were 
engaged in an outright price war within OPEC+ that was partially responsible for taking 
prices negative. Furthermore, Russia’s support of Iran in various proxy fights is fundamen-
tally opposed to Saudi Araba’s interests. Instead of cooperating to the detriment of NATO 
and the West, we believe OPEC+ in general (and Saudi Arabia in particular) found they 
were unable to boost production in March – another sign we are now running out of global 
spare pumping capacity.

The current energy crisis will not be solved until capital comes back into the industry in 
significant quantities. Normally high commodity prices and improved profitability help 
attract capital, but ESG pressures are keeping that from happening. E&P capital budgets 
are indeed up 25% compared with the 2021 lows, however they remain 60% below trend-
line. Moreover, we are hearing that most of the increase is not the result of increased activity 
but rather represents cost inflation as bottlenecks have now developed in key equipment, 
steel, and labor. Energy related IPOs and secondary offerings totaled a mere $1.8 bn over 
the past six months, 80% below the $10 bn average between 2010 and 2017 and 90% below 
the $22 bn peak in 2016. 

Capital remains unavailable even though oil and gas prices are high and even energy hostile 
politicians are now calling for more upstream investment. Investor interest in the energy 
sectors also continues to be extremely low. Between January 2021 and today, the XOP (the 
largest ETF of E&P stocks) has advanced by 120% and yet, over that period, the shares 
outstanding have actually decreased--investors have actually redeemed shares on balance. 

We are now beginning to understand what a world looks like as it runs out of spare oil 
pumping capacity. Even with the huge releases of oil from Strategic Petroleum Reserve, oil 
prices have hardly pulled back. Global inventories, now at record lows, continue to draw 
counter-seasonally and are reaching dangerously low levels. Even with all the dislocations 
caused by the Ukrainian conflict and COVID problems in China, global oil demand in Q4 

$0

$10

$20

$30

$40

$50

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Bi
lli

on
 U

SD

Source: Bloomberg.

F I G U R E  2 2  E&P IPO and Secondary Fundraising (12 month MVA)

Page 339

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  24 

will approach global pumping capability according to our modelling. Strong demand, 
declining production, record low inventories, and now no spare pumping capacity—all these 
factors will push oil prices higher in the second half of 2022. Even in the face of all these 
factors, investor interest in energy markets remains incredibly subdued. The advances we 
have seen to date have basically been short covering and active managers buying on the 
margin. Once investors and institutions realize the energy market has fundamentally changed 
and the decade of cheap, abundant energy is over, the amount of capital that rushes into 
this sector could be huge. The global energy crisis has just started, and it will take many 
years to fix. For those that make investments today, the rewards could be immense. 

Catastrophic Agriculture Markets
“World Bank warns of ‘human catastrophe’ food crisis.” BBC News, April 20, 2022

“Farmers are seeing prices for fertilizers skyrocket. Some may choose to rotate crops or use 
less nutrients, which could reduce crop yields” CNBC April 6, 2022

“Fears of a fertilizer shortage are slowing soybean expansion in Brazil, the world’s top exporter, 
nearly to a halt. Bloomberg March 29th, 2022

“The global shortage of fertilizer is a huge problem. We are facing a problem of catastrophic 
proportions here.” Tony Will, CEO of CF Industries, one of the world’s largest nitrogen 
fertilizer producers. April 6, 2022 CNBC.

Global agricultural markets are being buffeted by several almost unprecedented forces. 
Surging natural gas and coal prices last fall severely disrupted nitrogen and phosphate fertil-
izer production, primarily in Europe and China. Reflecting cut-backs in domestic produc-
tion, China and Russia banned the export of urea (the solid form on nitrogen fertilizer) and 
phosphate last fall, which in turn created fertilizer shortages in both Australia and South 
Korea.

Next came Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Russia and Ukraine combined represent almost 
30% of the world’s exported wheat. Ukraine exports 30 mm tonnes of corn or 10% of global 
exports. Almost all of Ukraine’s corn and wheat is exported via the Black Sea which is now 
entirely controlled by the Russian Navy. As of today, Russia continues to block any grain 
export trying to leave Ukraine’s Black Sea Ports. 

Russia’s actions have enormous impacts on global fertilizer markets as well. Russia and 
Belarus (a Russian ally) supply almost 40% of the world’s potash. All of Belarus’s potash 
supply (representing 20% of world supply) is shipped by rail through Lithuania and current 
European sanctions block this supply form leaving the country. 

Over the previous 20 years, huge attention has been paid to improved crop genetics and the 
positive impacts on grain yields. US corn and soybean yields over the last 20 years have 
grown by 35%. While increases in global grain harvests have been positively impacted by 
improved genetics and excellent global growing conditions, investors have underappreci-
ated the impact of big increases in fertilizer application that have occurred over the last 
decade on growing the size of the global grain harvest. 

GLOBAL AGRICULTURAL 
MARKETS ARE BEING 
BUFFETED BY SEVERAL 
ALMOST UNPRECEDENTED 
FORCES. SURGING NATURAL 
GAS AND COAL PRICES LAST 
FALL SEVERELY DISRUPTED 
NITROGEN AND PHOSPHATE 
FERTILIZER PRODUCTION, 
PRIMARILY IN EUROPE AND 
CHINA.

Page 340

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  25 

Between 2000 and 2020, global coarse grain production surged by 42%. Over the same time, 
fertilizer application also grew by 40%. On a shorter term basis, the same relationship holds. 
Global grain production grew 18% between 2010 and 2020, while fertilizer application 
increased 17%. 

Fertilizer prices have surged over the last two years. Ammonia prices (nitrogen fertilizer in 
gaseous form) have gone from under $200 per tonne at the end of 2020 to $1450 today. 
Phosphate fertilizer prices have risen from $350 per tonne to over $1000, and potash price 
has grown from below $200 per tonne at the end of 2020 to almost $900 today. In Brazil, 
where soils are extremely potash deficient, and imported Russian and Belarus supply dominates, 
potash is priced at $1250 per tonne. 

Given the high prices of grain today, farmers in industrialized countries can pay this high 
price and still earn a margin on their plantings. However, the problem for many farmers is 
not the price, but the availability. Nitrogen production, driven by production cuts in Europe, 
is down 5%. Russia is also a large nitrogen fertilizer exporter -- 7 mm tonnes or 30% of the 
total export market -- and it is unclear how much will be blocked by Western sanctions. 

Crop yields are extremely difficult to model given the non-linearity and correlation between 
variables, including fertilizer application. We tried applying machine learning last year to 
predict US crop yield with only mediocre results. Despite the difficulty in modeling the 
exact impacts, it is clear that fertilizer application is critically important. Most investors are 
underestimating the impact nitrogen availability will have on yields. We trained a machine 
learning algorithm to attribute changes in crop yields over the last sixty years to various 
inputs such as fertilizer application, weather, genetics, and other trends. The results were 
unequivocal: using a technique known as support vector machines, and “Shaply values,” we 
estimate that as much as 40% of coarse grain yield increase since 1961 can be attributed to 
increased nitrogen application. We believe that a 5% reduction in nitrogen application could 
result in an immediate 1 to 2% reduction in global grain supply. Given the existing tight-
ness, such a drop will have an outsized impact on supply-demand balances going into the 
2022-2023 planting season. For example, the International Rice Research Institute predicts 
rice yields could drop as much as 10% this season, causing a loss of 36 million tonnes or 7% 
drop of world rise supply. The lost rice production would be enough to feed 500 mm people.

As opposed to farmers in industrialized countries, emerging market farmers do not have the 
available cash to purchase fertilizers that now cost 100% more than last year. Also,  outright 
shortages are reducing fertilizer applications in areas such as West Africa, while in countries 
such as Peru, Costa Rica, the Philippians, and Brazil, potash shortages are forcing farmers 
to slow the expansion of soybean plantings. 

Since 2000, Brazilian farmers have increased dedicated soybean acreage by approximately 
4% per year. Brazilian farmers this year will increase soybean planting by only 0.5% -- the 
smallest growth rate since 2006. Stories abound of Brazilian soybean farmers cutting back 
on sky-high potash for the upcoming planting season as well. 

A 20% cut in potash application could decrease the size of the upcoming Brazilian soybean 
crop by 14%, according to industry consultant MB Agro. In 2000, Brazil produced 30 mm 
tonnes of soybeans. By 2010 this had grown to 57 mm tonnes and today it is estimated that 
Brazil’s 2022 soybean crop (just now being harvested) will be 125 mm tonnes – or 40% of 
world supply.

Page 341

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  26 

Brazil’s ability to grow soybean production -- a function of both increasing acreage and huge 
amounts of potash application -- has been a huge input to world grain growth. That source 
of growth has now come to a short term end. 

The 2022 northern hemisphere planting season is only just beginning and, at this point, it 
is difficult to make an accurate prediction regarding yield and crop size. However, we should 
point out that weather conditions have already proved challenging. Drought conditions 
emerged in Brazil at the end of 2021 and continued into 2022, severely impacting the 2022 
soybean harvest. The USDA originally estimated Brazil’s 2022 harvest would reach a record 
144 mm tonnes, but estimates have been reduced to only 125 mm tonnes -- a drop of 13% 
in only a few months. 

China enters the 2022 planting season with very difficult growing conditions, especially for 
the winter wheat harvest, now underway in the southern provinces. At the end of March, 
China’s agricultural minister made the following comments according to Bloomberg: “China 
faces big difficulties in food production because of unusual floods last autumn. Many farming 
experts and technicians told us that crop conditions this year could be the worst in history.” 

Record breaking rains in Henan province last fall damaged 2.1 mm acres of winter wheat 
and delayed the planting of an additional 18 mm acres -- about 35% of China’s total crop. 

A scorching spring heat wave is also threatening India’s winter wheat crop. The crop could 
be negatively impacted by 10 to 15% as excessive heat has damaged the plant in its seed 
formation phase. India is the world’s second largest wheat producer and has become a signif-
icant exporter over the last decade. Original estimates had India exporting 15 mm tonnes 
of wheat in 2022 -- or about 7% of global exports. Depending on how much damage has 
been done, India might export little wheat at all this year, further tightening the global wheat 
market. 

North American weather conditions will also have to be watched closely. The western half 
of the United States and almost all of western Canada are under severe drought conditions. 
Two very late snowstorms hit the upper Midwest and the southern Canadian plains posing 
problems as well. Southern Manitoba and western Ontario remain covered in deep snow 
which could delay the 2022 planting season and impact overall grain yields. 

How these weather events will ultimately affect the planting and harvest will have to be 
carefully monitored, especially given all the other global agricultural problems existing 
today. 

As if the world’s agricultural markets don’t have enough stress placed on them, two additional 
items will have to be watched. 

The first is the emergence of food protectionism, something we haven’t seen since the 1970s. 
As fears of scarcity and resulting high prices increase, we should expect countries to severely 
restrict agricultural exports to lessen the threat of shortages. The potential disruption and 
closing of agricultural trade will drive prices up even further, create shortages, and ultimately 
lead to empty store shelves in countries dependent on imports. 

On April 28th, Indonesia announced that it banned the export of palm oil, one of the world’s 
most popular cooking oils. The ban follows the sharp rise in global cooking oil prices due 
in large part to the disruptions caused by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Ukraine produces 

Page 342

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  27 

almost 50% of the world’s sunflowers and shortages of sunflower oil have driven up the prices 
of all other cooking oils, including palm oil. 

This export ban is already causing huge problems for other emerging markets. India imports 
45% of its palm oil from Indonesia, and the ban has already produced a shortage of cooking 
oil across the country.

The second is the Biden administration’s announcement allowing the year-round selling of 
gasoline with 15% ethanol content. Although it is unclear how much the new E-15 mandate 
will stimulate corn demand, adding any additional demand pressure to corn is the last thing 
grain markets need right now. Almost 35% of the US’s 15 bn bushel corn crop goes into the 
making of ethanol, almost all of which is then blended into gasoline. 

Making matters worse, we believe weather patterns are becoming more challenging for crop 
yields. Although highly controversial, we believe we have entered into a long term cooling 
trend that will be driven by declining sun-spot activity —a subject we have discussed in past 
letters, and will again address in our next letter. Cooling trends often produce adverse crop 
growing conditions which could severely hinder global grain harvest. Although we have 
had plenty of isolated adverse weather over the last three years (primarily dry conditions 
here in the US and Canada and a full blown drought in Brazil and India), overall global 
growing conditions were actually quite favorable. However, we still believe much more 
adverse weather conditions may still be in our future. 

We continue to recommend investors have significant exposure to agricultural related 
equities, including the fertilizer stocks. Although these stocks have had large upward moves 
over the last 12 months, they remain extremely cheap based upon their earning power.

Russia and the Uranium Fuel Cycle
Uranium prices surged during Q1. Spot uranium advanced 26% from $42 to $53 per pound 
while the quoted term price rose 19% from $42 to $50 per pound. Anecdotally we heard of 
several unreported transactions as high as $60 per pound. The term price is now the highest 
since 2014 and the spot price is the highest since 2013. In February, Cameco announced 
that it would seek to restart its MacArthur River mine in the Athabasca basin of Saskatch-
ewan. Before deciding to suspend operations at the mine due to low prices in 2018, MacAr-
thur River produced 19 mm pounds of U3O8 on a 100% basis (Cameco owns 70% in a 
joint venture with Orano). We hoped that Cameco would hold off on restarting MacAr-
thur River until it was able to secure long-term production contracts that would effectively 
tie up MacArthur River’s incremental production and this is exactly what happened. We 
believe this removes a key overhang from the uranium spot market.

Russia’s invasion of Ukraine has serious implications for the global uranium and nuclear 
fuel cycle markets as well. Uranium and nuclear power can be more complex than other 
commodities, so we would like to provide some background. First, uranium is mined, either 
from dedicated uranium hard rock mines (i.e., Cigar Lake and MacArthur River in Canada), 
from in-situ leach operations (i.e., Kazatomprom’s operations), or as a by-product in a larger 
mine (i.e., Olympic Dam in Australia). Uranium is concentrated and shipped to a conver-

Page 343

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  28 

sion facility in the form of U3O8 – a yellow powder. Before uranium can be fabricated into 
fuel rods, it must first be turned into a gas – uranium hexafloride or UF6 – at a conversion 
facility. The uranium gas is next sent to an enrichment facility. All uranium is made up of 
two distinct isotopes, U-258 and U-235. The former makes up 99.3% of all uranium, and 
the latter is only 0.7% by mass. In order to sustain a chain reaction in a nuclear reactor, the 
fuel rods must contain between 3-5% U-235. Centrifuges are able to carefully separately the 
two isotopes and effectively “enrich” the uranium hexafloride from 0.7% to 3-5% U-235. 
The low enrichmed uranium (LEU) is then fabricated into fuel rods and shipped to nuclear 
power plants.

Russia is a key direct and indirect player at several points along the fuel supply chain and 
the impacts could be material. First, Kazatomprom is the world’s largest uranium producer 
from its in-situ leach mines in Kazakhstan. Although not involved with the conflict in 
Ukraine, Russia’s presence looms large. Earlier this year, civil unrest broke out in Kazakh-
stan and Russia sent troops into the country to quell the uprising. Given how critical Kazakh-
stan is to upstream global uranium production, the proximity with Russia is likely putting 
pressure on some US utilities to enter into long-term contracts with other producers and 
diversify the upstream source of their fuel. 

While Russia’s impacts on uranium mining might be indirect, it is critical in the conversion 
and enrichment segments of the fuel cycle. Russia converts 35% of world uranium produc-
tion from U3O8 concentrate to UF6 gas and any disruption would be impossible to overcome. 
This has led some officials to consider fast-tracking the reopening of US conversion capacity. 
The US presently maintains no conversion capability of its own. Similarly, Russia is crucial 
in the global enrichment business, controlling nearly 50% of the world’s capacity. It remains 
unclear how the industry would manage if Russian conversion and enrichment capacity was 
made unavailable. This will likely all lead to increased pressure to acquire and potentially 
stockpile material. Unfortunately, given the deficit in mined uranium over the past several 
years, it is not clear this will be possible.

On the demand side, there have been several bullish developments. As we discussed in our 
last letter, the European Union officially added nuclear power in its “taxonomy” of green 
technologies. The designation now allows institutions to invest in uranium and nuclear 
power without running afoul of any ESG commitments. The implications are huge. Immedi-
ately following the announcement, France declared they were embarking on an ambitious 
nuclear reactor new build program and extending the life of several existing reactors. The 
UK has committed to a nuclear new build program as well. No analyst had any European 
new build reactor demand as recently as a year ago and so these announcements serve to 
further tighten the market going forward.

Since China, India, Saudi Arabia, Canada, and now Europe have all embraced nuclear power, 
we’ve been arguing the US should follow suit. No matter how unfortunate, the US seemed 
to be going in the wrong direction. But an extremely interesting and positive development 
has just taken place, suggesting a turn in fortune for the US nuclear power industry might 
be at hand. Having firmly committed to closing the large Diablo Canyon reactor in California, 
on April 29th, Governor Newsome abruptly changed course and suggested he would seek 
to keep Diablo Canyon open with $6 bn in potential federal funding for several capital 
projects at the reactor. We cannot overstate what a change this represents. Diablo Canyon 
was the most politically charged and significant energy decision since cancelling of the 

WHILE RUSSIA’S IMPACTS 
ON URANIUM MINING MIGHT 
BE INDIRECT, IT IS CRITICAL 
IN THE CONVERSION AND 
ENRICHMENT SEGMENTS OF 
THE FUEL CYCLE. RUSSIA 
CONVERTS 35% OF WORLD 
URANIUM PRODUCTION FROM 
U3O8 CONCENTRATE TO UF6 
GAS AND ANY DISRUPTION 
WOULD BE IMPOSSIBLE TO 
OVERCOME. 

Page 344

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  29 

Keystone XL pipeline. As recently as eight weeks ago, it seemed impossible that Governor 
Newsome could walk back his commitment to shut down the facility. We are hopeful this 
is a signal that US can now be added to the list of countries that are once again embracing 
nuclear power. As we have discussed in our past letters, nuclear power is the key to our energy 
future. For every unit of energy expended in mining, converting, enriching, and reacting 
uranium, 100 units of electricity are generated. This EROEI is at least three times better 
than oil and gas and 20-30 times better than renewables. Furthermore, nuclear power emits 
no carbon.

Even before all this  renewed interest in nuclear power, the uranium market was in severe 
long-term structural deficit—a deficit  that could only be solved by much higher uranium 
prices.  When we made our uranium  investments in 2018, we did not count on any nuclear 
renaissance from the OECD world. Given all the renewed interest in building new plants 
and extending the life of present generating facilities, the long term structural deficit in 
uranium is set to become even larger. Uranium prices are poised to move dramatically higher 
as we progress through the 2020s. 

Time to Buy Gold is Getting Closer
We turned neutral on gold and silver in the summer of 2020. Over the last 50 years, silver 
has shown strong tendencies to lag an advancing gold market and then stage furious catch-up 
rallies. After silver catches up with the gold price, either a lengthy correction phase ensues 
or an outright bear market unfolds. Furious silver catch-up rallies experienced at the end of 
1973 into the first quarter of 1974, produced a two-year corrective phase in which both gold 
and silver prices pulled back 45%. The huge catch-up rally silver experienced at the end of 
1979 produced the great precious metals bear market that lasted 20 years. Finally the massive 
silver catch-up rally at the end of 2010 when silver advanced 175% in just six months produced 
the four-year bear market that saw gold and silver prices pull back 45% and 70%, respec-
tively. After lagging the advancing gold price for two years, silver surged in March of 2020 
by over 150% in just 5 months -- a catch up rally similar in magnitude to what happened 
back in 1974, 1979, and 2010. Since then gold prices have entered a lengthy period of consol-
idation. After peaking in August 2020, gold and silver prices still sit 10% and 20%, respec-
tively, below their highs. 

Avoiding precious metals has been the correct thing to do over the last 18 months on both 
an absolute and relative basis. For example, since the summer of 2020, gold mining stocks 
(as measured by the GDX ETF) fell 15%, whereas oil stocks, as measured by the XOP ETF, 
rallied by 150%, and copper stocks, as measured by the COPX ETF, advanced over 75%. 

The gold bull market started in December of 2015 when gold bottomed at $1,050 per ounce, 
and we strongly believe it will peak out around $15,000 per ounce by decade’s end –a price 
target we will address in our next letter. We have great confidence the corrective phase will 
be resolved to the upside. 

The most important question for investors is when this corrective phase will end. 

Although we can’t say for sure, we are confident that we are getting closer to a resolution to 

Page 345

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  30 

the upside and that investors should begin to increase their precious metals exposure now. 
Here at Goehring & Rozencwajg Associates we have begun to increase our weightings in 
precious metals related equities in the funds we manage. 

In trying to time the arrival of the upcoming bull market, we are monitoring the following 
trends. 

First, as mentioned in our last letter, western investors have begun a new phase of precious 
metals accumulation. Since gold prices peaked in the summer of 2020, the 16 physical gold 
ETFs we track have consistently shed gold, but, as you can see in the chart below, the 
downtrend line in gold selling by these ETFs has been broken. Since the beginning of 2022, 
these 16 ETFs have accumulated 300 tonnes of gold, only 100 tonnes below their October 
peak. The 10 physical silver ETFs we track are also exhibiting similar behavior. The physical 
silver holdings in these ETFs peaked in February 2021, just after the Reddit crowd tried to 
corner the silver market and since then these ETFs have liquidated 3,000 tonnes of silver. 
Starting at January’s end, these ETFs stopped their shedding and began accumulating. As 
the chart shows, the silver shedding downtrend line looks to have broken. 

We believe this precious metals bull market has been and will continue to be driven by 
western investors, very much as it was in the 1970s. Back then, the western investor, driven 
by inflation and currency debasement, drove the 25-fold advance in the gold price. We 
believe those same inflationary and currency debasement forces will drive the western investor 
to become the most important participant in this precious metals bull market. A lengthy 
period of physical accumulation by western investors will be a necessary driving force in the 
gold market’s next bull market leg. Recent accumulation behaviors in both the gold and 
silver physical ETFs strongly suggest this investment interest has picked up. 

Second: the decline in the gold-oil ratio also strongly suggests the gold bull market’s next 
leg is getting closer. When gold gets expensive relative to oil (an ounce of gold buys 30 barrels 
or more of oil) then oil related investments have historically strongly outperformed gold 
investments. Conversely, when gold gets cheap relative to oil (an ounce of gold buys only 
15 barrels or less of oil) then gold related investments have strongly outperformed oil related 
investments.  The last time the gold-oil ratio hit 15 was back in September 2018 when gold 

95

100

105

110

m
m

 o
z

Source: Bloomberg.

F I G  2 3  ETF Gold Holdings

850
870
890
910
930
950
970
990

m
m

 o
z

Source: Bloomberg.

F I G U R E  2 4  ETF Silver Holdings

Page 346

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  31 

traded down to $1,175 per ounce and oil prices hit $80. For the next two years, gold and 
gold equities radically outperformed oil and oil related investments. After bottoming in 
September 2018, gold rose 75% and gold stocks rose 125%. Over the same two year period, 
oil fell over 60% (actually going negative in April 2020) and oil related equities fell over 
60%. 

In the summer of 2020, the gold-oil ratio peaked at over 50 (gold radically overvalued relative 
to oil). Since then oil and oil related investments have outperformed gold and gold equities. 
Oil and oil related stocks, as measured by the XOP ETF, are up 150% and 175%, respec-
tively, whereas the gold and the average gold stock is down 5% and 15%, respectively. 

With oil prices rising and gold prices falling, the gold-oil ratio has now contracted signifi-
cantly, and on March 8th, with oil spiking to $130 per barrel and gold trading down to 
$1,980 per ounce, the gold-oil ratio touched 15 intraday, the same level we saw back in 
September 2018. 

Third: we are carefully monitoring central bank gold activity. Central banks finally stopped 
selling gold back in 2008 and have since become aggressive buyers. However, as you would 
have expected given all the COVID economic dislocations, 2020 saw a big pullback in 
central bank buying. Central banks bought only 270 tonnes of gold for all of 2020, down 
from the 600 and 650 tonnes they bought in 2018 and 2019, respectively. In 2021, they 
bought 460 tonnes, up 70% from 2020 depressed levels. If central bank buying had remained 
weak in 2021, this would have suggested that the gold corrective phase could last longer and 
pull back farther than we originally thought. Their resurgent interest in gold last year removed 
that fear. 

So far we don’t enough data to confirm whether central bank’s gold buying interest will stay 
strong in 2022. The World Gold Council announced that central bank purchases were down 
30% from the Q1 2021. It’s too early in the year to extrapolate the first quarter trend, but 
we will continue to monitor central bank activity. If central bank gold purchasing continues 
to weaken, then this would suggest that the gold market’s corrective phase could stretch out 
further. 

Fourth: In last quarter’s letter, we mentioned we are monitoring the position of precious 
metals traders on the COMEX exchange. Back in September of 2018, commercial traders 
(the smart money) had gone net long in both gold and silver future markets and specula-
tors (the dumb money) had positioned themselves net short in both markets for the first 
time in almost 20 years. Although not always perfect, the positioning of the smart money 
being long and the dumb money being short often indicates that a tradable market bottom 
has been put in place. As of today, we are getting no such buy signals from the futures trader. 
Commercials remain stubbornly net short and speculators remain net long in both gold 
and silver markets. 

Fifth, we remain concerned that rising interest rates will have an effect on the gold price. In 
the 1970s bull market, rising interest rates in response to the Arab-oil embargo broke the 
back of the gold market’s first upward advance. From 1971 to 1974, gold prices surged 
four-fold, however, aggressive Fed tightening forced gold to undergo a huge correction. 
From its peak in Q1 1974, gold eventually fell 45%. The Fed is again talking about aggres-
sively raising rates, possibly by 50 basis points this month and an additional 75 basis points 
in both June and July. How this will impact the gold price is unclear, but it is one of the 

Page 347

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  32 

major reasons why we don’t have a full position in precious metals presently. 

Summing all this up: we are now getting continued positive data that western investment 
demand is strongly returning to both gold and silver markets. Gold has now become cheap 
relative to oil. Central bank buying , may have turned slightly negative on a short term basis 
, but we only have one quarter of data and we will have to monitor their activity closely as 
we progress through the next several months. And finally, the positioning of traders is giving 
us little insight into whether the low we saw in gold prices this quarter was the definite low 
for this cycle. A pull back in gold prices related to the expected Fed tightening might produce 
much more bullish sentiments from gold futures traders. However, as of today, this data 
point is neutral, as opposed to the last bottom in gold back in September 2018 when it was 
strongly positive. Given the return of the western investor, the cheapness of gold relative to 
oil , the surge in inflation, and Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, we believe the next leg of the 
gold bull market may have already started and we have begun to increase our exposure in 
the accounts we manage. The only thing that continues to nag us is how gold prices might 
react to the Fed’s tightening of monetary conditions. 

Appendix
Back in the late 1960’s, my father, a chemical engineer who started his career working in the 
refineries of Chevron and Exxon during World War 2, used to lecture my brother and me 
on how oil was formed, produced and ultimately refined into product. In those “dinner table 
talks” going back well over 50 years ago, I vividly remember my father mentioning that oil 
was a finite resource, and that it was only a matter of time before all the great oil reservoirs 
were discovered and that eventually the world’s oil supply of oil would decline.  Oil being a 
finite resource is something I remember him bringing up multiple times.   

My father never mentioned where he was getting all this information from back then; 
however, over time, I came to the conclusion that my father must have been a keen follower 
of King Hubbert, the famous Shell Oil geologist.

King Hubbert was a well-known controversial geologist who worked for most of his career 
at Shell Oil.  Hubbert’s theories centered on the belief that the future production profile of 
a hydrocarbon basin could be fairly accurately predicted, given several assumptions.  In its 
most simple form, Hubbert believed that following the discovery of a new oil or gas field, 
its production would follow the shape of a bell-curve.

Production would ramp up before ultimately reaching a “peak,” which would occur when 
one half of the field’s recoverable reserves had been produced.  Following this peak, produc-
tion from the field would begin to decline in a manner that mirrored the ramp-up phase, 
thereby creating a bell-shaped curve.  Therefore, the most important data-point in deter-
mining a field’s peak level of production, according to Hubbert’s theories, is to accurately 
estimate the field’s total recoverable reserves.  Hubbert became famous in 1956 when, as the 
key-note speaker at the annual meeting of the American Petroleum Institute, he predicted 
that US oil production would “peak” between 1965 and 1970.  He later refined his predic-
tion, stating that US oil production would reach its peak in 1970.  

Page 348

Item #20.



Goehring & Rozencwajg  
Natural Resource Market Commentary  33 

While his original prediction was met with wide-spread skepticism, he was largely vindi-
cated when US oil production did in fact peak in 1970 at approximately 12 million barrels 
per day, just as he had predicted nearly 14 years earlier.  Both Hubbert and his theories 
regarding the estimation of oilfield production peaks, remain surrounded in controversy 
and skepticism even to this day.  For example, many prominent followers of Hubbert’s 
theories have been calling for a peak in global oil production for the last twenty-five years, 
only to be discredited as global oil production has continued to grow.

As non-academic followers of King Hubbert, we believe that that the largest drawback to 
his theories has been the relentless advancement of technology that has pushed recovery 
factors (and by extension total recoverable reserves) constantly higher across most oil fields.  
Also, technological advancements have opened up new fields that no one ever expected 
thirty years ago.  For example, no one thought that we would be drilling in 10,000 feet of 
water to reach oil reservoirs that are another 15,000 feet below the seabed floor, and yet, this 
is exactly what the oil industry has achieved in the Brazilian “pre-salt” oil fields.  Similarly, 
twenty-five years ago no one expected that we would produce both oil and gas from rock 
that had virtually no permeability, and yet this is what we are doing in today’s shale basins.  

Hubbert’s theories are currently undergoing yet another round of intense criticism, however 
we ultimately believe there are real benefits to studying his work, even today.  Many elements 
of his theories do manage to keep showing up again and again over time.  In particular, 
“Hubbert-style” production profiles show up in enough places to make his theories a neces-
sary tool in understanding the supply dynamics of many global oil basins -- including shale. 

The introductory natural gas essay in this letter references “Hubbert Linearizations” multiple 
times.   A Hubbert Linearization is simply a plot of cumulative production vs. the ratio of 
current production to cumulative production.   Hubbert noticed that after an initial “noisy” 
period, this trend settled into a very predictable straight line which could then be used to 
estimate a field’s recoverable reserves.   Recoverable reserves are calculated by  extrapolating 
this  straight to see where it  crosses the x-axis.

Page 349

Item #20.



 

STAFF REPORT  
CITY OF GREEN COVE SPRINGS, FLORIDA 

TO:  City Council Regular Session MEETING DATE: June 7, 2022 

FROM: Erin West 

SUBJECT: City Council discussion of Resolution information for the Annual Florida League 

Conference in Hollywood, Florida on August 11 -13, 2022.  Erin West 
 

BACKGROUND 

I have attached Resolution No. R-13-2019 (St. Johns River – Maritime Highway) that was submitted for 

the Florida League of Cities’ consideration at the Annual Conference in 2019. 

FISCAL IMPACT 

NA 

RECOMMENDATION 

City Staff requests direction from the City Council regarding submitting Resolutions for consideration 

by the Florida League.  These will be presented for approval at the June 21, 2022 City Council meeting. 
 

Page 350

Item #21.



Page 351

Item #21.



Page 352

Item #21.


	Top
	Item #4.	O-16-2022
	Ordinance O-16-2022 Amending Ordinance No. O-22-2022 correct vesting dates
	Staff Report -Ordinance O-16-2022 correcting Ordinance O-22-2021-Correcting a Date for Credited Service in the Police Office Retirement Plan and Trust
	Ordinance O-22-2021

	Item #5.	ANNEXATION  PRESERVE
	Staff Report_PZB_Preserve_Ax
	Ordinance O-11-2022 - Annexing 13.92 Acre Preserve Property
	Aerial
	App_Annexation
	LTR_BOCC Notice_Full Copy_Preserve
	BOCC Notice_Post Office Receipt_Preserve

	Item #6.	Copy of Preserve FLU AMENDMENT 018019-000-00
	Staff Report_SDRT_Preserve
	FLU_Existing
	FLU_Proposed
	Ordinance O-12-2022 - SsCPA - Preserve
	App_Preserve_FLUM

	Item #7.	Copy of Preserve Rezoning 018019-000-00
	Staff Report_SDRT_Preserve
	Zoning_Existing
	Zoning_Proposed
	Conceptual Plan_03.08.2022
	Written Desc_03.08.2022
	Clinch Estates Sheet 2-Model
	Examples
	Application_Preserve_PUD Rezoning
	App_School Concurrency
	School Concurrency Letter_Preserve at Green Cove Springs
	Ordinance O-13-2022 - RZ - Preserve
	Extracted pages from Preserve at Green Cove Springs TIA Report 05162022 SS

	Item #8.	Roberts PUD North Rezoning from R-2 to PUD
	Staff Report_SDRT_Roberts St PUD North 
	App_Zoning Existing
	Zoning_Proposed
	PUD_Written Description
	APP - North PUD
	Ordinance O-14-2022 - RZ - Roberts North

	Item #9.	Roberts PUD South Rezoning from R-2 to PUD
	Staff Report_SDRT_Roberts St PUD North 
	App_Zoning Existing
	Zoning_Proposed
	PUD_Written Description
	APP - North PUD
	Ordinance O-15-2022 - RZ - Roberts South

	Item #10.	2021 CCR Approval / Distribution
	2021 CCR Distribution Staff Report
	2100437 GREEN COVE SPRINGS 2021 CCR -approved VRQ

	Item #11.	Chapman Substation Terry's Electric Pay App # 11
	Staff Report - Terry's Pay App No 11 - 060722
	LC 2020-17, AFP No. 11

	Item #12.	HRAWWTF Disbursement Request # 13
	Disbursement Request  #13, Advanced WWTF, Staff Report
	Green Cove Springs Disb Req No. 13_signed

	Item #13.	MINS 5/3 REG
	2022-05-03 - Regular Minutes

	Item #14.	CA: 2022 OPPD/SJCSO MOU
	06.07.2022 - Staff Report - PD MOU's
	SJCSO MOU unsigned
	GREEN COVE AND ORANGE PARK MUTUAL AID AGREEMENT 2 (002)

	Item #15.	CA: 2022 Multi-Agency MOU
	06.07.2022 - Staff Report - PD Multi Agency MOU
	Multi Agency Aid Agreement 2022

	Item #16.	ASO70 FY 22/23 work order - FDOT Highway Lighting
	Staff Report - FDOT State Highway Lighting, Maintenance Agreement ASO70 FY 22_23 060722
	Please_DocuSign_ASO70_State_Highway_Lighting

	Item #17.	Thomas May Construction Pay Application #2
	Pay APP 1 TMC 2
	20220602143540

	Item #18.	2021-04 - Tocoi amendment 060722
	Staff Report - LC 2021-04 first amendments - 060122
	Renewal Amendment # 1, 2022-2023.Elec Eng Services OverheadUnderground

	Item #19.	Bid 2021-02 - Amendment #1 for Mittauer and Tocoi
	Staff Report - LC 2021-02 first amendments - 060722
	Amendment No. 1-Cont. Serv. Water, WW, Drainage, Stormwater, Roadway & Parks
	Renewal Amendment #1, City GCS 2022 -2023

	Item #20.	FMPA - June 2022
	FMPA Monthly Report June 2022-word
	BOD 5 FY 2022 Goals Scorecard Apr. Data for May 19 Mtg
	2022.Q1 GR Market Commentary

	Item #21.	CB: 2022 FLC Resolution Consideration
	06.07.2022 - Staff Report - FLC Resolutions
	R-13-2019 - St. Johns River - Marine Highway For FLC Annual Conference

	Bottom

